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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act).    Yes  �    No  ⌧  
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(in thousands, except share data)  

  

See accompanying notes.  
  

3  

   
September 30,

2006   
December 31,

2005  
   (unaudited)     

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 44,257  $ 62,977 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,063 and $521 as of 

September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively  89,667  53,132 
Inventories    74,972   53,607 
Income taxes receivable   217   —   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   7,888   5,252 
Deferred income taxes   12,774   6,822 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets  229,775  181,790 
Property and equipment, net    25,804   20,865 
Intangible asset, net of amortization   8,250   —   
Deferred income taxes   192   —   
Other non-current assets   948   1,032 

         

Total assets   $ 264,969  $ 203,687 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  
Current liabilities  

Accounts payable   $ 38,302  $ 31,699 
Accrued expenses   22,639   11,449 
Income taxes payable   —     716 
Current maturities of long term debt   2,631   1,967 
Current maturities of capital lease obligations   995   1,841 

         

Total current liabilities   64,567   47,672 
Long term debt, net of current maturities   2,552   2,868 
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities   1,041   1,715 
Deferred income taxes   —     330 
Other long term liabilities   396   272 

         

Total liabilities   68,556   52,857 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 5)  
Stockholders’ equity and comprehensive loss    

Class A Common Stock, $.0003 1/3 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized as of 
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, 34,335,565 shares issued and 
outstanding as of September 30, 2006; 31,223,351 shares issued and outstanding as 
of December 31, 2005   11   10 

Class B Convertible Common Stock, $.0003 1/3 par value; 16,200,000 shares authorized 
as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, 13,250,000 shares issued and 
outstanding as of September 30, 2006; 15,200,000 shares issued and outstanding as 
of December 31, 2005   4   5 

Additional paid-in capital   142,537   124,803 
Retained earnings  54,525  28,067 
Unearned compensation    (586)  (1,889)
Notes receivable from stockholders   (55)  (163)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (23)  (3)

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity  196,413  150,830 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 264,969  $ 203,687 
    

 

   

 



 ˆ1VGDR4TLFMFRCYQ2Š
1VGDR4TLFMFRCYQ

97583 TX 4UNDER ARMOUR, INC.
FORM 10-Q

04-Nov-2006 08:55 EST
HTMWDC

RR Donnelley ProFile LAN parkp0in 1*
IFV 1C

CHWFBU-MWS-CX06
9.5

Page 1 of 1

Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
  

  
See accompanying notes.  

  
4  

   
Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
   2006   2005   2006   2005  
   (unaudited)   (unaudited)   (unaudited)   (unaudited)  

Net revenues   $127,745  $ 86,606  $295,406  $193,750 
Cost of goods sold   63,070  43,641  148,212   100,396 

        
 

       
 

Gross profit    64,675  42,965  147,194   93,354 
Operating expenses        

Selling, general and administrative expenses    42,692  28,482  107,662   70,329 
                 

Income from operations    21,983  14,483  39,532   23,025 

Other income (expense)        

Interest income (expense), net    177  (836) 1,058   (2,124)
                 

Income before income taxes    22,160   13,647   40,590   20,901 
Provision for income taxes    6,190  5,261  13,462   8,176 

        
 

       
 

Net income    15,970  8,386  27,128   12,725 
Accretion of and cumulative preferred dividends on Series A Preferred Stock   —    599  —    1,796 

                 

Net income available to common stockholders   $ 15,970  $ 7,787  $ 27,128  $ 10,929 
        

 

       

 

Net income available per common share        

Basic   $ 0.34  $ 0.21  $ 0.58  $ 0.30 
Diluted   $ 0.32  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.29 

Weighted average common shares outstanding        

Basic    47,164  36,571  46,848   35,871 
Diluted   49,599  39,324  49,512   38,064 
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(in thousands)  
  

  
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
  2006   2005  
  (unaudited)   (unaudited)  

Cash flows from operating activities   

Net income $ 27,128  $ 12,725 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities   

Depreciation and amortization  6,774   4,382 
Unrealized foreign exchange rate gain  (200)  —   
Gain on disposal of fixed assets  —    (20)
Stock-based compensation  1,292   494 
Deferred income taxes  (6,445)  (1,448)
Changes in reserves for doubtful accounts, returns, discounts and inventories 5,063   967 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Accounts receivable  (38,380)  (20,925)
Inventories  (21,804)  (2,339)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (2,624)  (2,640)
Other non-current assets  (48)  (754)
Accounts payable  6,574   8,373 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,746   1,744 
Income taxes payable and receivable   (932)  1,938 

   
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities  (15,856)  2,497 
        

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of property and equipment  (10,957)  (8,281)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  —    54 
Purchases of short-term investments  (64,650)  —   
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments  64,650   —   

        

Net cash used in investing activities  (10,957)  (8,227)
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from long-term debt 2,119   2,838 
Payments on long-term debt   (1,771)  (1,121)
Payments on capital lease obligations  (1,520)  (1,764)
Net proceeds from revolving credit facility  —    9,353 
Book overdraft  —    585 
Payments of common stock dividends  —    (5,000)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation arrangements  6,521   —   
Proceeds from stock-based compensation arrangements 2,789   438 
Proceeds from sale of restricted Class A Common Stock   —     498 
Payments of debt financing costs  —    (919)
Payments received on notes from stockholders  114   106 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities  8,252   5,014 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (159)  (45)

   
 

   
 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (18,720)  (761)
Cash and cash equivalents   

Beginning of period  62,977   1,085 
        

End of period  $ 44,257  $ 324 
   

 

   

 

Non-cash financing and investing activities   

Fair market value of shares withheld in consideration of employee tax obligations relative to stock-
based compensation arrangements  $ 734  $ —   

Accretion of and cumulative preferred dividends on Series A Preferred Stock  —    1,796 
Purchase of equipment through capital leases and subordinated debt  —    2,103 
Interest earned on notes receivable from stockholders  5   8 
Reversal of unearned compensation and additional paid in capital due to adoption of SFAS 123R 715   —   
Conversion of Class B Convertible Common Stock to Class A Common Stock   1   —   
Exercise of stock-based compensation arrangements through stockholders’ notes receivable  —    262 
Fair market value of warrants granted in partial consideration of intangible asset  8,500   —   
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See accompanying notes.  
  

5  

Transfer of revolving credit facility to term debt   —     25,000 
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  

1. Description of the Business  
Under Armour, Inc. is a developer, marketer and distributor of branded performance apparel, footwear and accessories. Sales are 

targeted to athletes and teams at the collegiate and professional level as well as consumers with active lifestyles throughout the world. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
Basis of Presentation  
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Under Armour, Inc. and its wholly owned 

subsidiaries (the “Company”). All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated. The accompanying consolidated 
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Interim Financial Data  
The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2006 and for the three and nine months ended 

September 30, 2006 and 2005 have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim 
information. Accordingly, they do not contain all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting 
principles for complete financial statements. However, in the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal, recurring 
adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and results of operations have been included.  

The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected 
for the year ending December 31, 2006 or any other portions thereof. Certain information in footnote disclosures normally included in 
annual financial statements has been condensed or omitted for the interim periods presented, in accordance with the rules and 
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for interim consolidated financial statements.  

The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 is derived from the audited financial statements included in our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the “2005 Form 10-K”), which should be read in 
conjunction with these consolidated financial statements.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  
Financial instruments that subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of accounts 

receivable. The majority of the Company’s accounts receivable is due from large sporting good retailers. Credit is extended based on 
an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and collateral is not required. The most significant customers that accounted for a 
large portion of net revenues and accounts receivable are as follows:  
  

  
6  

   
Customer

A   
Customer

B   
Customer

C  

Net revenues     

Nine months ended September 30, 2006   20.9% 15.1% 3.6%
Nine months ended September 30, 2005   16.8% 15.7% 3.1%

Accounts receivable     

As of September 30, 2006   25.0% 17.7% 5.1%
As of September 30, 2005   27.0% 20.4% 3.9%
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  
  

Short-Term Investments  
Beginning in the second quarter of 2006, the Company purchased and sold short-term investments consisting of auction rate 

municipal bonds. All of these short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities. These auction rate securities are 
recorded at cost, which approximates fair market value due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset at the regular auctions 
every 7 to 35 days. Despite the long-term nature of their stated contractual maturities, the Company has the ability to liquidate these 
securities primarily through the auction process. As a result, the Company had no unrealized gains or losses from its investments in 
these securities. All income generated from these short-term investments is tax exempt and recorded as interest income. These 
securities were sold prior to September 30, 2006. Proceeds were invested in highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 
three months or less.  

Accounts Receivable  
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoice price net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, certain discounts, and reserve 

for returns, and do not bear interest. Beginning in the first quarter of 2006, the majority of discounts earned by customers in the period 
are recorded as liabilities within accrued expenses as opposed to an offset to accounts receivable as in prior years. These specific 2006 
customer agreements stipulate settlements to be made through Company cash disbursements as opposed to the issuance of customer 
credit which had been the historical practice of the Company. Therefore, as of September 30, 2006, there were $6,217 in customer 
discounts recorded within accrued expenses and only $863 recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2005, 
there were no customer discounts recorded within accrued expenses and $7,391 recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in accounts receivable. The 
Company reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Receivable balances are written off against the allowance when 
management believes it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet credit 
exposure related to its customers.  

Inventories  
Inventories consist of finished goods, raw materials and work-in-process, and are valued at standard costs which approximate 

the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method of cost determination. Costs of finished goods inventories 
include all costs incurred to bring inventory to its current condition, including freight-in, duties and other costs. The Company does 
not include certain costs incurred to operate its distribution center in cost of goods sold. Historically, such costs would not have had a 
material impact on inventories, cost of goods sold, or gross profit.  

The Company periodically reviews its inventories and makes provisions as necessary for estimated obsolescence or damaged 
goods. The amount of such markdowns is equal to the difference between cost of inventory and the estimated market value based 
upon assumptions about future demands, selling prices, and market conditions.  
  

7  
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  
  

Inventories consist of the following:  
  

Intangible Asset  
The intangible asset, consisting of footwear promotional rights, is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated 

useful life through March 2012 (see Note 3 for further details on the intangible asset). The Company continually evaluates whether 
events or circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful life of the intangible asset may warrant revision or 
that the remaining balance may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that the intangible asset should be evaluated for possible 
impairment, the Company reviews the intangible asset to assess recoverability from future operations using undiscounted cash flows. 
Impairments are recognized in earnings to the extent that the carrying value exceeds fair value.  

Income Taxes  
The Company recorded $6,190 and $5,261 of income tax expense for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively, and $13,462 and $8,176 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The effective rate for 
income taxes was 33.2% and 39.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. During the three months 
ended September 30, 2006, the Company adjusted its projected annual effective tax rate for the year downward to reflect the impact 
of a new state tax credit earned. As a result, the Company’s effective tax rate was 27.9% for the three months ended September 30, 
2006 compared to the 38.6% for the same period in the prior year. The Company’s 2006 effective tax rate is expected to be lower than 
2005 primarily due to the state tax credit earned in 2006.  

Currency Translation  
The functional currency for the Company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiaries is the applicable local currency. The translation 

of the foreign currency into U.S. dollars is performed for assets and liabilities using current exchange rates in effect at the balance 
sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate during the period. Capital accounts are translated at 
historical exchange rates. Unrealized translation gains and losses are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income or loss. Adjustments that arise from exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in a currency 
other than the local currency are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.  
  

8  

   
September 30,

2006   
December 31,

2005  

Finished goods   $ 78,464  $ 57,020 
Raw materials    1,718   1,379 
Work-in-process    157   95 

         

Subtotal inventories    80,339   58,494 
Inventories reserve    (5,367)  (4,887)

         

Total inventories   $ 74,972  $ 53,607 
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  
  

Revenue Recognition  
The Company recognizes revenue pursuant to applicable accounting standards, including the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 

No. 104, Revenue Recognition, which summarizes certain of the SEC staff’s views in applying generally accepted accounting 
principles to revenue recognition in financial statements and provides guidance on revenue recognition issues in the absence of 
authoritative literature addressing a specific arrangement or a specific industry.  

Net revenues consist of both net sales and license revenues. Net sales are recognized upon transfer of ownership, including 
passage of title to the customer and transfer of risk of loss related to those goods. Transfer of title and risk of loss is based upon 
shipment under free on board (“FOB”) shipping-point for most goods. In some instances, transfer of title and risk of loss takes place 
at the point of sale (e.g. at the Company’s retail outlet stores). Net sales are recorded net of sales discounts and certain customer-
based incentives along with a reserve for returns, if applicable. Provisions for customer-based incentives such as cooperative 
advertising, included in selling, general and administrative expenses, are based on contractual obligations with certain major 
customers. Returns are estimated at the time of sale based primarily on historical experience. License revenues are recognized based 
upon shipment of licensed products sold by our licensees.  

Earnings per Share  
Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders for the period by the 

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share is computed by 
dividing net income available to common stockholders for the period by the diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution from common shares issuable through stock options, 
restricted stock and other equity awards. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 03-6: Participating 
Securities and the Two Class Method Under FASB Statement No. 128, the Convertible Common Stock outstanding prior to our initial 
public offering has been included in the basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, 
as if the shares were converted into Class A Common Stock on a three for one basis. The following represents a reconciliation from 
basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share:  
  

  
9  

   
Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
   2006   2005   2006   2005

Numerator      
Net income, as reported   $15,970  $ 8,386  $27,128  $12,725
Accretion of and cumulative preferred dividends on Series A Preferred Stock    —     599  —     1,796

                

Net income available to common stockholders   $15,970  $ 7,787  $27,128  $10,929
                

Denominator         

Weighted average common shares outstanding    47,164   36,571  46,848   35,871
Effect of dilutive securities    2,435   2,753  2,664   2,193

                

Weighted average common shares and dilutive securities outstanding    49,599   39,324  49,512   38,064
                

Earnings per share - basic   $ 0.34  $ 0.21  $ 0.58  $ 0.30
Earnings per share - diluted   $ 0.32  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.29
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  
  

Stock-Based Compensation  
The Company has two equity incentive plans under which it has granted or may grant non-qualified stock options, incentive 

stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other equity awards, collectively “stock rights” (see Note 8 for further details 
on these plans).  

The Company has historically accounted for grants of stock rights to non-employees at fair value in accordance with the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS 123”) and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity 
Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services (“EITF 96-
18”). For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, the Company recognized $33 and $43, respectively, in stock-based 
compensation expense relating to fully vested stock rights granted to non-employees. No expense was recognized in 2006 relating to 
stock rights granted to non-employees.  

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for grants of stock rights to employees and directors using the intrinsic value 
method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“ABP 25”), 
and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, unearned compensation was recorded equal to the fair market value on 
the date of grant less any exercise price. Compensation expense was amortized over the vesting period in accordance with Financial 
Interpretation Number (“FIN”) 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans (“FIN 
28”).  

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (revised 2004) 
(“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R revises SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires that all stock rights granted to 
employees and directors be measured at the fair value of the award and recognized as an expense in the financial statements. SFAS 
123R also requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises be reflected as financing cash flows instead of operating 
cash flows.  

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method of application, which requires the Company to 
recognize compensation expense for grants of stock rights to employees and directors on a prospective basis; therefore, prior period 
financial statements have not been restated. The compensation expense to be recognized includes the expense of stock rights granted 
subsequent to January 1, 2006 and the expense for the remaining vesting term of stock rights granted subsequent to the Company’s 
initial filing of the S-1 Registration Statement with the SEC on August 26, 2005. Stock rights granted to employees and directors 
prior to the Company’s initial filing of the S-1 Registration Statement are specifically excluded from SFAS 123R and will continue to 
be accounted for in accordance with APB 25 and FIN 28 until unearned compensation of $586 as of September 30, 2006 is fully 
amortized through 2010. In addition, as of the January 1, 2006 adoption date, the Company reversed $715 in unearned compensation 
and the related additional paid in capital due to unvested equity awards granted between the initial filing of the Company’s S-1 
Registration Statement and the January 1, 2006 SFAS 123R adoption date. For the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, 
the Company recognized $113 and $286, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company 
recognized $317 and $451, respectively, in amortization of unearned compensation in accordance with APB 25 and FIN 28.  

Consistent with the valuation method used for the disclosure only provisions of SFAS 123, the Company is using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model to value compensation expense under SFAS 123R. As permitted by Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 
No. 107, Share-Based Payment (“SAB 107”), the expected life of options  
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granted is calculated using an expected life equal to the time from grant to the midpoint between the vesting date and the contractual 
term, while considering the vesting tranches. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield for the U.S. Treasury bill with a maturity 
equal to the expected option life. Expected volatility is based on an average for a peer group of companies similar in terms of type of 
business, industry, stage of life cycle and size. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the total vesting 
period, which is the implied requisite service period and net of forfeitures which are estimated at the date of grant based on historical 
rates. Under the provisions of SFAS 123R, as of September 30, 2006, the Company had $5,582 of unrecognized compensation 
expense expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 4.0 years. The Company recognized $495 and $975 in stock-
based compensation expense in selling, general and administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, 
respectively, in accordance with SFAS 123R.  

Had the Company elected to account for all stock rights to employees and directors at fair value in accordance with SFAS 123 as 
amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure (“SFAS 148”), net income and 
earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 would have been reported as set forth in the 
following table:  
  

The weighted average fair value of an option granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was $16.12 
and $0.58, respectively. The fair value of each option granted was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:  
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Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
   2006   2005   2006   2005  

Net income, as reported   $ 15,970  $ 8,386  $27,128  $12,725 
Accretion of and cumulative preferred dividends on Series A Preferred Stock   —    599  —     1,796 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income available to common stockholders    15,970   7,787  27,128   10,929 
Add: stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of 

taxes    439   197  864   302 
Deduct: stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based 

methods for all awards, net of taxes   (459)  (176) (935)  (266)
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Pro forma net income   $ 15,950  $ 7,808  $27,057  $10,965 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings per share including SFAS 123 compensation expense      

Basic, pro forma   $ 0.34  $ 0.21  $ 0.58  $ 0.31 
Diluted, pro forma   $ 0.32  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.29 

Basic, as reported   $ 0.34  $ 0.21  $ 0.58  $ 0.30 
Diluted, as reported  $ 0.32  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.29 

   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
   2006   2005  

Risk-free interest rate   4.6% - 5.0% 3.86% - 4.29%
Average expected life in years   5.5 - 6.5  5 
Expected volatility   44.6% - 46.1% 0%
Expected dividend yield   0% 0%
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Management Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America requires management to make estimates, including estimates relating to assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  
In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying 

Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”), which provides interpretive guidance on the consideration of the 
effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB 108 
requires financial statement errors to be quantified using both balance sheet and income statement approaches and an evaluation on 
whether either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are 
considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating 
the impact of adopting SAB 108 on its consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (“SFAS 157”) which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands 
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company 
is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on its consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an interpretation of FASB Statement 
No. 109 (“FIN 48”), which provides additional guidance and clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN 48 
defines the threshold for recognizing tax return positions in the financial statements as “more likely than not” that the position is 
sustainable, based on its technical merits. FIN 48 also provides guidance on the measurement, classification and disclosure of tax 
return positions in the financial statements. FIN 48 is effective for the first reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006, with 
the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings in 
the period of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on its consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2006, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to 
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation) (“EITF 06-
3”). EITF 06-3 requires the disclosure of the Company’s accounting policy regarding its gross or net presentation of externally 
imposed taxes on revenue-producing transactions in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. EITF 06-3 is effective for the 
first annual or interim reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting EITF 06-3 on its consolidated financial statement disclosures.  

In October 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. (“FSP”) SFAS 13-1, Accounting for Rental Costs Incurred during a 
Construction Period (“FSP SFAS 13-1”). FSP SFAS 13-1 concludes that there is no distinction between the right to use a leased asset 
during and after the construction period; therefore rental costs  
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incurred during the construction period should be recognized as rental expense and deducted from income from continuing 
operations. FSP SFAS 13-1 is effective for the first reporting period beginning after December 15, 2005, although early adoption is 
permitted. The adoption of FSP SFAS 13-1 in the first quarter of 2006 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

In June 2005, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 05-6, Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold 
Improvements Purchased after Lease Inception or Acquired in a Business Combination (“EITF 05-6”). EITF 05-6 addresses the 
amortization period for leasehold improvements in operating leases that are either (a) placed in service significantly after and not 
contemplated at or near the beginning of the initial lease term or (b) acquired in a business combination. Leasehold improvements that 
are placed in service significantly after and not contemplated at or near the beginning of the lease term should be amortized over the 
shorter of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are deemed to be reasonably 
assured at the date the leasehold improvements are purchased. Leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination should be 
amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are deemed 
to be reasonably assured at the date of acquisition. This Issue was applied to leasehold improvements that were purchased or acquired 
in reporting periods after June 29, 2005. The application of EITF 05-6 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, (“SFAS 154”) which replaces APB 
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS 154 
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and requires retrospective application (a term defined by the statement) to 
prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine the effect of a change. It also applies to changes required by 
an accounting pronouncement that does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and 
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 154 in 2006 had no effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, which revises SFAS 123, and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires all 
stock-based compensation to be recognized as an expense in the financial statements and that such costs be measured according to the 
fair value of the award. SFAS 123R became effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company 
accounted for grants of stock rights in accordance with APB 25 and provided pro forma effects of SFAS 123 in accordance with 
SFAS 148 as discussed in “Stock-Based Compensation” above. In March 2005, SAB 107 was issued to provide guidance from the 
SEC to simplify some of the implementation challenges of SFAS 123R as this statement relates to the valuation of the share-based 
payment arrangements for public companies. The Company applied the principles of SAB 107 in connection with the adoption of 
SFAS 123R. As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the Company recorded $495 and $975 in stock-based compensation expense during 
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively.  

In November 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs (“SFAS 151”) which is an amendment of Accounting 
Research Bulletin No. 43, Inventory Pricing. SFAS 151 requires all companies to recognize a current-period charge for abnormal 
amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs and wasted materials. This statement also requires that the allocation of fixed 
production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 151 in the first quarter of 2006 had no effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  
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3. Intangible Asset, Net of Amortization  

In August 2006, the Company and NFL Properties LLC (“NFL Properties”) entered into a Promotional Rights Agreement (the 
“NFL Agreement”) in which the Company became an authorized supplier of footwear to the National Football League. As partial 
consideration for the NFL Agreement which expires in March 2012, the Company issued to NFL Properties fully vested and non-
forfeitable warrants to purchase 480,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. The resulting $8,500 intangible asset was 
determined based on the fair value of the warrants as established by an independent third party valuation. The intangible asset is 
amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the NFL Agreement.  

As of September 30, 2006, the carrying amount of the intangible asset was $8,250, which comprises the original fair value, net 
of $250 in accumulated amortization. Amortization expense, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses, was 
$250 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006. The estimated amortization expense of the intangible asset is $625 for 
the year ended December 31, 2006 and $1,500 for each of the years ended December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2010.  

4. Revolving Credit Facility and Long Term Debt  
In September 2005, the Company and a lending institution entered into an amended and restated financing agreement that 

terminates in 2010. Under this financing agreement, the Company is required to maintain certain financial covenants as defined in the 
agreement. This financing agreement is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company. The Company paid and 
recorded $1,061 in deferred financing costs as part of the financing agreement, which was comprised of a $25,000 term note and a 
$75,000 revolving credit facility.  

In November 2005, the Company repaid the $25,000 term note plus interest with proceeds from the initial public offering (see 
Note 6). The term note portion of the financing agreement was then terminated and as such the Company expensed $265 of deferred 
financing costs during the fourth quarter of 2005. With the termination of the term note, the Company’s trademarks and other 
intellectual property were released as a component of the collateral.  

The Company has available borrowings under the revolving credit facility up to $75,000 based on the Company’s eligible 
inventory and accounts receivable balances. The Company has the option to increase the borrowings under the revolving credit 
facility up to $100,000 if certain conditions are satisfied. With proceeds from the initial public offering in November 2005, the 
Company paid the $12,200 balance outstanding under the revolving credit facility. As of September 30, 2006, the Company’s 
available borrowings under the revolving credit facility were $75,000 based on the Company’s eligible inventory and accounts 
receivable balances. Any balance on the revolving credit facility must be repaid in full in 2010.  

Prior to amending and restating the revolving credit facility in September 2005, the Company was party to a revolving credit 
facility that was to expire in April 2007. From January 2004 through September 2005, this agreement was periodically amended to 
increase the available borrowings based on eligible inventory and accounts receivable not to exceed $60,000. Covenants under these 
superseded revolving credit facilities were similar to the covenants described above.  

In March 2005, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with a lending institution to finance the acquisition of 
up to $17,000 of qualifying capital investments. This agreement is collateralized by a first lien on these assets and is otherwise 
subordinate to the revolving credit facility. Through September 30, 2006, the Company has financed $7,915 of capital investments 
under this agreement. Interest on outstanding borrowings accrues at an average annual rate of 6.5%. At September 30, 2006, the 
outstanding principal balance was $5,183.  
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In December 2003, the Company entered into a master loan and security agreement with a lending institution which was 
subordinate to the revolving credit facility. Under this agreement, the Company borrowed $1,300 for the purchase of qualifying 
furniture and fixtures. The interest rate was 7.0% annually, and principal and interest payments were due monthly through February 
2006. The outstanding principal balance was repaid during February 2006.  

Interest expense for all debt, which includes the amortization of deferred financing costs, was $204 and $841 for the three 
months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $594 and $2,132 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.  

5. Commitments and Contingencies  
The Company is, from time to time, involved in routine legal matters incidental to its business. Management believes that the 

ultimate resolution of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.  

In addition, within the normal course of business, the Company enters into contractual commitments, such as collegiate 
sponsorship agreements and official supplier agreements, in order to promote the Company’s brand and products. These agreements 
include scheduled sponsorship fee payments or rights fee payments, along with other purchase or product supply obligations over the 
terms of the agreements.  

6. Stockholders’ Equity  
On August 3, 2006, the Company issued fully vested and non-forfeitable warrants to purchase 480,000 shares of the Company’s 

Class A Common Stock to NFL Properties as partial consideration for footwear promotional rights which are recorded as an 
intangible asset (see Note 3). The warrants have a term of 12 years from the date of issuance and an exercise price of $36.99 per 
share, which was the closing price on the NASDAQ Global Market of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on August 2, 2006. 
None of the warrants may be exercised until one year from the issue date, at which time 240,000 warrants may be exercised, with the 
remaining 240,000 warrants becoming exercisable three years from the issue date. The fair value of the warrants was determined 
using an independent third party valuation.  

In June 2006, 8,352,639 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock were sold by stockholders of the Company, including 
certain members of the Company’s management, pursuant to an underwritten public offering registered on Form S-1. The Company 
did not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares sold in the offering and expenses incurred from the offering were paid by the 
selling stockholders. In connection with the offering, 1,950,000 shares of Class B Convertible Common Stock were converted into 
shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis.  

In November 2005, the Company completed an initial public offering and issued an additional 9,500,000 shares of Class A 
Common Stock. As part of the initial public offering, 1,208,055 outstanding shares of Convertible Common Stock outstanding prior 
to our initial public offering were converted to Class A Common Stock on a three-for-one basis. The Company received proceeds of 
$112,676 net of $10,824 in stock issue costs, which it used to repay the $25,000 term note, the balance outstanding under the 
revolving credit facility of $12,200, and the mandatorily redeemable Series A Preferred Stock of $12,000.  
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As part of a recapitalization in connection with the initial public offering, the Company’s stockholders approved an amended 
and restated charter that provides for the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0003 1/3 per 
share and 16,200,000 shares of Class B Convertible Common Stock, par value $0.0003 1/3 per share, and permits amendments to the 
charter without stockholder approval to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock authorized, or the number of 
shares of stock of any class or series of stock authorized, and to classify or reclassify unissued shares of stock.  

The amended and restated charter divides the Company’s common stock into two classes, Class A Common Stock and Class B 
Convertible Common Stock. Holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Convertible Common Stock have identical rights, 
except that the holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share and holders of Class B Convertible Common 
Stock are entitled to 10 votes per share on all matters submitted to stockholder vote. Class B Convertible Common Stock may only be 
held by our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), or a related party of our CEO, as defined in the amended and restated charter. Shares 
not held by our CEO, or a related party of our CEO, as defined in the amended and restated charter, automatically convert into shares 
of Class A Common Stock on a one-to-one basis. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if 
authorized and declared out of assets legally available for the payment of dividends.  

All Class A Common Stock shares presented in the consolidated financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements reflect a three-for-one stock split effective in May, 2005.  

7. Mandatorily Redeemable Series A Preferred Stock  
On September 30, 2003, the Company issued 1,200,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for $4,356 in cash proceeds net of 

$133 in stock issuance costs. Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock had limited voting rights and certain protective rights regarding 
major business decisions of the Company and the payment of dividends to common stockholders. Holders of the Series A Preferred 
Stock had the ability to appoint one member to the Company’s Board of Directors.  

The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to receive cumulative preferential dividends at 8% of the stated 
redemption value of $10 per share compounded annually if declared by the Board of Directors. The Series A Preferred Stock was 
redeemable at the option of the holders in September 2008 at a redemption price of $10 per share, plus 125% of accrued but unpaid 
dividends plus 25% of any previously declared dividends that were not paid within 120 days after the respective year end (the 
“Redemption Price”). The Series A Preferred Stock also carried a liquidation preference equal to its stated Redemption Price and 
could be redeemed by the Company at any time at the then stated Redemption Price. The amount of the Redemption Price, including 
issuance costs, was being accreted to the value of the Series A Preferred Stock each year. For the nine months ended September 30, 
2005, $1,796 had been accreted to the Redemption Price of the Series A Preferred Stock during the period. As required, the Series A 
Preferred Stock was redeemed at the $10 stated value per share, or $12,000, upon the consummation of the Company’s initial public 
offering.  
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8. Stock Compensation Plans  
2005 Stock Compensation Plan  

The Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the Under Armour, Inc. 2005 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive 
Plan (the “2005 Plan”) in November 2005. The 2005 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock 
units and other equity awards to officers, directors, key employees and other persons. The maximum number of shares available for 
issuance under the 2005 Plan is 2,700,000 shares.  

Stock options and restricted stock awards under the 2005 Plan generally vest ratably over a two to five year period. The exercise 
period for stock options is generally ten years from the date of grant. The Company generally receives a tax deduction for any 
ordinary income recognized by a participant in respect to an award under the 2005 Plan.  

The 2005 Plan terminates as of the Company’s 2009 annual meeting of stockholders unless it is approved by stockholders prior 
to such meeting. If the 2005 Plan is approved by stockholders during this time period, it terminates in 2015. As of September 30, 
2006, 2,212,496 shares are available for future grants of awards under the 2005 Plan.  

2000 Stock Compensation Plan  
The Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”) provided for the issuance of stock options, restricted stock and other 

equity awards to officers, directors, key employees and other persons. The 2000 Plan was terminated and superseded by the 2005 Plan 
upon the Company’s initial public offering in November 2005. No further awards may be granted under the 2000 Plan.  

Stock options and restricted stock awards under the 2000 Plan generally vest ratably over a two to five year period. The exercise 
period for stock options generally does not exceed five years from the date of grant. The Company generally receives a tax deduction 
for any ordinary income recognized by a participant in respect to an award under the 2000 Plan.  

2006 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan and Deferred Stock Unit Plan  
In April 2006, the Board of Directors adopted the Under Armour, Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan (the 

“2006 Director Compensation Plan”) and the Under Armour, Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Director Deferred Stock Unit Plan (the “2006 
DSU Plan”), each effective May 31, 2006. The 2006 Director Compensation Plan provides for cash compensation and awards of 
stock options and restricted stock units to non-employee Directors of the Company under the 2005 Plan. Non-employee Directors 
have the option to defer the value of their annual cash retainers as deferred stock units in accordance with the 2006 DSU Plan. Each 
new non-employee Director will receive an award of restricted stock units upon the initial election to the Board, with the units vesting 
in three equal annual installments. In addition, each non-employee Director will receive an annual grant of stock options under the 
2005 Plan and an annual award of restricted stock units following each annual stockholders’ meeting, vesting 100% on the date of the 
next annual stockholders’ meeting following the grant date.  
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The receipt of the shares otherwise deliverable upon vesting of the restricted stock units will automatically defer into deferred 
stock units under the 2006 DSU Plan. Under the 2006 DSU Plan each deferred stock unit represents the Company’s obligation to 
issue one share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock with the shares delivered six months following the termination of the 
Director’s Board service.  

On May 31, 2006 following the Company’s 2006 annual stockholders’ meeting, a total of 4,202 restricted stock units were 
granted to all non-employee Directors of the Company pursuant to the 2006 Director Compensation Plan. The fair market value of 
each restricted stock unit was $35.70, which was the closing price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. 
One hundred percent of the restricted stock units vest on the date of the next annual stockholders’ meeting following the grant date. 
Upon vesting, the restricted stock units will automatically convert to deferred stock units on a one-for-one basis.  

A summary of the Company’s stock awards outstanding as of September 30, 2006, and changes during the nine months then 
ended are presented below:  
  

In addition to the 188,500 shares of restricted stock shown above as of September 30, 2006, there were an additional 131,070 
shares of restricted stock outstanding that were purchased by members of the Board of Directors. These shares of restricted stock vest 
through September 2007.  

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2006:  
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  Stock Options   Restricted Stock

   

Number 
of Stock 
Options   

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price   

Number 
of 

Restricted
Shares   

Weighted
Average

FMV

Outstanding, beginning of period   4,215,124  $ 3.42  125,200  $ 7.79
Granted   181,425  35.48  69,600  37.36
Exercised  (1,112,159) 2.18  —    —  
Forfeited   (355,775)  4.14  (6,300)  18.61

   
 

    
 

 

Outstanding, end of period   2,928,615  $ 5.79  188,500  $ 18.35
   

 

      

 

   

Options exercisable at period-end   805,433  $ 1.99   
   

 

      

   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices   

Number of 
Underlying 

Shares   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise 
Price Per 

Share   

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)  

Total 
Intrinsic 

Value   

Number of 
Underlying

Shares   

Weighted-
Average 
Exercise
Price Per 

Share   

Total 
Intrinsic 

Value

$0.17   391,300  $ 0.17  4.8  $ 15,595  391,300  $ 0.17  $15,595
$0.75 - $0.83   82,500   0.78  5.5   3,237  82,500   0.78   3,237
$1.77 - $2.65   1,694,280   2.28  4.2   63,937  249,381   2.23   9,424
$10.77 - $13.00   583,010   11.43  4.3   16,667  82,252   11.18   2,372
$28.65 - $38.85   177,525  $ 35.41  9.5   819  —    $ —     —  

                    

  2,928,615      $100,255  805,433    $30,628
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Under Armour, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)  
(unaudited)  

(amounts in thousands, except per share and share amounts)  
  
9. Segment Data and Related Information  

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The 
Company operates exclusively in the consumer products industry in which the Company develops, markets, and distributes apparel, 
footwear and accessories. Based on the nature of the financial information that is received by the chief operating decision maker, the 
Company operates within a single operating and reportable segment. Although the Company operates within one reportable segment, 
it has several product categories within the segment, for which the net revenues attributable to each product category are as follows:  
  

The table below summarizes product net revenues by geographic regions based on customer location:  
  

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets were located 
in the United States.  
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Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
   2006  2005   2006  2005

Mens   $ 79,233  $57,476  $173,620  $129,545
Womens    26,513  18,067  59,586  36,770
Youth    10,980  6,783  22,095  13,241

                

Apparel    116,726  82,326  255,301  179,556
Footwear    2,001   —     17,585   —  
Accessories    3,794  1,050  11,481  7,359

                

Total net sales    122,521  83,376  284,367  186,915
License revenues    5,224  3,230  11,039  6,835

                

Total net revenues   $127,745  $86,606  $295,406  $193,750
                

   
Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
   2006   2005   2006   2005

        

U.S. and Canada   $123,567  $85,409  $288,812  $189,837
Other foreign countries    4,178   1,197  6,594  3,913

                

Total net revenues   $127,745  $86,606  $295,406  $193,750
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS  
Forward-Looking Statements  

Some of the statements contained in this report constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements relate to 
expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters 
that are not historical facts, such as statements regarding our future financial condition or results of operations, our prospects and 
strategies for future growth, the development and introduction of new products, and the implementation of our marketing and 
branding strategies. In many cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” 
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “intends,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable 
terminology.  

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our current views about future events and are subject to risks, 
uncertainties, assumptions and changes in circumstances that may cause events or our actual activities or results to differ significantly 
from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking 
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future events, results, actions, levels of activity, performance or achievements. 
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. A number of important factors could cause 
actual results to differ materially from those indicated by the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, those factors 
described in our 2005 Form 10-K, as updated in subsequent Forms 10-Q, under “Risk Factors” and in “Qualitative and Quantitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk.” These factors include, without limitation:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our views and assumptions only as of the date of this report. We 
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the 
statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.  
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 •  our ability to manage our growth effectively; 

 •  our ability to maintain effective internal controls; 

 •  the availability, integration and effective operation of management information systems and other technology; 

 
•  increased competition causing us to reduce the prices of our products or to increase significantly our marketing efforts in 

order to avoid losing market share; 

 •  changes in consumer preferences or the reduction in demand for performance apparel and other products; 

 •  our ability to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products; 

 •  reduced demand for sporting goods and apparel generally; 

 •  failure of our suppliers or manufacturers to produce or deliver our products in a timely or cost-effective manner; 

 •  our ability to accurately anticipate and respond to seasonal or quarterly fluctuations in our operating results; 

 •  our ability to effectively market and maintain a positive brand image; 

 •  our ability to attract and maintain the services of our senior management and key employees; and 

 •  changes in general economic or market conditions, including as a result of political or military unrest or terrorist attacks. 
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Overview  
We are a leading developer, marketer and distributor of branded performance apparel, footwear and accessories. Since our 

founding in 1995, we have grown and reinforced our brand name and image through sales to athletes and teams at the collegiate and 
professional level, as well as sales to consumers with active lifestyles. We believe that Under Armour is a widely recognized athletic 
brand known for its performance and authenticity and is uniquely positioned as a performance alternative to traditional natural fiber 
products and non-performance apparel and footwear.  

We reported net revenues of $295.4 million for the first nine months of 2006, which represented a 52.5% increase from the same 
period of 2005. We believe that our growth in net revenues has been driven by a growing interest in performance products and the 
strength of the Under Armour brand in the marketplace relative to our competitors, as evidenced by the increase in sales of our mens, 
womens and youth products and the introduction of footwear.  

We plan to continue to increase our net revenues by building upon our relationships with existing customers and expanding our 
product offerings in new and existing retail stores. By September 30, 2006, our products were offered primarily in the United States, 
Canada and Japan, as well as in France, Germany, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, in over 10,000 retail stores, up from 
approximately 500 retail stores in 2000. In June 2006, we launched our new footwear products with the introduction of football cleats 
and slides. New product offerings in 2007 will include baseball cleats, which we will begin shipping in the fourth quarter of 2006. In 
addition, we plan to expand our product offerings to include additional men’s and women’s performance products as well as expand 
further into off-field outdoor sports, including hunting, fishing, running, mountain sports, skiing and golf. As we expand into new 
product lines, sales of our existing product lines continue to grow.  

To date, a large majority of our products have been sold in the United States. We believe that our products appeal to athletes and 
consumers with active lifestyles around the globe. As early as 1999, the Under Armour brand has been sold in the Japanese market 
place through a licensee. We began selling our products in Canada during 2003 and in the United Kingdom through independent sales 
agents in 2005. We plan to increase net revenues internationally by adding product offerings through our Japanese licensee and 
expanding our Canadian and European distribution, including France and Germany. In order to support this initiative, during the first 
quarter of 2006 we opened a new European Headquarters in Amsterdam, Netherlands that houses our European sales, marketing and 
logistics functions.  

During the first nine months of 2006, we reported license revenues of $11.0 million which represented a 61.5% increase from 
the same period of 2005. We have entered into licensing agreements with established, high-quality manufacturers to produce and 
distribute Under Armour branded products to further reinforce our brand identity and increase our net revenues and gross profit. In 
exchange for the use of our trademarks, our licensees pay us license revenues based on their net sales of core products of socks, hats, 
bags and other accessories. During 2006 we entered into new licensing agreements, including distribution of products to college 
bookstores and golf pro shops. We seek to continue to grow our license revenues by working with our existing licensees to offer 
additional products and increase their distribution, and by selectively entering into new licensing agreements.  

Internal Controls  
Since 2004, we have invested significant resources to comprehensively document and analyze our system of internal controls 

over financial reporting. This included the hiring of a Director of Internal Audit and the formation of an Internal Audit Department, 
along with the initiation of a Company-wide internal controls improvement project. The focus of the improvement project, and the 
steering committee founded to oversee the project, has been to design, implement and maintain a system of internal controls sufficient 
to satisfy our reporting obligations as a public company. Throughout 2005 and the first nine months of 2006, we documented 
significant processes and identified areas requiring improvement. We are designing enhanced processes and  
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controls to address those areas. We are continuing these initiatives, as well as preparing for our first management report on internal 
control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”), for the year ending 
December 31, 2006. During 2006, one of the major public accounting firms has been assisting us with these efforts. We believe this 
added expertise and experience, under the direction of our Director of Internal Audit, will be adequate to complete the project. We 
intend to continue working closely with our independent registered public accounting firm and the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors during this process.  

General  
Net revenues comprise both net sales and license revenues. Net sales comprise our five primary product categories, which are 

mens, womens and youth apparel, accessories and our new footwear products introduced in the second quarter of 2006.  

Cost of goods sold consists primarily of product costs, inbound freight and duty costs, handling costs to make products floor-
ready to customer specifications, write downs for inventory obsolescence and overhead costs associated with our quick turn, Special 
Make-Up Shop. No cost of goods sold is associated with license revenues. We do not include our distribution facility costs in the 
calculation of the cost of goods sold, but rather include these costs as a component of our selling, general and administrative 
expenses. As a result, our gross profit may not be comparable to that of other companies that include distribution facility costs in the 
calculation of their cost of goods sold. We believe, however, that our distribution facility costs have not been of a sufficient 
magnitude to materially affect our gross margin for purposes of comparison.  

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist of marketing costs, selling costs, payroll and related costs (excluding 
those specifically related to marketing and selling) and other corporate costs. Our marketing costs are an important driver of our 
growth and we strive to manage our marketing costs to be within 10-12% of net revenues on an annual basis. Marketing costs include 
payroll costs specific to marketing, commercials, print ads, league and player sponsorships and depreciation expense specific to our 
in-store fixture program. Selling costs consist primarily of payroll costs specific to selling and commissions paid to third parties. 
Other corporate costs consist primarily of distribution and corporate facility costs and other company-wide administrative expenses. 
Historically, our selling, general and administrative expenses have increased proportionately to support our growth and new sales 
initiatives.  
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Results of Operations  
The following table sets forth key components of our results of operations for the periods indicated, both in dollars and as a 

percentage of net revenues.  
  

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2005  
Net revenues increased $41.1 million, or 47.5%, to $127.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $86.6 

million for the same period in 2005. This increase was the result of increases in both our net sales and license revenues as reflected in 
the product category table below.  
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Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
(In thousands)   2006   2005   2006   2005  

Net revenues   $127,745  $ 86,606  $295,406  $193,750
Cost of goods sold   63,070   43,641   148,212   100,396

                 

Gross profit   64,675   42,965   147,194   93,354
Selling, general and administrative expenses   42,692   28,482   107,662   70,329

                 

Income from operations   21,983   14,483   39,532   23,025
Interest income (expense), net    177   (836)   1,058   (2,124)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income before income taxes   22,160   13,647   40,590   20,901
Provision for income taxes   6,190   5,261   13,462   8,176

                 

Net income   $ 15,970  $ 8,386  $ 27,128  $ 12,725
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   
Three Months Ended 

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
(As a percentage of net revenues)   2006   2005   2006   2005  

Net revenues      100.0%      100.0%       100.0%      100.0%
Cost of goods sold    49.4%  50.4%   50.2%  51.8%

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross profit   50.6%  49.6%   49.8%  48.2%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   33.4%  32.9%   36.4%  36.3%

                 

Income from operations   17.2%  16.7%   13.4%  11.9%
Interest income (expense), net   0.1%  (0.9%)  0.3%  (1.1%)

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income before income taxes   17.3%  15.8%   13.7%  10.8%
Provision for income taxes    4.8%  6.1%   4.5%  4.2%

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   12.5%  9.7%   9.2%  6.6%
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   Three Months Ended September 30,  
(In thousands)   2006   2005   $ Change   % Change 

Mens   $ 79,233  $57,476  $21,757  37.9%
Womens   26,513   18,067   8,446  46.8%
Youth  10,980   6,783   4,197  61.9%

              

Apparel   116,726   82,326   34,400  41.8%
Footwear   2,001   —     2,001  —   
Accessories   3,794   1,050   2,744  261.3%

              

Total net sales   122,521   83,376   39,145  47.0%
License revenues   5,224   3,230   1,994  61.7%

              

Total net revenues  $127,745  $86,606  $41,139  47.5%
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Net sales increased $39.1 million, or 47.0%, to $122.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 
$83.4 million during the same period in 2005 as noted in the table above. The increase in net sales primarily reflects:  
  

  

  

License revenues increased $2.0 million, or 61.7%, to $5.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $3.2 
million during the same period in 2005. This increase in license revenues was a result of increased sales by our licensees due to 
increased distribution, continued unit volume growth, new product offerings and new licensing agreements, which now includes 
distribution of products to college bookstores and golf pro shops.  

Gross profit increased $21.7 million to $64.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $43.0 million for the 
same period in 2005. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues, or gross margin, increased approximately 100 basis points to 
50.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 49.6% during the same period in 2005. This increase in gross margin was 
primarily driven by the following:  
  

  

  

  

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $14.2 million to $42.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 
2006 from $28.5 million for the same period in 2005. As a percentage of net revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased to 33.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 32.9% for the same period in 2005. These changes were 
primarily attributable to the following:  
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•  continued unit volume growth of our existing apparel products, such as ColdGear® compression products, primarily sold to 
existing retail customers due to additional retail stores and expanded floor space, while pricing of existing apparel products 
remained relatively unchanged; 

 •  increased womens and youth market penetration by leveraging current customer relationships; and 

 
•  new products introduced subsequent to September 30, 2005 within all product categories, most significantly in our 

compression and training categories. 

 
•  lower product costs as a result of greater supplier discounts for increased volume and lower cost sourcing arrangements, 

accounting for an approximate 170 basis point increase; 

 
•  increased direct to consumer higher margin sales, along with increased license revenues, accounting for an approximate 80 

basis point increase; partially offset by 

 
•  increased sales returns and allowances, along with inventory reserves, partially offset by lower customer incentives as a 

percentage of net revenues, accounting for an approximate 100 basis point decrease; and 

 
•  lower gross margin attributable to the introduction of our footwear products which have lower profit margins than our 

current apparel products, accounting for an approximate 50 basis point decrease. 

 

•  Marketing costs increased $2.7 million to $12.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $10.1 million 
during the same period in 2005 primarily due to the new footwear promotional rights agreement with NFL Properties, LLC 
(the “NFL Agreement”), sponsorship of new teams on the collegiate level, increased in-store marketing signage and fixtures, 
and marketing salaries. These increases are partially offset by lower film advertising campaign expenditures in the third 
quarter of 2006 compared to the same period in the prior year. As a percentage of net revenues, marketing costs decreased to 
10.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 11.7% during the same period in 2005 primarily due to the 
timing of our advertising campaigns. 

 

•  Selling costs increased $2.4 million to $6.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $4.1 million during 
the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily due to continued investment in our international growth initiatives, 
including the further development of our European business, increased headcount in our sales force and cooperative 
advertising with our customers. As a percentage of net revenues, selling costs increased to 5.2% during the three months 
ended September 30, 2006 from 4.8% in 2005 primarily due to our international growth initiatives. 
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Income from operations increased $7.5 million, or 51.8%, to $22.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 
from $14.5 million during the same period in 2005. Income from operations as a percentage of net revenues increased to 17.2% 
during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 16.7% during the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily a result 
of the increase in gross margin noted above, partially offset by an increase in selling, general and administrative expenses.  

Interest income (expense), net increased $1.0 million to $0.2 million in net interest income during the three months ended 
September 30, 2006 from $0.8 million in net interest expense during the same period in 2005. This increase primarily was due to the 
repayment of our revolving credit facility in November 2005, along with interest income earned on a portion of the proceeds from our 
initial public offering.  

Provision for income taxes increased $0.9 million to $6.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $5.3 
million during the same period in 2005. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, we adjusted our projected annual 
effective tax rate for the year downward to reflect the impact of a new state tax credit earned. As a result, our effective tax rate was 
27.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 38.6% during the same period in 2005. The Company’s 2006 
annual effective tax rate is expected to approximate 33.6% primarily due to the state tax credit earned in 2006.  

Net income increased $7.6 million, or 90.4%, to $16.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $8.4 
million during the same period in 2005, as a result of the factors described above.  
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•  Payroll and related costs (excluding those specifically related to marketing and selling) increased $2.9 million to $10.4 
million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $7.5 million during the same period in 2005. The increase 
during the third quarter of 2006 was due primarily to the following initiatives: we continued to build our team to design and 
source our expanding apparel and footwear lines; we added personnel to our information technology team to support our 
enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system; we added distribution facility personnel to support our growth; we added 
personnel to operate our seven new retail outlet stores; and we added personnel to our legal and compliance team. As a 
percentage of net revenues, payroll and related costs (excluding those specifically related to marketing and selling) 
decreased to 8.2% during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 8.6% during the same period in 2005 due to the 
continued increase in net revenues period-over-period. 

 

•  Other corporate costs, excluding payroll and related costs, increased $6.1 million to $12.9 million during the three months 
ended September 30, 2006 from $6.8 million during the same period in 2005. This increase was attributable primarily to the 
expansion of our leased corporate office space, additional distribution facility operating costs to support our growth, 
additional retail outlet store leases and operating costs, increased costs relating to further development of our Global Direct 
(website and catalog sales) program, post-implementation consulting costs and depreciation expense related to our new ERP 
system, and increased audit fees and SOX compliance costs. As a percentage of net revenues, other corporate costs 
increased to 10.1% during the three months ended September 30, 2006 from 7.8% during the same period in 2005 primarily 
due to the items noted above. 
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005  
Net revenues increased $101.6 million, or 52.5%, to $295.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $193.8 

million for the same period in 2005. This increase was the result of increases in both our net sales and license revenues as reflected in 
the product category table below.  
  

Net sales increased $97.5 million, or 52.1%, to $284.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from 
$186.9 million during the same period in 2005 as noted in the table above. The increase in net sales primarily reflects:  
  

  

  

  

License revenues increased $4.2 million, or 61.5%, to $11.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $6.8 
million during the same period in 2005. This increase in license revenues was a result of increased sales by our licensees due to 
increased distribution, continued unit volume growth, new product offerings and new licensing agreements, which now includes 
distribution of products to college bookstores and golf pro shops.  

Gross profit increased $53.8 million to $147.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $93.4 million for the 
same period in 2005. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues, or gross margin, increased approximately 160 basis points to 
49.8% for the nine month period ending September 30, 2006 from 48.2% during the same period in 2005. This increase in gross 
margin was primarily driven by the following:  
  

  

  

  

  
26 

   Nine Months Ended September 30,  
(In thousands)   2006   2005   $ Change   % Change 

Mens  $173,620  $129,545  $ 44,075  34.0%
Womens    59,586   36,770   22,816  62.1%
Youth    22,095  13,241  8,854  66.9%

              

Apparel    255,301  179,556  75,745  42.2%
Footwear   17,585  —   17,585  —   
Accessories    11,481   7,359   4,122  56.0%

              

Total net sales    284,367  186,915  97,452  52.1%
License revenues    11,039  6,835  4,204  61.5%

              

Total net revenues   $295,406  $193,750  $101,656  52.5%
              

 •  $17.6 million of new footwear product sales, primarily football cleats, which were introduced in the second quarter of 2006; 

 

•  continued unit volume growth of our existing products, such as ColdGear® compression products, primarily sold to existing 
retail customers due to additional retail stores and expanded floor space, while pricing of existing products remained 
relatively unchanged; 

 •  increased womens and youth market penetration by leveraging current customer relationships; and 

 
•  new products introduced subsequent to September 30, 2005 within all product categories, most significantly in our 

compression and training categories. 

 
•  lower product costs as a result of greater supplier discounts for increased volume and lower cost sourcing arrangements, 

accounting for an approximate 240 basis point increase; 

 •  decreased close-out sales in the 2006 period, accounting for an approximate 70 basis point increase; 

 
•  increased direct to consumer higher margin sales, along with increased license revenues, accounting for an approximate 40 

basis point increase; partially offset by 

 
•  lower gross margin attributable to the introduction of our footwear products which have lower profit margins than our 

current apparel products, accounting for an approximate 100 basis point decrease; and 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $37.4 million to $107.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 
2006 from $70.3 million for the same period in 2005. As a percentage of net revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased to 36.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from 36.3% for the same period in 2005. These changes were 
primarily attributable to the following:  
  

  

  

  

Income from operations increased $16.5 million, or 71.7%, to $39.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 
from $23.0 million during the same period in 2005. Income from operations as a percentage of net revenues increased to 13.4% 
during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from 11.9% during the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily a result of 
increases in gross margin.  

Interest income (expense), net increased $3.2 million to $1.1 million in net interest income during the nine months ended 
September 30, 2006 from $2.1 million in net interest expense during the same period in 2005. This increase was due to the repayment 
of our revolving credit facility in November 2005, along with interest income earned on a portion of the proceeds from our initial 
public offering.  
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•  increased sales returns and allowances, partially offset by lower customer incentives as a percentage of net revenues, 

accounting for an approximate 90 basis point decrease. 

 

•  Marketing costs increased $7.9 million to $30.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $23.0 million 
during the same period in 2005 primarily due to the NFL Agreement, sponsorship of new teams on the collegiate level, 
increased in-store marketing signage and fixtures and marketing salaries. As a percentage of net revenues, marketing costs 
decreased to 10.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from 11.9% during the same period in 2005 due 
primarily to the to the timing of our advertising campaigns. 

 

•  Selling costs increased $7.2 million to $18.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $11.4 million 
during the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily due to startup costs and continued investment in our 
international growth initiatives, including the establishment of our European business, and increased headcount in our 
domestic and international sales force. As a percentage of net revenues, selling costs increased to 6.3% during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2006 from 5.9% in 2005 primarily due to our international growth initiatives. 

 

•  Payroll and related costs (excluding those specifically related to marketing and selling) increased $8.9 million to $28.1 
million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $19.2 million during the same period in 2005. The increase 
during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was primarily due to the following initiatives: we continued to build our 
team to design and source our expanding apparel and footwear lines; we added personnel to our information technology 
team to support our ERP system; we added distribution facility personnel to support our growth; we added personnel to 
operate our seven new retail outlet stores; we added personnel to support our expanding Global Direct program; and we 
added personnel to our legal and compliance team. As a percentage of net revenues, payroll and related costs (excluding 
those specifically related to marketing and selling) decreased to 9.5% during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 
from 9.9% during the same period in 2005 due to the continued increase in net revenues period-over-period. 

 

•  Other corporate costs, excluding payroll and related costs, increased $13.4 million to $30.1 million during the nine months 
ended September 30, 2006 from $16.7 million during the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily attributable to 
additional distribution facility operating costs, additional retail outlet store leases and operating costs, increased costs 
relating to further development of our Global Direct program, litigation reserves incidental to our business, post-
implementation consulting costs and depreciation expense related to our new ERP system along with necessary costs 
associated with being a public company, including increased audit fees, insurance and SOX compliance costs. As a 
percentage of net revenues, other corporate costs increased to 10.2% during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 
from 8.6% during the same period in 2005 due to the items noted above. 
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Provision for income taxes increased $5.3 million to $13.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $8.2 
million during the same period in 2005. During the three months ended September 30, 2006, we adjusted our projected annual 
effective tax rate for the year downward to reflect the impact of a new state tax credit earned. As a result, our effective tax rate was 
33.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 39.1% during the same period in 2005. The Company’s 2006 
annual effective tax rate is expected to approximate 33.6% primarily due to the state tax credit earned in 2006.  

Net income increased $14.4 million, or 113.2%, to $27.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $12.7 
million during the same period in 2005, as a result of the factors described above.  

Seasonality  
During 2005 and 2004, we recognized approximately 76% and 79%, respectively, of our income from operations in the last six 

months of the year, driven by increased sales volume of our products during the fall selling season, reflecting our historical strength in 
fall sports, and the seasonality of our higher priced ColdGear® line. Approximately 62% and 66% of our net revenues were generated 
during the last two quarters of 2005 and 2004, respectively. The level of our working capital reflects the seasonality and growth in our 
business. We generally expect inventory, accounts payable and accrued expenses to be higher in the second and third quarters in 
preparation for the fall selling season.  

Financial Position, Capital Resources and Liquidity  
Our cash requirements have principally been for working capital and capital expenditures. Working capital has historically been 

funded from available revolving credit facilities. Our working capital requirements reflect the seasonality and growth in our business 
as we recognize a significant increase in sales during the fall selling season. Cash requirements for capital investments needed to 
grow our business have historically been funded through subordinated debt and capital lease obligations. Our capital investments have 
included expanding our in-store fixture program, improvements to our distribution and corporate facilities to support our growth, 
build-out of our new retail outlet stores and more recently, the investment in a Company-wide initiative to implement our ERP 
system, which became operational in April 2006.  

We believe that our cash from operations and borrowings available to us under our senior and subordinated debt facilities, 
together with cash and cash equivalents on hand will be adequate to meet our liquidity needs and capital expenditure requirements for 
at least the next 12 months.  

The following table presents the major components of net cash flows provided by and used in operating, investing and financing 
activities for the periods stated:  
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Nine Months Ended 

September 30,  
(in thousands)  2006  2005  
Net cash (used in) provided by:    

Operating activities   $(15,856) $ 2,497 
Investing activities    (10,957)  (8,227)
Financing activities    8,252   5,014 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (159)  (45)

         

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   $(18,720) $ (761)
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Operating Activities  
Operating activities consist primarily of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items, including depreciation, deferred income 

taxes, changes in reserves for doubtful accounts, returns, discounts and inventories and the effect of changes in operating assets and 
liabilities, principally accounts receivable, inventories, accounts payable and accrued expenses.  

Cash used in operating activities was $15.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to cash 
provided by operating activities of $2.5 million during the same period in 2005. This $18.4 million additional net use of cash in 
operating activities was primarily due to the following:  
  

  

The reductions in positive cash flows noted above were partially offset by an increase in net income of $14.4 million period-
over-period, along with lower cash outflows related to the timing of cash outflows related to certain accrued expenses.  

Beginning in 2006, the majority of incentives earned by our customers requires us to make a cash disbursement to such 
customers and are recorded as liabilities within accrued expenses. Historically, however, we did not typically make cash 
disbursements in connection with customer incentives but rather credited these customers’ accounts and accounted for such incentives 
as an offset to accounts receivable. As a result, as of September 30, 2006, there were $6.2 million in customer discounts recorded 
within accrued expenses and only $0.9 million recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. However, as of December 31, 2005, there 
were no customer discounts recorded within accrued expenses and $7.4 million recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. This 
2006 change in customer agreements and the related accounting impact will contribute to higher net accounts receivable balances and 
accrued expenses in 2006 and future periods as compared to 2005 and prior periods.  

Investing Activities  
Cash used in investing activities, which primarily represents capital expenditures, increased $2.8 million to $11.0 million during 

the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $8.2 million during the same period in 2005. This increase in cash used in investing 
activities primarily represents the additional costs to implement our new ERP system, expanding our in-store fixture program and the 
build-out of our new retail outlet stores. The new ERP system became operational in April 2006. Our total capital investment in 
connection with the initial implementation and ongoing upgrades of the ERP system and increased functionality is expected to be 
approximately $10.5 million over a five-year period.  

In April 2006, we began investing a portion of our available cash and cash equivalents in short-term investments, which consist 
of auction rate municipal bonds. These investments have stated maturities of 14 to 42 years and have variable interest rates, which 
typically reset at regular auctions every 7 to 35 days. Despite the long-term nature of their stated contractual maturities, we have the 
ability to liquidate these securities primarily through the auction process. The income generated from these short-term investments is 
tax exempt and recorded as interest income. All investments in these securities were sold prior to September 30, 2006. Proceeds were 
invested in highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.  
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•  Higher investment in receivables of approximately $17.5 million period-over-period. The increase is partially attributable to 
the increase in net sales of 47.0% in the third quarter of 2006 as compared to the same period last year, as well as a higher 
concentration of net sales and receivables from our larger sporting goods customers which generally are extended more 
favorable payment terms compared to our other customers. 

 
•  Building inventory levels during the first nine months of 2006 to support our anticipated sales growth, along with our initial 

inventory build-up to service our new European business. 
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Anticipated capital investments for all of 2006 are approximately $15.0 to $16.0 million representing approximately $6.5 
million in our in-store fixture program, approximately $3.0 million for our information technology initiatives including our newly 
implemented ERP system, approximately $2.5 million in improvements to our distribution facility, approximately $2.4 million in 
additional investments in our retail outlet stores and other general corporate needs.  

Financing Activities  
Cash provided by financing activities increased $3.3 million to $8.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 

compared to cash provided by financing activities of $5.0 million during the same period in 2005. This increase period-over-period 
was primarily due to proceeds and excess tax benefits received from our stock-based compensation arrangements, coupled with the 
impact of not declaring or paying dividends in the 2006 period. The 2005 period includes the receipt of proceeds from the revolving 
credit facility.  

Revolving Credit Facility Agreement  
In November 2005, we repaid the $25.0 million term note plus interest with proceeds from the initial public offering (see Note 6 

of the consolidated financial statements). The term note portion of the financing agreement was then terminated and as such we 
expensed $0.3 million of deferred financing costs during the fourth quarter of 2005. With the termination of the term note, our 
trademarks and other intellectual property were released as a component of the collateral.  

We currently have available borrowings of up to $75.0 million through 2010 under the revolving credit facility based on our 
eligible inventory and accounts receivable balances. We have the option to increase the size of the revolving credit facility up to 
$100.0 million if certain conditions are satisfied. The revolving credit facility bears interest based on the monthly average daily 
balance outstanding at, our option, either LIBOR plus an applicable margin (varying from 1.75% to 3.00%) or JP Morgan Chase 
Bank’s prime rate plus an applicable margin (varying from -0.75% to 0.50%). The applicable margin is calculated quarterly and 
varies based on certain financial ratios as defined in the agreement. The revolving credit facility also carries a line of credit fee for 
available but unused borrowings which can vary from 0.13% to 0.63% based on certain ratios as defined in the agreement.  

This agreement contains a number of restrictions that limit our ability, among other things, to borrow money; pledge our 
accounts receivable, inventory, intellectual property and most of our other assets as security in our borrowings or transactions; pay 
dividends on stock; redeem or acquire any of our securities; sell certain assets; make certain investments; guaranty certain obligations 
of third parties; undergo a merger or consolidation; or engage in any activity materially different from those presently conducted by 
us.  

This agreement also provides the lenders with the ability to reduce the valuation of our inventory and receivables and thereby 
reduce our ability to borrow under the revolving credit facility even if we are in compliance with all conditions of the agreement. In 
addition, we are required to comply with certain financial covenants in the event we fail to maintain a minimum borrowing 
availability of $15.0 million. These covenants may restrict our ability to engage in transactions that would otherwise be in our best 
interests. Failure to comply with any of the covenants under our revolving credit facility could result in a default under the facility. 
This could cause the lenders to accelerate the timing of payments and exercise their lien on essentially all of our assets, which would 
have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, financial condition and liquidity. In addition, because our revolving credit 
facility bears interest at variable interest rates, which we do not anticipate hedging against, increases in interest rates would increase 
our cost of borrowing, resulting in a decline in our net income and cash flow. As of September 30, 2006 there were no amounts 
outstanding under the revolving credit facility, and we were in compliance with these covenants.  
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Subordinated Debt and Lease Obligations  
In March 2005, we entered into a loan and security agreement with SunTrust Bank to finance the acquisition of up to $17.0 

million of qualifying capital investments. This agreement is collateralized by a first lien on these assets, but is otherwise subordinate 
to the revolving credit facility. Through September 30, 2006, we have financed $7.9 million of capital investments under this 
agreement. Interest on outstanding borrowings accrues at an average annual rate of 6.5%. At September 30, 2006, the outstanding 
principal balance was $5.2 million.  

In December 2003, we entered into a master loan and security agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association, which was 
subordinate to the revolving credit facility. Under this agreement, we borrowed $1.3 million for the purchase of qualifying furniture 
and fixtures. The interest rate was 7.0% annually, and principal and interest payments were due monthly through February 2006. The 
outstanding principal balance was repaid during February 2006.  

We lease warehouse space, office facilities, space for our retail outlet stores and certain equipment under non-cancelable 
operating and capital leases.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States. To prepare these consolidated financial statements, we must make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities. These estimates also affect our reported revenues and expenses. Judgments must be made about the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities as well. Actual results could be significantly different from these estimates. We believe that the 
following discussion addresses the critical accounting policies that are necessary to understand and evaluate our reported consolidated 
financial results.  

Revenue Recognition  
Net revenues consist of both net sales and license revenues. Net sales are recognized upon transfer of ownership, including 

passage of title to the customer and transfer of risk of loss related to those goods. Transfer of title and risk of loss is based upon 
shipment under free on board (“FOB”) shipping-point for most goods. In some instances, transfer of title and risk of loss takes place 
at the point of sale (e.g. at our retail outlet stores). Net sales are recorded net of sales discounts and certain customer-based incentives 
along with the reserve for returns. Provisions for sales discounts and customer-based incentives are based on contractual obligations 
with certain major customers. Returns are estimated at the time of sale based primarily on historical experience. License revenues are 
recognized based upon shipment of licensed products sold by our licensees.  

Sales Returns, Allowances and Discounts  
We record reductions to revenue for estimated customer returns, allowances and discounts. We base our estimates on historical 

rates of customer returns and allowances as well as the specific identification of outstanding returns and allowances that have not yet 
been received by us. We record reductions to gross sales for certain customer-based incentives, which include volume-based 
discounts and certain cooperative advertising credits. We base our estimates for customer returns, allowances and discounts primarily 
on anticipated sales volume throughout the year. The actual amount of customer returns, allowances and discounts, which is 
inherently uncertain, may differ from our estimates. If we determined that actual or expected returns, allowances or discounts were 
significantly greater or lower than the reserves we had established, we would record a reduction or increase, as appropriate, to net 
sales in the period in which we made such a determination.  

Reserve for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable  
We make ongoing estimates relating to the collectibility of our accounts receivable and maintain a reserve for estimated losses 

resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. In determining the amount of the reserve, we consider our 
historical level of credit losses and make judgments about the  
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creditworthiness of significant customers based on ongoing credit evaluations. Because we cannot predict future changes in the 
financial stability of our customers, actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may differ from our estimates. If the financial 
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make payments, a larger reserve might be required. In the 
event we determined that a smaller or larger reserve was appropriate, we would record a benefit or charge to selling, general and 
administrative expense in the period in which we made such a determination. The risk associated with uncollectible accounts 
receivable may be partially mitigated by our Credit Approved Receivables Agreement. Under this agreement, we have the ability to 
transfer credit risk for certain customers approved by the lender. Within these customers, we specifically identify individual invoices 
(“Approved Receivables”), up to a customer-specific maximum amount, for credit risk coverage. We incur a fee for the amount of 
Approved Receivables to be covered. Only upon the financial inability of a covered customer to pay such invoices, and subject to us 
maintaining certain collection and reporting procedures, will the credit risk associated with the Approved Receivables be transferred 
to the lender. Historically, we have not transferred such credit risk on any Approved Receivables, and no transactions have ever been 
consummated under the Credit Approved Receivables Agreement. Due to our growing sales concentration with lower risk, larger 
sporting good retailers, and our historical low level of credit losses, at September 30, 2006 we elected not to utilize our credit risk 
coverage.  

Inventory Valuation and Reserves  
We value our inventory at standard costs which approximates the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method of 

cost determination. Market value is estimated based upon assumptions made about future demand and retail market conditions. If we 
determine that the estimated market value of our inventory is less than the carrying value of such inventory, we provide a reserve for 
such difference as a charge to cost of goods sold. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by us, further 
adjustments may be required that would increase our cost of goods sold in the period in which the adjustments were recorded.  

Long-Lived Assets  
The acquisition of long-lived assets, including furniture and fixtures, office equipment, plant equipment, leasehold 

improvements, computer hardware and software and in-store fixtures, is recorded at cost and this cost is depreciated over the asset’s 
estimated useful life. We continually evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated 
useful life of long-lived assets may warrant revision or that the remaining balance may not be recoverable. These factors may include 
a significant deterioration of operating results, changes in business plans or changes in anticipated cash flows. When factors indicate 
that an asset should be evaluated for possible impairment, we review long-lived assets to assess recoverability from future operations 
using undiscounted cash flows. Impairments are recognized in earnings to the extent that the carrying value exceeds fair value.  

Intangible Asset  
An intangible asset that is determined to have a definite life is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life and is evaluated 

and measured for impairment in accordance with our Long-Lived Assets critical accounting policy discussed above.  

Income Tax Provision  
We estimate our effective tax rate for the full year and record a quarterly income tax provision in accordance with the expected 

effective annual tax rate. As the year progresses, we continually refine our estimate based upon actual events and earnings by 
jurisdiction during the year. This process may result in a change to our expected effective tax rate for the year. When this occurs, we 
adjust the income tax provision during the quarter in which the change in estimate occurs so that the year-to-date provision equals the 
expected effective annual tax rate.  
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense  
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, Share-Based Payment 

(revised 2004) (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS 123”) and 
supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”). SFAS 
123R requires that all stock-based compensation be recognized as an expense in the consolidated financial statements and that such 
expense be measured at the fair value of the award. SFAS 123R also requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises 
be reflected as financing cash inflows instead of operating cash inflows within the statement of cash flows.  

We adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method of application, which requires the recognition of compensation 
expense on a prospective basis; therefore, prior period consolidated financial statements have not been restated. Compensation 
expense recognized includes the expense of stock rights granted on and subsequent to January 1, 2006 and the expense for the 
remaining vesting term of stock rights subsequent to our initial filing of the S-1 Registration Statement with the SEC on August 26, 
2005. Stock rights granted prior to our initial filing of the S-1 Registration Statement are specifically excluded from SFAS 123R and 
will continue to be accounted for in accordance with APB 25 and Financial Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 28, Accounting for Stock 
Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans, until fully amortized through 2010.  

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards require the input of 
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the stock-based payment awards and stock price volatility. We use the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value compensation expense. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-
based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but the estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of 
management judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could 
be materially different in the future (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion on stock-based 
compensation).  

New Accounting Pronouncements  
In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying 

Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”), which provides interpretive guidance on the consideration of the 
effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB 108 
requires financial statement errors to be quantified using both balance sheet and income statement approaches and an evaluation on 
whether either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are 
considered, is material. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact 
of adopting SAB 108 on our consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (“SFAS 157”) which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands 
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are 
currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes-an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”), which provides additional guidance and clarifies the accounting for 
uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN 48 defines the threshold for recognizing tax return positions in the financial statements as 
“more likely than not” that the position is sustainable, based on its technical merits. FIN 48 also provides guidance on the 
measurement, classification and disclosure of tax return positions in the financial statements. FIN 48 is effective for the first reporting 
period beginning after December 15, 2005, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment 
to the beginning balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on 
our consolidated financial statements.  
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In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected from 
Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net 
Presentation) (“EITF 06-3”). EITF 06-3 requires the disclosure of our accounting policy regarding its gross or net presentation of 
externally imposed taxes on revenue-producing transactions in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. EITF 06-3 is 
effective for the first annual or interim reporting period beginning after December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting EITF 06-3 on our consolidated financial statement disclosures.  

In October 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. SFAS 13-1, Accounting for Rental Costs Incurred during a Construction 
Period (“FSP SFAS 13-1”). FSP SFAS 13-1 concludes that there is no distinction between the right to use a leased asset during and 
after the construction period; therefore rental costs incurred during the construction period should be recognized as rental expense and 
deducted from income from continuing operations. FSP SFAS 13-1 is effective for the first reporting period beginning after 
December 15, 2005, although early adoption is permitted. The adoption of FSP SFAS 13-1 in 2006 had no material effect on our 
consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2005, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 05-6, Determining the Amortization Period for Leasehold 
Improvements Purchased after Lease Inception or Acquired in a Business Combination (“EITF 05-6”). EITF 05-6 addresses the 
amortization period for leasehold improvements in operating leases that are either (a) placed in service significantly after and not 
contemplated at or near the beginning of the initial lease term or (b) acquired in a business combination. Leasehold improvements that 
are placed in service significantly after and not contemplated at or near the beginning of the lease term should be amortized over the 
shorter of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are deemed to be reasonably 
assured at the date the leasehold improvements are purchased. Leasehold improvements acquired in a business combination should be 
amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are deemed 
to be reasonably assured at the date of acquisition. This Issue was applied to leasehold improvements that were purchased or acquired 
in reporting periods after June 29, 2005. The application of EITF 05-6 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
statements.  

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, (“SFAS 154”) which replaces APB 
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS 154 
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and requires retrospective application (a term defined by the statement) to 
prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine the effect of a change. It also applies to changes required by 
an accounting pronouncement that does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and 
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS 154 in 2006 had no effect on our 
consolidated financial statements.  

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, which revises SFAS 123, and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires all 
stock-based compensation to be recognized as an expense in the financial statements and that such costs be measured according to the 
fair value of the award. SFAS 123R became effective for us on January 1, 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for grants of 
stock rights in accordance with APB 25 and provides pro forma effects of SFAS 123 in accordance with SFAS 148 as discussed in 
Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements. In March 2005, Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, (“SAB 
107”) was issued to provide guidance from the SEC to simplify some of the implementation challenges of SFAS 123R as this 
statement relates to the valuation of the share-based payment arrangements for public companies. We applied the principles of SAB 
107 in connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R. As a result of adopting SFAS 123R we recorded $0.5 million and $1.0 million in 
stock-based compensation in selling, general and administrative expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 
2006, respectively.  

In November 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs (“SFAS 151”) which is an amendment of Accounting 
Research Bulletin No. 43, Inventory Pricing. SFAS 151 requires all companies to recognize a current-period charge for abnormal 
amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs and wasted  
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materials. This statement also requires that the allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the 
normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of 
SFAS 151 in 2006 had no effect on our consolidated financial statements.  

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
Our management has evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report 
pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Based on that evaluation, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of September 30, 2006, our disclosure controls and procedures 
are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is (1) recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported in a timely manner, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

We are in the process of implementing an enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system, developed by SAP, to replace our 
legacy computer system. This system became operational in April 2006 and we are making appropriate changes to internal controls 
and procedures as the implementation progresses. Other than the changes required by the implementation of the SAP ERP system, 
none of which materially impaired or significantly altered the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, there 
were no material changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.  

We are required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by our year ending December 31, 2006. The 
evidence of such compliance is due no later than the time we file our annual report for the year ending December 31, 2006. We 
believe adequate resources and expertise, both internal and external have been put in place to meet this requirement.  
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION  

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  

The Risk Factors included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, as 
updated on the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006, have not materially changed.  

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS  

From July 20, 2006 through October 10, 2006, we issued 185,016 shares of Class A Common Stock upon the exercise of 
previously granted employee stock options to employees at a weighted average exercise price of $3.80 per share, for an aggregate 
amount of consideration of $702,988. The following issuances of Class A Common Stock were made on the date indicated at exercise 
prices totaling the aggregate amount of consideration set forth in the following table:  
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Date   

Number
of Shares

Issued   

Aggregate
Amount of
Exercise

Price

July 26, 2006   3,500  $ 2,527
July 31, 2006   8,775   21,958
August 1, 2006   16,500  15,225
August 2, 2006   13,125  16,157
August 3, 2006   7,250  6,796
August 4, 2006   1,000  2,110
August 7, 2006   4,500  11,925
August 8, 2006   2,450  6,493
August 9, 2006   500   83
August 10, 2006   11,600  13,788
August 11, 2006   1,000  1,138
August 14, 2006   2,000  1,607
August 15, 2006   1,700  1,449
August 18, 2006   10,600  113,350
August 22, 2006   3,000  21,707
August 24, 2006   1,500   16,155
August 25,2006   5,000  29,285
August 28, 2006   7,925  69,721
August 30, 2006   5,891  10,487
August 31, 2006   3,000  24,190
September 1, 2006   4,700  8,190
September 5, 2006   8,000  45,690
September 8, 2006   4,000   666
September 11, 2006   9,500  67,147
September 18, 2006   12,500  90,797
September 25, 2006   12,500  90,797
October 2, 2006   4,500  4,636
October 5, 2006   500  83
October 9, 2006   5,500  6,747
October 10, 2006   12,500   2,084

       

TOTAL   185,016  $702,988
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The issuances of securities described above were made in reliance upon Section 4(2) under the Securities Act in that any 
issuance did not involve a public offering or under Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, in that they were offered and sold 
either pursuant to written compensatory plans or pursuant to a written contract relating to compensation, as provided by Rule 701.  

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION  
On October 19, 2006, the Company entered into an Industrial Lease Agreement with Marley Neck 3R, LLC to lease an 

additional distribution facility. The lease commences on November 1, 2006 and ends on April 30, 2013, with one option to extend the 
lease term for an additional five years. The leased space is 100,000 square feet with obligations to increase to 308,000 square feet by 
May 1, 2009. A copy of this agreement is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to this Form 10-Q.  

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS  
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Exhibit No.  

10.1
 

Industrial Lease Agreement between the Company and Marley Neck 3R, LLC dated October 19, 2006 (portions of 
this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment)

31.1  Section 302 Chief Executive Officer Certification

31.2  Section 302 Chief Financial Officer Certification

32.1  Section 906 Chief Executive Officer Certification

32.2  Section 906 Chief Financial Officer Certification
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
  

Dated: November 7, 2006  
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UNDER ARMOUR, INC.

By: /s/ WAYNE A. MARINO

 Wayne A. Marino 

 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer
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Exhibit 10.1 
  

INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT  

Between  

Landlord: Marley Neck 3R, LLC  

And  

Tenant: Under Armour, Inc.  

Dated: October 19, 2006.  
  

 

CERTAIN PORTIONS HEREOF DENOTED WITH 
“[***]” HAVE BEEN OMITTED PURSUANT TO A 
REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT AND 
HAVE BEEN FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE 
COMMISSION
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LIST OF EXHIBITS  
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A   Legal Description
A-1  Plan of Premises
B   Initial Improvements
C   Substantial Completion/Acceptance Certificate
D   Rules and Regulations
E   Non-Disturbance, Attornment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement
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BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS 

The following sets forth some of the basic provisions of the Lease. In the event of any conflict between the terms of these Basic 
Lease Provisions and the referenced Sections of the Lease, the referenced Sections of the Lease shall control. These Basic Lease 
Provisions are hereby incorporated into and form a party of the Industrial Lease Agreement to which they are attached.  
  

  

  

  

1.  Building (See Section 1):   1040 Swan Creek Drive
   Swan Creek Distribution
    Baltimore, Maryland 21226

2.  Rentable Square Feet of Premises:   308,220
  Rentable Square Feet of Building:   308,220
  (See Section 1)   

3.  Term (See Section 2):   Seventy-eight (78) full calendar months
  Target Commencement Date:   November 1, 2006 subject to Section 2
  Target Expiration Date:  April 30, 2013 subject to Section 2

4.  Base Rent (See Section 5):   

Lease Year   
Annual Rate Per Rentable
Square Foot of Premises  

Monthly 
Installment

1   $***  $***
2   $***  $***
3  $*** $***
4   $***  $***
5   $***  $***
6   $***  $***

5.
  

Rent Payment Address (See Section 
5)   

  

Marley Neck 3R, LLC 
c/o Property Management Associates 
7520 Parkway Drive, Suite 230 
Hanover, Maryland 21076  

6.  Use of Premises:  Warehousing and office purposes ancillary thereto

7.  Tenant’s Share (See Section 7):   100%

8.  Security Deposit (See Section 10):   $***

9.  Parking Spaces (See Section 1):   172
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2  

10.
 

Tenant Improvement Allowance:
  

$*** See Section 1 of Lease regarding work required to be performed by 
Landlord at its cost which will not be charged to this allowance

11. Landlord’s Broker (See Section 45):   Transwestern Commercial Services
 Tenant’s Broker (See Section 45):   AGM Commercial Real Estate Advisors

12. Notice Address (See Section 30)   

 Landlord   Tenant
 Marley Neck 3R, LLC  Under Armour, Inc.
 c/o ASB Capital Management LLC   1020 Hull Street
 7501 Wisconsin Avenue   Baltimore, Maryland 21230
 Suite 200E   Attn: J. Scott Plank
 Bethesda, Maryland 20814   

 Attn: Mandi Wedin   with copies to:
   Under Armour, Inc.
 with a copy to:  1020 Hull Street
 Transwestern Commercial Services   Baltimore, Maryland 21230
 6700 Alexander Bell Drive   Attn: Kevin Haley, General Counsel
 Suite 350   

 Columbia, Maryland 21046   and
 Attn: Mary Frances Costantino   

   WilmerHale
  100 Light Street
   Baltimore, Maryland 21202
   Attn: Mark Pollak, Esq.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed and delivered this instrument under seal as of the date set forth 
on the first page hereof.  
  

  
3  

Landlord:    Tenant:

MARLEY NECK 3R, LLC,     UNDER ARMOUR, INC.,
a Delaware limited liability company     a Maryland corporation

By:  ASB Capital Management, LLC,     By:  /s/ Wayne A. Marino 
 a Maryland limited liability company,     Print Name: Wayne A. Marino

 

its agent
   

Its:
 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer

 By: /s/ Mandi L. Wedin      

  Mandi L. Wedin      

  Vice President      

ATTEST/WITNESS:     ATTEST/WITNESS:

By:  /s/ John Skram    By:  /s/ Velma Dietz 
Print Name: John Skram     Print Name: Velma Dietz
Its:  Managing Director     Its:  Executive Assistant & Notary
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INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT  

THIS INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter called the “Lease”) is made and entered into as of the date appearing 
on the first page hereof by and between the Landlord and Tenant identified above.  

1. Premises. Landlord does hereby rent and lease to Tenant and Tenant does hereby rent and lease from Landlord the Premises 
located in the Building identified in the Basic Lease Provisions, situated on a portion of the real property described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto and allocated to the Building (the portion of such real property allocable to the Building is hereinafter referred to as 
the “Property”, with the balance of such real property allocated to that building located adjacent to the Building at 1041 Swan Creek 
Drive [if the Building is located at 1040 Swan Creek Drive] or at 1040 Swan Creek Drive [if the Building is located at 1041 Swan 
Creek Drive]), such Premises as all further shown by diagonal lines on the drawing attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 and made a part 
hereof by reference. Tenant has inspected the Premises and agrees to accept the same “AS IS,” without representation or warranty on 
the part of Landlord to perform any improvements therein, except with respect to the Premises initially leased under this Lease: 
(i) Landlord shall, at its cost, cause the roof of the Premises, heating system serving the warehouse portion of the Premises, the water 
system serving the Premises, the sewer system serving the Premises, Building standard interior lighting in the warehouse portion of 
the Premises, fire sprinkler system serving the Premises, loading doors for the Premises, loading equipment for the Premises and 
exterior walls of the Premises, all as existing on the date of this Lease to be in good working order and condition as of the date on 
which Landlord delivers possession of the Premises to Tenant; (ii) Landlord shall, at its cost, cause electric service provided to the 
Premises to be separately metered, it being understood and agreed that Tenant shall be responsible for paying for all electric service 
supplied to the Premises during the Term; and (iii) Landlord shall, at its cost, install twenty-five (25) footcandles metal halide fixtures 
in an open configuration in the warehouse portion of the Premises (i.e. of that portion of the Premises excluding the office space to be 
constructed pursuant to Exhibit B attached to this Lease). Landlord represents to Tenant that, to Landlord’s knowledge (as defined 
below), the Building complies with all currently applicable laws and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 
the Building, including Environmental Laws (as defined in Subsection 11(a)(1) of this Lease). The term “Landlord’s knowledge” as 
used herein shall mean actual knowledge of Ms. Mandi Wedin (“Landlord’s Representative”) and shall not be construed, by 
invocation or otherwise, to refer to the knowledge of any other person or entity or to impose or have imposed upon Landlord’s 
Representative any duty to investigate the matters to which such knowledge, or the absence thereof, pertains. Information actually 
known to Landlord’s Representative excludes information of which Tenant or any of its employees or agents has knowledge or notice 
prior to the date of this Lease. There shall be no personal liability on the part of Landlord’s Representative arising out of any 
representation or warranty made in this Agreement. In the event of a breach of Landlord’s forgoing representation, Tenant’s sole 
remedy for the same shall be to require Landlord to take action to cause the subject matter to comply to the subject applicable laws, at 
Landlord’s sole cost. In such event, Tenant shall reasonably cooperate with Landlord in order to permit Landlord to perform the 
subject work. Landlord and Tenant agree that the number of square feet described in Item 2 of the Basic Lease Provisions has been 
confirmed and conclusively agreed upon by the parties. No easement for light, air or view is granted hereunder or included within or 
appurtenant to the Premises. Subject to the terms of this Lease, Tenant shall have access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours per 
day, seven (7) days per week, fifty-two (52) weeks per year. 
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Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right, in common with the other parties occupying the Building, to use the grounds, 
sidewalks, parking areas, driveways and alleys of the Property designated by Landlord for the common use of tenants of the Building, 
subject to such reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord may from time to time prescribe. Tenant may park only up to the 
maximum number of automobiles and trucks shown in Item 9 of the Basic Lease Provisions near the Premises during normal business 
hours on a non-exclusive basis. Outside storage, including without limitation, trucks and other vehicles, is prohibited without 
Landlord’s prior consent, which may be withheld in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion. Tenant shall not succeed to any of 
Landlord’s easement rights over and relating to the Building or the Property, nor shall Tenant obtain any rights to common areas, as 
designated by Landlord, other than those rights specifically granted to Tenant in this Lease. Landlord shall have the sole right of 
control over the use, maintenance, configuration, repair and improvement of the common areas. Landlord may make such changes to 
the use or configuration of, or improvements comprising, the Building and the Property as Landlord may elect without liability to 
Tenant, subject only to Tenant’s vehicular parking rights shown in Item 9 of the Basic Lease Provisions and no material interference 
with Tenant’s business operations in the Building, except to the extent such material interference may not be avoided with respect to 
the performance of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease or in connection with work performed by Landlord to comply with 
applicable laws, in which event Landlord shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to minimize interference with Tenant’s 
business operations in the Premises during the course of Landlord’s performance of the subject work.  

2. Lease Term.  
2.1 General. Tenant shall have and hold the Premises for the term (“Term”) identified in the Basic Lease Provisions 

commencing on the date (the “Commencement Date”) which is the earlier of (i) the date on which Landlord notifies Tenant that the 
Premises are substantially complete (or would have been substantially complete but for any delays caused by Tenant, its agents and 
employees), or (ii) the date Tenant first occupies all or any portion of the Premises for the conduct of its business, and shall terminate 
at midnight on the last day of the Term (the “Expiration Date”), unless sooner terminated or extended as hereinafter provided. If the 
Commencement Date occurs on a day other than the first day of a calendar month, then the Term shall be for the period identified in 
the Base Lease Provisions plus the number of days beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on the last day of the calendar 
month in which the Commencement Date occurs. Promptly following the Commencement Date, Landlord and Tenant shall enter into 
a letter agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, specifying and/or confirming the Commencement Date and the Expiration 
Date.  

2.2 Option to Extend.  
2.2.1 Option Right. Tenant shall have one (1) option to extend the Term (the “Option to Extend”) for a period of 

five (5) years (the “Option Term”), which option shall, if at all, be exercisable by Tenant’s delivery of notice to Landlord in 
accordance with Section 2.2.1.2 below, provided that Tenant is not in default under this Lease as of the date of  
  

2  
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delivery of such notice or on the date for the proposed commencement of the Option Term. The Option to Extend shall be personal to 
the original named Tenant under this Lease, shall be nontransferable and shall be exercisable by Tenant only if Tenant is in 
possession of the entire Premises. Upon the proper exercise of the Option to Extend, the then current Term shall be extended for the 
Option Term and all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease shall continue in full force and effect during the Option 
Term, except that (i) the annual rate of rent payable by Tenant for the Premises during the Option Term shall be as set forth below in 
this Section 2.2, and (ii) Tenant shall have no further right to extend the Term. If Tenant fails to timely and properly exercise the 
Option to Extend in accordance with this Section 2.2, the Option to Extend shall be of no further force or effect.  

2.2.1.1 Option Rent. ***  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2.2.1.2 Exercise of Option. The right set forth in this Section 2.2 shall be exercised by Tenant, if at all, by 
delivering notice to Landlord not more than twelve (12) months nor less than nine (9) months prior to the last day of the then current 
Term. ***  
  

3  
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3. Landlord’s Failure to Give Possession. Landlord shall not be liable for damages to Tenant for failure to deliver possession 
of the Premises to Tenant if such failure is due to any previous tenant’s failure to vacate the Premises or any other matter beyond 
Landlord’s control, except that the commencement of the Term shall be delayed until Landlord delivers possession of the Premises to 
Tenant (so long as Tenant is not responsible for such failure or delay).  

4. Quiet Enjoyment. Tenant, upon payment in full of the required Rent and full performance of the terms, conditions, covenants 
and agreements contained in this Lease, shall peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Premises during the Term hereof, 
subject to this Lease and any ground lease, mortgage or trust deed now or hereafter encumbering the Building or the Property. 
Landlord shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Tenant, any other tenant, or any third party that may interfere with 
Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Premises.  

5. Base Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, at the address stated in the Basic Lease Provisions or at such other place as 
Landlord shall designate in writing to Tenant, annual base rent (“Base Rent”) in the amounts set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions. 
The term “Lease Year”, as used in the Basic Lease Provisions and throughout this Lease, shall mean each and every consecutive 
twelve (12) month period during the Term of this Lease, with the first such twelve (12) month period commencing on the *** month 
anniversary of the Commencement Date; provided, however, if the *** month anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs other 
than on the first (1st) day of a calendar month, the first Lease Year shall be that partial month plus the first full twelve (12) months 
thereafter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s obligation for the payment of Base Rent shall be abated for the *** (***) month 
period beginning on the Commencement Date. The term “Rent Commencement Date” as used herein shall mean the first day 
following the last day of the *** (***) month period beginning on the Commencement Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
amount of Base Rent payable by Tenant for the Premises for the *** (***) through *** (***) months of the Term shall be equal to 
*** Dollars ($***) per month (calculated at the rate of $*** per square foot for 100,000 square feet), and the amount of Base Rent 
payable by Tenant for the Premises for the *** (***) through the *** (***) months of the initial Term shall be equal to *** Dollars 
($***) per month (calculated at the rate of $*** per square foot for 200,000 square feet).  
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6. Rent Payment. The Base Rent for each Lease Year shall be payable in equal monthly installments, due on or before the first 
(1st) day of each calendar month, in advance, in legal tender of the United States of America, without abatement, demand, deduction 
or offset of any kind whatsoever, except as may be expressly provided in this Lease. One full monthly installment of Base Rent (in 
the amount of $*** - hereafter referred to as the “Initial Base Rent Installment”) shall be due and payable on the date of execution of 
this Lease by Tenant and shall be applied to the Base Rent payable by Tenant beginning on the Rent Commencement Date until 
exhausted. On the first day of the calendar month in which the application of the Initial Base Rent Installment is exhausted, Tenant 
shall pay to Landlord the balance of Base Rent for such calendar month in the amount of the monthly installment of Base Rent 
payable for the subject calendar month reduced by the portion of the Initial Base Rent Installment which is applied to the Base Rent 
payable for the subject calendar month. Tenant shall pay, as Additional Rent, all other sums due from Tenant under this Lease (the 
term “Rent”, as used herein, means all Base Rent, Additional Rent and all other amounts payable hereunder from Tenant to 
Landlord).  

7. Operating Expenses/Taxes.  
(a) Tenant agrees to reimburse Landlord throughout the Term, as “Additional Rent” hereunder, for Tenant’s Share (as 

defined below) of: (i) the annual Operating Expenses (as defined below) for each calendar year, or portion thereof, during the Term; 
and (ii) the annual Taxes (as defined below) for each calendar year, or portion thereof, during the Term. The term “Tenant’s Share” as 
used in this Lease shall mean the percentage determined by dividing the square footage of the Premises by the square footage of the 
Building. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that Tenant’s Share with respect to the Premises initially demised by this Lease is the 
percentage amount set forth in Item 7 of the Basic Lease Provisions. Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and Taxes for any 
calendar year shall be appropriately prorated for any partial year occurring during the Term.  

Tenant’s obligation for the payment of Tenant’s Share of Expenses and Taxes shall be abated with respect to that period 
beginning on the Commencement Date and ending on the day immediately preceding the Rent Commencement Date.  

(b) “Operating Expenses” shall mean all costs and amounts incurred by Landlord with respect to the ownership, 
maintenance and operation of the Building and the Property including, but not limited to: maintenance, repair and replacement of the 
plumbing, electrical, mechanical, utility and safety systems, paving and parking areas, roads and driveways; maintenance of exterior 
areas such as gardening and landscaping, snow removal and signage; maintenance and repair of roof membrane, flashings, gutters, 
downspouts, roof drains, skylights and waterproofing; painting; lighting; cleaning; refuse removal; security; utility services 
attributable to the common areas; personnel costs directly related to the maintenance or operation of the Building; personal property 
taxes; rentals or lease payments paid by Landlord for rented or leased personal property used in the operation or maintenance of the 
Building and the Property; fees for required licenses and permits; and a property management fee. Operating Expenses do not include: 
(a) the cost of capital repairs, replacements or improvements, other than annual depreciation (based on the useful life of the item 
under generally accepted accounting principles) on any such capital repair, replacement or improvement, provided that the work to be 
performed under Section 1 hereof or with the Tenant Improvement Allowance will neither be an Operating  
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Expense nor be the subject of depreciation that might otherwise be treated as an Operating Expense; (b) debt service under mortgages 
or ground rent under ground leases; (c) costs of restoration to the extent of net insurance proceeds received by Landlord; (d) leasing 
commissions and tenant improvement costs; (e) except to the extent described in clause (a) above, depreciation of the Building or any 
improvements therein; and (f) Taxes as defined below. If during all or a portion of any calendar year all space in the Building is not 
leased to Tenant, and (i) Landlord is not providing any particular work or service (the cost of which, if performed by Landlord, would 
be included in Operating Expenses) to a tenant, or (ii) any tenant is separately paying for work or service (the cost of which would 
otherwise be included in Operating Expenses), then Operating Expenses for such calendar year shall be deemed to be increased by an 
amount equal to the additional Operating Expenses which would have been incurred, as reasonably determined by Landlord, for the 
subject calendar year if Landlord had provided such work or service to such tenant during the entirety of such calendar year and such 
tenant was not obligated to separately pay for the same. If all space in the Building is not leased to Tenant during all or a portion of 
any calendar year, then Operating Expenses for such calendar year shall be deemed to be increased by an amount equal to the 
additional Operating Expenses which would have been incurred, as reasonably determined by Landlord, for the subject calendar year 
if the Building had been fully occupied during the entire subject calendar year, and the amount so determined shall be deemed to have 
been the amount of Operating Expenses for such calendar year. If the Building is operated as part of a complex of buildings or in 
conjunction with other buildings, then Landlord shall allocate common costs and other amounts among such buildings.  

(c) “Taxes” shall mean all taxes and assessments of every kind and nature which Landlord shall become obligated to pay 
with respect to each calendar year of the Term or portion thereof because of or in any way connected with the ownership, leasing, and 
operation of the Building and the Property, subject to the following: (i) the amount of ad valorem real and personal property taxes 
against Landlord’s real and personal property to be included in Taxes shall be the amount required to be paid for any calendar year, 
notwithstanding that such Taxes are assessed for a different calendar year (the amount of any tax refunds received by Landlord during 
the Term of this Lease shall be deducted from Taxes for the calendar year to which such refunds are attributable); (ii) the amount of 
special taxes and special assessments to be included shall be limited to the amount of the installments (plus any interest, other than 
penalty interest, payable thereon) of such special tax or special assessment payable for the calendar year in respect of which Taxes are 
being determined; (iii) the amount of any tax or excise levied by the State or the City where the Building is located, any political 
subdivision of either, or any other taxing body, on rents or other income from the Building and the Property (or the value of the leases 
thereon); (iv) there shall be excluded from Taxes all taxes assessed on the net income realized by Landlord from the Building except 
those which may be included pursuant to the preceding subsection (iii) above, excess profits taxes, franchise, capital stock, and 
inheritance or estate taxes; and (v) Taxes shall also include Landlord’s reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) in contesting or attempting to reduce any Taxes assessed for a different calendar year (so long as such year or portion of such 
year was within the Term). If the Building is operated as part of a complex of buildings or in conjunction with other buildings, or if 
the Property is assessed for taxes together with other real property, then Landlord shall allocate common costs, taxes and other 
amounts among such buildings and land.  
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(d) Landlord shall, on or before the Commencement Date and as soon as reasonably possible after the commencement of 
each calendar year thereafter, provide Tenant with a statement of the estimated monthly installments of Tenant’s Share of Operating 
Expenses and Taxes which will be due for the remainder of the calendar year in which the Commencement Date occurs or for the 
next ensuing calendar year, as the case may be. Landlord shall deliver to Tenant after the close of each calendar year (including the 
calendar year in which this Lease terminates), a statement (“Landlord’s Statement”) containing the following: (1) the amount of 
Operating Expenses for such calendar year; and (2) the amount of Taxes for such calendar year. Upon reasonable prior request given 
not later than thirty (30) days following the date Landlord’s Statement is delivered to Tenant, Landlord will provide Tenant detailed 
documentation to support such Landlord’s Statement or provide Tenant with the opportunity to review such supporting information. 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand all costs incurred by Landlord in connection with any review of Landlord’s books and 
records made or requested by Tenant. If Tenant does not notify Landlord of any objection to Landlord’s Statement within ninety 
(90) days after the later of delivery of Landlord’s Statement or such requested supporting documentation, Tenant shall be deemed to 
have accepted Landlord’s Statement as true and correct and shall be deemed to have waived any right to dispute the Operating 
Expenses and/or Taxes due pursuant to that Landlord’s Statement. If Tenant does so timely and properly object to the subject 
Landlord’s statement, then a certification as to the proper amount of the subject Additional Rent shall be made, at Tenant’s expense, 
by Landlord’s independent certified public accountant, which certification shall be final and conclusive. Tenant acknowledges that 
Landlord maintains its records for the Building and the Property at Landlord’s main office, and Tenant agrees that any review of 
records under this Section shall be at the sole expense of Tenant and shall be conducted by an accountant or other person experienced 
in accounting for income and expenses of industrial projects engaged solely by Tenant on terms which do not entail any compensation 
based or measured in any way upon any savings in Additional Rent or reduction in Operating Expenses achieved through the 
inspection process. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that any records reviewed under this Section constitute confidential information 
of Landlord, which shall not be disclosed to anyone other than the person performing the review, the principals of Tenant who receive 
the results of the review, and Tenant’s accounting employees. The disclosure of such information to any other person, whether or not 
caused by the conduct of Tenant, shall constitute an event of default by Tenant under this Lease.  

(i) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, together with its monthly payment of Base Rent as provided in Section 5 above, as 
Additional Rent hereunder, the estimated monthly installment of Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and Taxes for the calendar 
year in question. Landlord may from time to time deliver to Tenant a yearly estimate statement (the “Estimated Operating Expense 
and Taxes Statement”) which shall set forth Landlord’s reasonable estimate of the Operating Expense and Taxes for the then-current 
calendar year. Following Tenant’s receipt of an Estimated Operating Expense and Taxes Statement, Tenant shall pay, with its next 
installment of Base Rent due, a fraction of the amount of Operating Expenses and Taxes estimated by Landlord and reflected therein, 
less the aggregate amount paid by Tenant for the same for the subject calendar year. Such fraction shall have as its numerator the 
number of months which have elapsed in the then-current calendar year to the month of such payment, both months inclusive, and 
shall have twelve (12) as its denominator. Until a new Estimated Operating Expense and Taxes Statement is furnished, Tenant shall 
pay monthly, with monthly installments of Base Rent, an amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the total Operating Expense  
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and Taxes set forth in the last Estimated Operating Expense and Taxes Statement delivered by Landlord to Tenant. At the end of any 
calendar year, if Tenant has paid to Landlord an amount in excess of Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and Taxes for such 
calendar year, Landlord shall reimburse to Tenant any such excess amount (or shall apply any such excess amount to any amount then 
owing to Landlord hereunder, and if none, to the next due installment or installments of Additional Rent due hereunder, at the option 
of Landlord). At the end of any calendar year if Tenant has paid to Landlord less than Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and 
Taxes for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord any such deficiency within thirty (30) days after Tenant receives the 
annual statement.  

(ii) For the calendar year in which this Lease terminates and is not extended or renewed, the provisions of this 
Section shall apply, but Tenant’s Share for such calendar year shall be subject to a pro rata adjustment based upon the number of days 
prior to the expiration of the Term of this Lease. Tenant shall make monthly estimated payments of the pro rata portion of Tenant’s 
Share for such calendar year (in the manner provided above) and when the actual prorated Tenant’s Share for such calendar year is 
determined, Landlord shall send Landlord’s Statement to Tenant for such year and if such Statement reveals that Tenant’s estimated 
payments for the prorated Tenant’s Share for such calendar year exceeded the actual prorated Tenant’s Share for such calendar year, 
Landlord shall include a refund for that amount along with the Statement (subject to offset in the event Tenant is in default 
hereunder). If Landlord’s Statement reveals that Tenant’s estimated payments for the prorated Tenant’s Share for such calendar year 
were less than the actual prorated Tenant’s Share for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay the shortfall to Landlord within thirty 
(30) days after the date of receipt of Landlord’s Statement. If the Building is operated as part of a complex of buildings or in 
conjunction with other buildings, then Landlord shall allocate common costs, taxes and other amounts among such buildings.  

(e) Tenant shall reimburse Landlord upon demand for any and all taxes and other charges imposed by Governmental 
Authorities required to be paid by Landlord when, said taxes or other charges are: (i) measured by or reasonably attributable to the 
cost or value of equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal property located in the Premises, or by the cost or value of any 
leasehold improvements made in or to the Premises by or for Tenant, regardless of whether title to such improvements shall be vested 
in Tenant or Landlord; (ii) assessed upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operation, management, maintenance, alteration, 
repair, use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any other portion of the Building and/or the Property; or (iii) assessed upon this 
transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.  

8. Late Charge and Interest. Other remedies for non-payment of Rent notwithstanding, if any monthly installment of Base 
Rent or Additional Rent is not received by Landlord on or before the date due, or if any payment due Landlord by Tenant which does 
not have a scheduled due date is not received by Landlord on or before the tenth (10th) day following the date Tenant was invoiced, a 
late charge of ten percent (10%) of such past due amount shall be immediately due and payable as Additional Rent hereunder, and 
interest shall accrue on all delinquent amounts from the date past due until paid at the lower of a rate (the “Interest Rate”) of one and 
one-half (1.5%) percent per month or fraction thereof from the date such payment is due until paid (annual percentage rate = 18%), or 
the highest rate permitted by applicable law.  
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9. Partial Payment. No payment by Tenant or acceptance by Landlord of an amount less than the Rent herein stipulated shall 
be deemed a waiver of any other Rent due. No partial payment or endorsement on any check or any letter accompanying such 
payment of Rent shall be deemed an accord and satisfaction, but Landlord may accept such payment without prejudice to Landlord’s 
right to collect the balance of any Rent due under the terms of this Lease or any late charge assessed against Tenant hereunder.  

10. Security Deposit. Concurrently with its execution and delivery of this Lease, Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount 
identified as the Security Deposit in the Basic Lease Provisions (hereinafter referred to as “Security Deposit”) as evidence of good 
faith on the part of Tenant in the fulfillment of the terms of this Lease, which shall be held by the Landlord during the Term of this 
Lease, or any renewal thereof. Under no circumstances will Tenant be entitled to any interest on the Security Deposit. The Security 
Deposit may be applied by Landlord, at its sole discretion, to any amount owing to the payment of any Rent or any other sum which 
Tenant has failed to timely pay in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, or for the payment of any amount that Landlord may 
incur by reason of Tenant’s default, or to compensate Landlord for any other loss or damage Landlord may suffer by reason of 
Tenant’s default. If any portion of the Security Deposit is so used or applied, Tenant shall, upon demand, deposit cash with Landlord 
in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to the amount of the Security Deposit specified in the Basic Lease Provisions 
as may be reduced pursuant to the following terms of this Section, and Tenant’s failure to do so shall be an event of default under this 
Lease. The use or application of the Security Deposit or any portion thereof by Landlord shall not (i) prevent Landlord from 
exercising any other right or remedy provided by this Lease, it being intended that Landlord shall not first be required to proceed 
against the Security Deposit, or (ii) operate as a limitation on any recovery to which Landlord may otherwise be entitled. If there are 
no payments to be made from the Security Deposit as set out in this Section, or if there is any balance of the Security Deposit 
remaining after all payments have been made, the Security Deposit, or such balance thereof remaining, will be refunded to Tenant 
within thirty (30) days after fulfillment by Tenant of all obligations hereunder (including payment of the balance of any year-end 
reconciliation). In no event shall Tenant be entitled to apply the Security Deposit to any Rent due hereunder. In the event of an act of 
bankruptcy by or insolvency of Tenant, or the appointment of a receiver for Tenant or a general assignment for the benefit of Tenant’s 
creditors, then the Security Deposit shall be deemed immediately assigned to Landlord. The right to retain the Security Deposit shall 
be in addition and not alternative to Landlord’s other remedies under this Lease or as may be provided by law and shall not be 
affected by summary proceedings or other proceedings to recover possession of the Premises. Upon sale or conveyance of the 
Building, Landlord may transfer or assign the Security Deposit to any new owner of the Premises, and upon such transfer all liability 
of Landlord for the Security Deposit shall terminate. Landlord shall be entitled to commingle the Security Deposit with its other 
funds.  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, provided Tenant is not in default under this Lease beyond the expiration of any 
applicable cure period as of the effective date of the reduction of the Security Deposit or as of the date Landlord is required to return 
such portion of the Security Deposit, Tenant shall have the right to reduce the amount of the Security Deposit by *** and *** ($***) 
effective as of the first day of the thirteenth (13th) full calendar month of the Term. If Tenant is entitled to a reduction in the Security 
Deposit, Tenant shall provide Landlord  
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with notice stating that the Security Deposit is required to be reduced as provided above (the “Reduction Notice”). If Tenant provides 
Landlord with a Reduction Notice, Landlord shall refund the applicable portion of the Security Deposit to Tenant within thirty 
(30) days after the later to occur of (A) Landlord’s receipt of the Reduction Notice, or (B) the date upon which Tenant is entitled to a 
reduction in the Security Deposit as provided above.  

11. Use of Premises/Environmental Matters.  
(a) Use. Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises solely for the purpose set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions and for no 

other purpose. The Premises shall not be used for any illegal purpose, nor in violation of any valid law, ordinance or regulation of any 
governmental body, nor in any manner to create any nuisance or trespass, nor in any manner which will void the insurance or increase 
the rate of insurance on the Premises, the Building or the Property, nor in any manner inconsistent with the quality of the Building. At 
its sole expense, Tenant shall promptly comply with all laws codes, ordinances, regulations and requirements of government and 
quasi-government authorities concerning the use, occupancy and condition of the Premises and all machinery, equipment, furnishings, 
fixtures and improvements therein, excluding, however, matters that are the responsibility of Landlord under Section 19 hereof. If any 
of the foregoing requires an occupancy, use or other permit or license for the Premises for the operation of the business conducted 
therein, then Tenant shall timely obtain and keep current each such permit or license at Tenant’s expense, and Tenant shall promptly 
deliver a copy thereof to Landlord. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has made no representations or warranties with respect to the 
suitability of the Premises for Tenant’s proposed use.  

(b) Environmental Matters.  
(1) For purposes of this Lease:  

“Contamination” means the presence of or release, spillage, leakage, migration, disposal, burial, or 
placement of Hazardous Substances (as hereinafter defined) upon, within, below, or into any surface water, ground 
water, land surface, subsurface soil or strata, building, or improvement at any portion of the Premises, the Building 
or the Property.  

“Environmental Laws” means all codes, laws (including, without limitation, common law), ordinances, 
regulations, reporting or licensing requirements, rules, or statutes relating to pollution or protection of human health 
or the environment (including ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface, or subsurface soil or strata), 
including, without limitation (i) the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, 42 
U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (ii) the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq., (“RCRA”); (iii) the Emergency Planning and Community 
Right to Know Act (42 U.S.C. §§11001 et seq.); (iv) the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.) (v) the  
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Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.); (vi) the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.) 
(vii) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. §§5101 et seq.) (viii) the Safe Drinking Water Act (41 
U.S.C. §§300f et seq.); (ix) any state, county, municipal or local statutes, laws or ordinances similar or analogous to 
the federal statutes listed in parts (i) – (viii) of this subsection; (x) any amendments to the statutes, laws or 
ordinances listed in parts (i) – (ix) of this subsection, regardless of whether in existence on the date hereof; (xi) any 
rules, regulations, guidelines, directives, orders or the like adopted pursuant to or implementing the statutes, laws, 
ordinances and amendments listed in parts (i) – (x) of this subsection; and (xii) any other law, statute, ordinance, 
amendment, rule, regulation, guideline, directive, order or the like in effect now or in the future relating to 
environmental, health or safety matters.  

“Hazardous Substances” means any chemical, waste, by-product, pollutant, contaminant, compound, 
product, substance, equipment or fixture defined as or deemed hazardous or toxic or otherwise regulated under any 
Environmental Law, including, without limitation, (i) RCRA hazardous wastes, (ii) CERCLA hazardous substances, 
(iii) gasoline, diesel fuel, fuel oil, motor oil, waste oil, and any other petroleum hydrocarbon, including any additives 
or other by-products or constituents associated therewith, (iv) pesticides and other agricultural chemicals, 
(v) asbestos and asbestos containing materials in any form, (vi) polychlorinated biphenyls, (vii) radioactive materials 
and radon, and (viii) urea formaldehyde foam insulation.  

(2) Tenant covenants that all its activities, and the activities of any entity affiliated with Tenant (“Tenant’s 
Affiliates”), on the Premises and in the Building and on the Property, during the Term will be conducted in compliance with 
Environmental Laws. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant is currently in compliance with all applicable 
Environmental Laws and that there are no pending or threatened notices of deficiency, notices of violation, orders, or judicial or 
administrative actions involving alleged violations by Tenant of any Environmental Laws. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 
shall be responsible for obtaining all permits or licenses or approvals under Environmental Laws necessary for Tenant’s operation of 
its business on the Premises (“Environmental Permits”) and shall make all notifications and registrations required by any applicable 
Environmental Laws. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall at all times comply with the terms and conditions of all such 
Environmental Permits notifications and registrations and with any other applicable Environmental Laws. Tenant represents and 
warrants that it has obtained all such Environmental Permits and made all such notifications and registrations required by any 
applicable Environmental Laws necessary for Tenant’s operation of its business on the Premises.  

(3) Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Substances to be brought upon, kept or used in or about the 
Premises, on the Building, or the Property without the prior consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; 
provided, however, that the consent of Landlord shall not be required for the use at the Premises of cleaning supplies, toner for 
photocopying machines and other similar materials, in containers  
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and quantities reasonably necessary for and consistent with normal and ordinary use by Tenant in the routine operation or 
maintenance of Tenant’s office equipment or in the routine janitorial service, cleaning and maintenance for the Premises. For 
purposes of the foregoing, Landlord shall be deemed to have reasonably withheld consent if Landlord determines that the presence of 
such Hazardous Substance within the Premises could result in a risk of harm to person or property or otherwise negatively affect the 
value or marketability of the Building or the Property.  

(4) Regardless of any consents granted by Landlord pursuant to the foregoing allowing Hazardous Substances 
upon the Premises, Tenant shall under no circumstances whatsoever cause or permit any Contamination by Tenant or Tenant’s 
Affiliates. If such Contamination by Tenant shall occur, Tenant shall promptly at its expense (i) contain and control, investigate, and 
clean up, remove, or remedy such Contamination to the extent required by, and take any and all other actions required under, 
applicable Environmental Laws, (ii) restore the Premises, the Building and the Property to the condition existing prior to the 
Contamination, and (iii) notify and keep Landlord reasonably informed of such containment, control, investigation, cleanup, removal, 
remediation and restoration activities. All such activities shall be conducted by Tenant or Tenant’s Affiliates in accordance with any 
and all Environmental Laws and other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. Landlord shall have the right, but not 
the obligation, after providing Tenant with notice and a reasonable opportunity to cure, to enter onto the Premises or to take such 
other actions as Landlord deems necessary or advisable so to contain, control, investigate, clean up, remove, remediate, restore, 
resolve or minimize the impact of, or otherwise deal with, any such contamination. All costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in the 
exercise of any such rights shall be payable by Tenant upon demand.  

(5) Regardless of any consents granted by Landlord pursuant to Subsection 11(b)(3) above allowing Hazardous 
Substances upon the Premises, Tenant shall under no circumstances whatsoever cause or permit (i) any activity on the Premises which 
would cause the Premises to become subject to regulation as a hazardous waste treatment, storage or disposal facility under RCRA or 
the regulations promulgated thereunder, (ii) any activity on the Premises which would cause the Premises, the Building, or the 
Property to become subject to any lien imposed under or as a result of any Environmental Law, (iii) the discharge of Hazardous 
Substances into the storm sewer system serving the Property, or (iv) the installation of any underground tank, oil/water separator, 
sump pump, or underground piping on, under or about the Premises, the Building or the Property.  

(6) Landlord shall also have the right prior to the expiration of the Term of this Lease to require Tenant to 
cause a qualified environmental consultant to perform, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, an environmental audit of the Premises 
satisfactory to Landlord in its reasonable discretion, but only if Landlord has a reasonable basis for believing that Tenant has violated 
this Section 11. Should Tenant fail to undertake and seek diligently to perform said environmental audit within thirty (30) days of the 
Landlord’s request, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to retain a qualified environmental consultant to perform 
such environmental audit. All costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in the exercise of such rights shall be payable by Tenant upon 
demand.  

(7) Tenant shall and hereby does indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless Landlord from and against any 
and all expense, loss, and liability suffered by  
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Landlord by reason of the storage, generation, release, spillage, leakage, burial, placement, handling, treatment, transportation, 
disposal, or arrangement for transportation or disposal, of any Hazardous Substances (whether accidental, intentional, or negligent) by 
Tenant or Tenant’s Affiliates or by reason of Tenant’s breach of any of the provisions of this Section 11(b). Such expenses, losses and 
liabilities shall include, without limitation, any and all expenses that Landlord may incur (i) to comply with any Environmental Laws, 
(ii) in studying, removing, disposing or otherwise addressing any Hazardous Substances and contamination at, on, under, or from the 
Premises, the Building, or the Property, (iii) with respect to fines, penalties or other sanctions assessed upon Landlord, and (iv) with 
respect to legal and professional fees and costs incurred by Landlord in connection with the foregoing. The indemnity contained 
herein shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.  

12. Waste Disposal.  
(a) Tenant shall be responsible for the removal of all normal trash and waste (i.e., waste that does not require special 

handling pursuant to Section 12(b) below) generated at the Premises. All such trash and waste shall be deposited in dumpsters placed 
by Tenant adjacent to the Premises in locations approved by Landlord.  

(b) Tenant shall be responsible for the removal and disposal of any waste produced or located in the Premises which is 
deemed by any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the matter to be hazardous or infectious waste or waste requiring 
special handling, such removal and disposal to be in accordance with any and all applicable governmental rules, regulations, codes, 
orders or requirements. Tenant agrees to separate and mark appropriately all such waste to be removed and disposed of in dumpsters 
pursuant to Section 12(a) above and hazardous, infectious or special waste to be removed and disposed of by Tenant pursuant to this 
Section 12(b). Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any loss, claims, 
demands, damage or injury Landlord may suffer or sustain as a result of Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this 
Section 12(b).  

13. Entering Premises. Landlord may enter the Premises at reasonable times: (a) to make repairs, perform maintenance and 
provide other services described in Section 19 below which Landlord is obligated to make to the Premises or the Building pursuant to 
the terms of this Lease or to the other premises within the Building pursuant to the leases of other tenants; (b) to inspect the Premises 
in order to confirm that Tenant is complying with all of the terms and conditions of this Lease and with the rules and regulations 
hereof; (c) show the Premises to actual or prospective Holders of Security Documents, purchasers or tenants; (d) to run pipes, 
conduits, ducts, wiring, cabling or any other mechanical, electrical, plumbing or equipment through the Premises and elsewhere in the 
Building; and (e) to exercise any other right or perform any other obligation that Landlord has under this Lease. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Landlord may enter the Premises at any time: (i) in the circumstance of an 
emergency; (ii) to take possession of the Premises following the occurrence of an event of default; and (iii) to perform any term of 
this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant and which Tenant fails to timely observe or perform. Landlord shall be allowed to 
take all material into and upon the Premises that may be required to make any repairs, improvements and additions, or any alterations, 
without in any way being deemed or held guilty of trespass and  
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without constituting a constructive eviction of Tenant. The Rent reserved herein shall not abate while such repairs, alterations or 
additions are being made and Tenant shall not be entitled to maintain a set-off or counterclaim for damages against Landlord by 
reason of loss from interruption to the business of Tenant because of the prosecution of any such work. Unless any work would 
unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises if performed during business hours, all such repairs, decorations, additions 
and improvements shall be done during ordinary business hours, or, if any such work is at the request of Tenant to be done during any 
other hours, the Tenant shall pay all overtime and other extra costs.  

14. Rules and Regulations. The rules and regulations in regard to the Building and the Property, a copy of which is attached 
hereto as Exhibit D, and all reasonable rules and regulations and modifications thereto which Landlord may hereafter from time to 
time adopt after notice thereof to Tenant, for the management of the Building and the Property, are hereby made a part of this Lease. 
Tenant shall comply with, and shall cause its agents, employees and permitted occupants of the Premises to comply with, such rules 
and regulations. Nothing contained in this Lease shall be construed as imposing upon Landlord any duty to enforce such rules or 
regulations against any other tenant or occupant of the Building. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for the violation of such rules 
or regulations by any other tenant or occupant or their respective employees, agents, assignees, subtenants, licensees or invitees.  

15. Utilities. Tenant will promptly pay, directly to the appropriate supplier, the cost of all natural gas, heat, cooling, energy, 
light, power, sewer service, telephone, water, refuse disposal and other utilities and services supplied to the Premises, together with 
any related installation or connection charges or deposits (collectively, “Utility Costs”) incurred during the Term. If any services or 
utilities are jointly metered with other premises, Landlord will make a reasonable determination of Tenant’s proportionate share of 
such Utility Costs and Tenant will pay such share to Landlord. Landlord reserves the right to participate in wholesale energy purchase 
programs and to provide energy to the Premises through such programs so long as the cost to Tenant is competitive.  

16. Signs. Tenant shall not paint or place any signs, placards, or other advertisements of any character upon the outside walls, 
common areas or the roof of the Building (except with the prior consent of Landlord, which consent may be withheld by Landlord in 
its sole discretion). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right, subject to Landlord’s consent, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld, and subject to the following terms of this Section, to install, one (1) sign on the exterior of the Building 
above the main entrance to the Premises. Such sign shall comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. Any sign which 
Tenant is permitted to install outside the Premises shall be installed by Tenant at its cost. Each such sign permitted to be installed by 
Tenant shall be constructed and/or installed by Tenant at sole cost: (1) in accordance with the terms of Section 21 below and such 
other requirements as Landlord may impose; (2) in first class condition and in accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules 
and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction; (3) in accordance with plans for the same approved by Landlord as to 
location, size, design and all other aspects; and (4) only after obtaining all required permits, approvals and consents from 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction. During the term, Tenant shall, at sole expense, maintain and repair each such sign in 
first class condition. Upon the expiration of the Term or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall, at its sole expense, remove 
each such sign and restore the affected portion of  
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the Building and/or Property to the condition that existed prior to the installation of the same. Landlord shall, at its sole cost, place the 
name or corporate logo of the original Tenant named in this Lease on the monument sign serving the Building in addition to the 
names of other tenants of the Building and the adjacent building who may be listed on such monument sign.  

17. Assignment and Subletting.  
(a) Tenant may not, without the prior consent of Landlord, which consent may be withheld by Landlord in its sole 

discretion (except to the extent expressly required otherwise by applicable law), (i) assign this Lease or any interest hereunder, 
(ii) sublet the Premises or any part thereof, (iii) permit the use of the Premises by any party other than Tenant, or (iv) mortgage, 
pledge, hypothecate, encumber or otherwise transfer any interest of Tenant in this Lease. In the event that Tenant is a corporation or 
entity other than an individual, any direct or indirect transfer of a majority or controlling interest in Tenant (whether by stock transfer, 
membership or partnership interest transfer, merger, operation of law or otherwise) shall be considered an assignment for purposes of 
this Section 17 and shall require Landlord’s prior consent. Consent to one assignment or sublease shall not destroy or waive this 
provision, and all later assignments and subleases shall likewise be made only upon the prior consent of Landlord. Subtenants or 
assignees shall become liable to Landlord for all obligations of Tenant hereunder, without relieving Tenant’s liability hereunder and, 
in the event of any default by Tenant under this Lease, Landlord may, at its option, but without any obligation to do so, elect to treat 
such sublease or assignment as a direct lease with Landlord and collect rent directly from the subtenant. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to any proposed assignment of Tenant’s interests under this Lease or 
a sublease of all or any portion of the Premises. Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that it would be reasonable under this Lease or 
under any applicable law for Landlord to withhold consent to any proposed assignment of Tenant’s interests under this Lease or a 
sublease of all or any portion of the Premises when one or more of the following apply, without limitation as to other reasonable 
grounds for withholding consent: (i) the proposed assignee or subtenant is either a governmental agency or instrumentality thereof; or 
(ii) the proposed assignee or subtenant is not a party of reasonable financial worth and/or financial stability in light of the 
responsibilities involved under the Lease or the subject sublease on the date consent is requested.  

(b) Upon any request by Tenant for Landlord’s consent to an assignment or sublease, Landlord may elect to terminate this 
Lease and recapture all of the Premises (in the event of an assignment request) or the applicable portion of the Premises (in the event 
of a subleasing request); provided, however, if Landlord notifies Tenant that Landlord elects to exercise this recapture right, Tenant 
may, within five (5) business days of its receipt of Landlord’s recapture notice, notify Landlord that Tenant withdraws its request to 
sublease or assign, in which case Tenant shall continue to lease all of the Premises, subject to the terms of this Lease and Landlord’s 
recapture notice shall be null and void.  

(c) If Tenant desires to assign or sublease, Tenant shall provide notice to Landlord describing the proposed transaction in 
detail and providing all documentation (including detailed financial information for the proposed assignee or subtenant) reasonably  
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necessary to permit Landlord to evaluate the proposed transaction. Landlord shall notify Tenant within twenty (20) days of 
Landlord’s receipt of such notice and documentation whether Landlord elects to exercise Landlord’s recapture right and, if not, 
whether Landlord consents to the requested assignment or sublease. If Landlord fails to respond within such twenty (20) day period, 
Landlord will be deemed not to have elected to recapture and not to have consented to the assignment or sublease. If Landlord does 
consent to any assignment or sublease request and the assignee or subtenant pays to Tenant an amount in excess of the Rent due under 
this Lease (after deducting Tenant’s reasonable, actual expenses in obtaining such assignment or sublease, amortized in equal 
monthly installments over the then remainder of the Term), Tenant shall pay 100% of such excess to Landlord as and when the 
subject payments are received by Tenant.  

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, in no event shall Tenant (i) enter into any assignment, 
sublease or other arrangement such that the amounts to be paid by the other party thereunder would be based, in whole or in part, on 
the income or profits derived by the business activities of such party; (ii) engage in an assignment, sublease or other arrangement with 
any person in which Landlord owns an interest, directly or indirectly, by applying constructive ownership rules set forth in 
Section 856(d)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and as may be further amended (the “Code”); or (iii) engage in 
an assignment, sublease or other arrangement in any other manner which could cause any portion of the amounts received by 
Landlord pursuant to this Lease or any assignment, sublease or other arrangement to fail to qualify as “rents from real property” 
within the meaning of Section 856(d)(5) of the Code or which could cause any other income received by Landlord to fail to qualify as 
income described in Section 856(c)(2) of the Code.  

(e) Any assignment, sublease or other arrangement made without Landlord’s prior consent shall, at Landlord’s option, be 
void and of no effect, and shall constitute an event of default by Tenant under this Lease. Whether or not Landlord shall grant consent 
to a assignment, sublease or other arrangement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand, Landlord’s review and processing fees 
and all costs incurred by Landlord in connection with the same. In the event Landlord disapproves of an assignment, sublease or other 
arrangement or Landlord exercises its right recapture the subject space, Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend (with counsel 
approved by Landlord) and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all claims, judgments, awards, amounts paid in 
settlements, penalties, fines, damages, liabilities, losses, suits, proceedings and costs (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) of 
any kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, suffered or incurred, whether before, during or after the Term, 
arising from or related to any claims made against Landlord by the proposed transferee or by any brokers or other persons claiming a 
commission or similar compensation in connection with the proposed assignment, sublease or other arrangement. Any subletting or 
assignment hereunder shall not release or discharge Tenant of or from any liability, whether past, present or future, under this Lease, 
and Tenant shall remain fully liable thereunder. Any subtenant or subtenants or assignee shall agree in a form reasonably satisfactory 
to Landlord to comply with and be bound by all of the terms, covenants, conditions, provisions and agreements of this Lease to the 
extent of the space sublet or assigned, and Tenant shall deliver to Landlord promptly after execution, an executed copy of each such 
sublease or assignment and an agreement of compliance by each such subtenant or assignee. Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord any 
rent due from each subtenant as security for the performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease. Tenant authorizes each 
subtenant to pay such rent directly to Landlord if it receives notice from Landlord specifying that such rent shall be paid directly to 
Landlord.  
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18. Mortgagee’s Rights.  
(a) Tenant agrees that this Lease shall be subject and subordinate to (i) any mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest 

now encumbering the Building and/or the Property and to all advances which may be hereafter made, to the full extent of all debts 
and charges secured thereby and to all renewals or extensions of any part thereof, and to any mortgage, deed of trust or other security 
interest which any owner of the Building and/or the Property may hereafter, at any time, elect to place on the Building and/or the 
Property; (ii) any assignment of Landlord’s interest in the leases and rents from the Building and/or Property which includes the 
Lease which now exists or which any owner of the Building and/or Property may hereafter, at any time, elect to place on the Building 
and/or Property; and (iii) any Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statement covering the personal property rights of Landlord or 
any owner of the Building and/or Property which now exists or any owner of the Building and/or Property may hereafter, at any time, 
elect to place on the foregoing personal property (all of the foregoing instruments set forth in (i), (ii) and (iii) above being hereafter 
collectively referred to as “Security Documents”). Tenant agrees upon request of the holder of any Security Documents (“Holder”) to 
hereafter execute any documents which the counsel for Landlord or Holder may reasonably deem necessary to evidence the 
subordination of the Lease to the Security Documents. Within ten (10) days after request therefor, if Tenant fails to execute any such 
requested documents, Landlord or Holder is hereby empowered to execute such documents in the name of Tenant evidencing such 
subordination, as the act and deed of Tenant, and this authority is hereby declared to be coupled with an interest and not revocable. If 
any actual or prospective Holder requires that modifications to this Lease be obtained, and provided such modifications (a) are 
reasonable, (b) do not adversely affect Tenant’s use of the Premises as herein permitted, (c) do not increase the Rent to be paid Tenant 
hereunder or Tenant’s obligations hereunder, then Landlord may submit to Tenant an amendment to this Lease incorporating such 
required modifications, and Tenant shall execute, acknowledge and deliver the same to Landlord within ten (10) days after Tenant’s 
receipt thereof. Concurrently with its execution and delivery of this Lease, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord the Non-
Disturbance, Attornment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement attached to this Lease as Exhibit E and made a part hereof.  

(b) In the event of a foreclosure pursuant to any Security Document, Tenant shall, at the election of the Landlord, thereafter 
remain bound pursuant to the terms of this Lease as if a new and identical Lease between the purchaser at such foreclosure 
(“Purchaser”), as landlord, and Tenant, as tenant, had been entered into for the remainder of the Term hereof and Tenant shall attorn 
to the Purchaser upon such foreclosure sale and shall recognize such Purchaser as the Landlord under the Lease. Such attornment 
shall be effective and self-operative without the execution of any further instrument on the part of any of the parties hereto. Tenant 
agrees, however, to execute and deliver at any time and from time to time, upon the request of Landlord or of Holder, any instrument 
or certificate that may be necessary or appropriate in any such foreclosure proceeding or otherwise to evidence such attornment.  

(c) If the Holder of any Security Document or the Purchaser upon the foreclosure of any of the Security Documents shall 
succeed to the interest of Landlord under the  
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Lease, such Holder or Purchaser shall have the same remedies, by entry, action or otherwise for the non-performance of any 
agreement contained in the Lease, for the recovery of Rent or for any other default or event of default hereunder that Landlord had or 
would have had if any such Holder or Purchaser had not succeeded to the interest of Landlord. Any such Holder or Purchaser which 
succeeds to the interest of Landlord hereunder, shall not be (a) liable for any act or omission of any prior Landlord (including 
Landlord) unless such act or omission is of a continuing nature; or (b) subject to any offsets or defenses which Tenant might have 
against any prior Landlord (including Landlord); or (c) bound by any Rent which Tenant might have paid for more than the current 
month to any prior Landlord (including Landlord); or (d) bound by any amendment or modification of the Lease made without its 
consent.  

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 18, the Holder of any Security Documents shall have 
the right, at any time, to elect to make this Lease superior and prior to its Security Document. No documentation, other than notice to 
Tenant, shall be required to evidence that the Lease has been made superior and prior to such Security Documents, but Tenant hereby 
agrees to execute any documents reasonably requested by Landlord or Holder to acknowledge that the Lease has been made superior 
and prior to the Security Documents.  

19. Repairs By Landlord. Tenant, by taking possession of the Premises, shall accept and shall be held to have accepted the 
Premises as suitable for the use intended by this Lease. In no event shall Tenant be entitled to compensation or any other damages or 
any other remedy against Landlord in the event the Premises are not deemed suitable for Tenant’s use. Landlord shall not be required 
to make any repairs or improvements to the Premises, except as set forth in this Lease. Except for damage caused by casualty and 
condemnation (which shall be governed by Section 23 and 24 below), and subject to normal wear and tear, Landlord shall maintain in 
good repair the exterior walls, roof, common areas, foundation, structural portions and the Building’s mechanical, electrical and 
plumbing systems, provided such repairs are not necessitated or occasioned by Tenant, Tenant’s invitees or anyone in the employ or 
control of Tenant.  

20. Repairs By Tenant. Except as described in Section 19 above, Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, maintain the 
Premises in good repair and in a neat and clean, first-class condition, including making all necessary repairs and replacements. Tenant 
shall also be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for maintenance and repair of all improvements, fixtures, systems and 
equipment installed outside the Premises for the exclusive use or benefit of Tenant or the Premises (including, without limitation, any 
supplemental HVAC, electrical, life-safety, fire protection or other systems or equipment installed by or on behalf of Tenant), and 
Landlord shall have no obligation to maintain or repair any of the same under any circumstances. Landlord may, but Tenant shall 
further, at its own cost and expense, repair or restore any damage or injury to all or any part of the Premises or Building or Property 
caused by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, employees, invitees, licensees, visitors or contractors, including but not limited to any repairs or 
replacements necessitated by (i) the construction or installation of improvements to the Premises by or on behalf of Tenant, and 
(ii) the moving of any property into or out of the Premises. If Tenant fails to make such repairs or replacements promptly, Landlord 
may, at its option, upon prior reasonable notice to Tenant (except in an emergency) make the required repairs and replacements and 
the costs of such repair or replacements shall be charged to Tenant  
  

18 



 ˆ1VGDR4TLNT=YPCQ&Š
1VGDR4TLNT=YPCQ

97583 EX10_1 19UNDER ARMOUR, INC.
FORM 10-Q

07-Nov-2006 16:00 EST
HTMWDC

RR Donnelley ProFile LAN sherp0wd 2*
ESS 0C

WDCFBUDSK135507
9.5.15

Page 1 of 1

as Additional Rent and shall become due and payable by Tenant with the monthly installment of Base Rent next due hereunder. 
Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, enter into a regularly scheduled preventive maintenance/service contract with a 
maintenance contractor for servicing all hot water, heating and air conditioning systems and equipment serving the Premises. The 
maintenance contractor and the contract must be approved in writing by Landlord in advance. The service contract shall include all 
services recommended by the equipment manufacturer within the operation/maintenance manual and shall become effective (and a 
copy thereof delivered to Landlord) within thirty (30) days following the date Tenant takes possession of the Premises.  

21. Alterations and Improvements. Except for minor, decorative alterations, mobile partitions, racking and shelving which do 
not affect the Building structure or systems, are not visible from outside the Premises and do not cost in excess of $50,000.00 in the 
aggregate, Tenant shall not make or allow to be made any alterations, physical additions (including cables) or improvements in or to 
the Premises without first obtaining in writing Landlord’s consent for such alterations or additions, which consent may be granted or 
withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion if the alterations will affect the Building structure or systems or will be visible from outside the 
Premises, but which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld if the alterations will not affect the Building structure or systems and 
will not be visible from outside the Premises. Upon Landlord’s request, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord plans and specifications for 
any proposed alterations, additions or improvements and shall reimburse Landlord for Landlord’s reasonable cost to review such 
plans upon demand. Any alterations, physical additions or improvements shall at once become the property of Landlord; provided, 
however, that Landlord, at its option, may require Tenant to remove any alterations, additions or improvements in order to restore the 
Premises to the condition existing prior to the installation of the same. In all circumstances Tenant shall remove, by the date Landlord 
is entitled to possession of the Premises, all cable installed in the Premises by or on behalf of Tenant. All costs of any such alterations, 
additions or improvements shall be borne by Tenant. All alterations, additions or improvements shall be made (i) in a good, 
workmanlike, first-class and prompt manner; (ii) using only new materials approved by Landlord; (iii) by an experienced, reputable 
contractors and subcontractors approved by Landlord; (iv) in accordance with plans and specifications prepared by an architect and 
engineer acceptable to Landlord, which plans and specifications are approved by Landlord; (v) in accordance with all applicable laws; 
(vi) in a manner that does not disturb the business operations of any other occupant of the Building; (vii) after Tenant has obtained 
public liability, worker’s compensation, Builder’s All-Risk, Completed Operations Coverage, and such other insurance policies 
required by Landlord, all in forms, amounts and issued by companies approved by Landlord, which policies shall cover every person 
who will perform work with respect to the alterations, additions or improvements; and (viii) after Tenant has obtained and delivered 
to Landlord unconditional waivers, in form satisfactory to Landlord, of mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens against the Premises, the 
Building and the Property from all proposed contractors, subcontractors, laborers and material suppliers for the alterations, additions 
or improvements. If Tenant fails to comply with the terms of this Section in connection with alterations, additions or improvements, 
Landlord may cause the cessation of construction or installation of the same until such time as Tenant complies with the terms of this 
Section. Further, in the event the subject matter of non-compliance may affect any structural component of the Building, any Building 
system or the exterior appearance of the Premises or the Building, then Landlord may take such action as Landlord may elect to 
address the subject matter without  
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incurring any liability on Landlord’s part, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand all costs incurred by Landlord in connection 
therewith. If any alterations, additions or improvements are made without Landlord’s prior consent, Landlord shall have the right to 
remove and correct the same and restore the Premises and the Building to their condition immediately prior thereto or to require 
Tenant to do the same, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand all costs incurred by Landlord in connection therewith. Upon 
completion of any alterations, additions or improvements, Tenant shall, at its expense, deliver to Landlord: (1) two sets of mylar 
reproducible “as-built” drawings and a CAD disk for the same; (2) certifications executed by Tenant’s architects, engineers and 
contractors for the same which certifications shall certify that the “record-set” of as-built drawings for such alterations, additions or 
improvements are true and correct; (3) copies of all permits, other approvals of governmental authorities, warranties, guaranties and 
operating manuals relating to the alterations, additions or improvements; and (4) full and final waivers of all liens for labor, services 
or materials for the alterations, additions or improvements, in form reasonably satisfactory to Landlord. Tenant does hereby agree to 
indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against all claims for damages or death of persons or damage or 
destruction of property arising out of the performance of any such alterations, additions or improvements made by or on behalf of 
Tenant. Under no circumstances shall Landlord be required to pay, during the Term of this Lease and any extensions or renewals 
hereof, any ad valorem or property tax on such alterations, additions or improvements, Tenant hereby covenanting to pay all such 
taxes when they become due. In the event any alterations, additions, improvements or repairs are to be performed by contractors or 
workmen other than Landlord’s contractors or workmen, any such contractors or workmen must first be approved, by Landlord 
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld).  

22. Liens. Tenant shall have no authority, express or implied, to create or place any lien or encumbrance of any kind or nature 
whatsoever upon, or in any manner to bind, the interest of Landlord or Tenant in the Premises, the Building or the Property, or to 
charge the Rent payable hereunder for any claim in favor of any person dealing with Tenant, including those who may furnish 
materials or perform labor for any construction repairs. Tenant shall pay or cause to be paid all sums due and payable by it on account 
of any labor performed or materials furnished in connection with any work performed by Tenant. Tenant shall discharge of record by 
payment, bonding or otherwise any lien filed against the Premises, the Building or the Property on account of any labor performed or 
materials furnished in connection with any work performed by or on behalf of Tenant immediately upon the filing of any claim of 
lien. Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all liability, loss, cost or expense 
based on or arising out of asserted claims or liens against the leasehold estate or against the right, title and interest of Landlord in the 
Premises, the Building or the Property or this Lease arising from the act or agreement of Tenant. Tenant agrees to give Landlord 
immediate notice of the placing of any lien or encumbrance against the Premises, the Building or the Property on account of any labor 
performed or materials furnished in connection with any work performed by or on behalf of Tenant or any petition filed to establish 
the same. Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord’s option, of paying and discharging and dismissing the same or any portion 
thereof without inquiry as to the validity thereof, and any amounts so paid, including expenses and applicable late charge, shall be 
Additional Rent immediately due and payable by Tenant upon rendition of a bill therefor.  
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23. Destruction or Damage.  
(a) If the Building or the Premises are totally destroyed by storm, fire, earthquake, or other casualty, or damaged to the 

extent that, in Landlord’s reasonable opinion, the damage cannot be restored within one hundred eighty (180) days of the date 
Landlord provides Tenant notice of Landlord’s reasonable estimate of the time necessary to restore the damage, or the cost to repair 
the subject damage exceeds twenty-five percent (25%) of the replacement value of the Building, or if the damage is not covered by 
standard “all risks” property insurance, or if the Landlord’s lender requires that the insurance proceeds be applied to its loan, then 
Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease effective as of the date of such destruction or damage by notice delivered to 
Tenant on or before thirty (30) days following Landlord’s notice described above and Rent shall be accounted for as between 
Landlord and Tenant as of that date.  

(b) If the Premises are damaged by any such casualty or casualties but Landlord is not entitled to or does not terminate this 
Lease as provided in Section 23(a) above, this Lease shall remain in full force and effect, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing no 
later than sixty (60) days after the date of such damage that such damage will be restored (and will include Landlord’s good faith 
estimate of the date the restoration will be complete), in which case Rent shall abate as to any portion of the Premises which is not 
usable for the period of such untenantability, and Landlord shall promptly commence to diligently restore the Premises to 
substantially the same condition as before such damage occurred as soon as practicable.  

(c) If such substantial damage occurs within the last twelve (12) months of the Term, either party shall have the right, upon 
delivery of notice to the other party within thirty (30) days following such damage, to cancel and terminate this Lease as of the date of 
such damage, provided, however, that Tenant may not elect to terminate this Lease if such damage was caused by the intentional act 
of Tenant, its agents, servants, employees or invitees.  

(d) Tenant agrees that Landlord’s obligation to restore, and the abatement of Rent provided herein, or Tenant’s right to 
terminate as above set forth in this Section 23, shall be Tenant’s sole recourse in the event of such damage, and waives any other 
rights Tenant may have under any applicable Law to terminate the Lease by reason of damage to the Premises, the Building or 
Property. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, Landlord shall have no obligation to repair damage to any 
alterations, improvements, or additions performed by Tenant.  

(e) The provisions of this Lease, including this Section 23, constitute an express agreement between Landlord and Tenant 
with respect to any and all damage to, or destruction of, all or any part of the Premises, the Building or the Property, and any law with 
respect to any rights or obligations concerning damage or destruction, now or hereafter in effect, shall have no application to this 
Lease or any damage or destruction to all or any part of the Premises, the Building or the Property.  

24. Eminent Domain. If the whole of the Premises, the Building or the Property, or such portion thereof as will make the 
Building or Premises unusable in the reasonable judgment of Landlord for their intended purposes, is condemned or taken by any 
legally constituted  
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authority for any public use or purpose or if Landlord shall grant a deed or other instrument in lieu of such taking by power of 
eminent domain or condemnation, then this Lease shall terminate and the Term hereby granted shall cease from that time when 
possession thereof is taken by the condemning authorities, and Rent shall be accounted for as between Landlord and Tenant as of such 
date. If a portion of the Building or Premises is so taken, but not such amount as will make the Premises unusable in the reasonable 
judgment of Landlord for the purposes herein leased, or if this Lease has not terminated, this Lease shall continue in full force and 
effect and the Rent shall be reduced pro rata in proportion to the amount of the Premises so taken. Tenant shall have no right or claim 
to any part of any award made to or received by Landlord for such condemnation or taking, and all awards for such condemnation or 
taking shall be made solely to Landlord; provided, however, that Tenant shall have the right to pursue any separate award for loss of 
its equipment and trade fixtures and for moving expenses so long as such action does not reduce the award to which Landlord is 
entitled.  

25. Damage or Theft of Personal Property. All personal property brought into the Premises, the Building or the Property shall 
be at the risk of the Tenant only and Landlord shall not be liable for theft thereof or any damage thereto occasioned by any acts of co-
tenants, or other occupants of the Building, or any other person.  

26. Insurance; Waivers.  
(a) Tenant covenants and agrees that from and after the date of delivery of the Premises from Landlord to Tenant, Tenant 

will carry and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, the following types of insurance, in the amounts specified and in the form 
hereinafter provided for:  

(i) Commercial General Liability (“CGL”) Insurance written on an occurrence basis, covering the Premises and all 
operations of the Tenant in or about the Premises, the Building and the Property, against claims for bodily injury, property damage 
and product liability and to include contractual liability coverage insuring Tenant’s indemnification obligations under this Lease, to be 
in combined single limits of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage, $1,000,000 for 
products/completed operations aggregate, $1,000,000 for personal injury, and to have general aggregate limits of not less than 
$2,000,000 (per location) and Umbrella Liability Insurance in an amount not less than $5,000,000 for each policy year. The general 
aggregate limits under the Commercial General Liability insurance policy or policies shall apply separately to the Premises and to 
Tenant’s use thereof (and not to any other location or use of Tenant) and such policy shall contain an endorsement to that effect. The 
certificate of insurance evidencing the CGL form of policy shall specify all endorsements required herein and shall specify on the face 
thereof that the limits of such policy apply separately to the Premises.  

(ii) Insurance covering all of the items included in Tenant’s leasehold improvements, heating, ventilating and air 
conditioning equipment serving the Premises, trade fixtures, merchandise and personal property from time to time in, on or upon the 
Premises, and alterations, additions or changes made by Tenant, in an amount not less than one hundred percent (100%) of their full 
replacement value from time to time during the Term, providing protection against perils included within the standard form of “all-
risks” fire and casualty insurance policy.  
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Any policy proceeds from such insurance shall be held in trust by Tenant’s insurance company for the repair, construction and 
restoration or replacement of the property damaged or destroyed unless this Lease shall cease and terminate under the provisions of 
Section 23 of this Lease, in which event the same shall be promptly delivered to and retained by Landlord.  

(iii) Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability insurance affording statutory coverage and containing 
statutory limits with the Employer’s Liability portion thereof to have minimum limits of $500,000.00.  

(iv) [Intentionally Omitted].  

(v) Such other types of insurance coverage in such amounts as may hereafter be reasonably required by Landlord.  

(b) The minimum coverages specified in Section 26(a) above shall be increased upon Landlord’s direction from time to 
time if Landlord reasonably determines that landlords of comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Building are generally requiring 
tenants leasing space comparable in size to the Premises and in such comparable buildings to maintain higher levels of coverage. All 
policies of the insurance provided for in Section 26(a) above shall be issued in form acceptable to Landlord by insurance companies 
with a rating and financial size of not less than A-VIII in the most current available “Best’s Insurance Reports”, and licensed to do 
business in the state in which the Building is located. Each and every such policy shall:  

(i) name Landlord as an additional insured (as well as any mortgagee of Landlord and any other party reasonably 
designated by Landlord), except with respect to the insurance described in Section 26(a)(iii) above;  

(ii) be delivered to each of Landlord and any such other parties in interest within thirty (30) days after delivery of 
possession of the Premises to Tenant and thereafter at least thirty (30) days prior to the inception (or renewal) of each new policy, and 
as often as any such policy shall expire or terminate. Renewal or additional policies shall be procured and maintained by Tenant in 
like manner and to like extent. A certificate thereof shall be delivered to Landlord at or prior to the execution of the Lease;  

(iii) contain a provision that the insurer will give to Landlord and such other parties in interest at least thirty 
(30) days notice in writing (and ten days in the case of non-payment) in advance of any material change, cancellation, termination or 
lapse, or the effective date of any reduction in the amounts of insurance;  

(iv) be written as a primary policy which does not contribute to and is not in excess of coverage which Landlord 
may carry; and  

(v) contain a cross-liability endorsement or severability of interest clause acceptable to Landlord;  

(vi) provide that an act or omission of one of the insureds or additional insureds thereunder which would void or 
otherwise reduce coverage, shall not void or reduce coverage as to the other insureds or additional insureds;  
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(vii) provide that the insurer thereunder waives any right of recovery by way of subrogation against Landlord and 
the other additional insureds in connection with any loss or damage covered by such insurance policy, Tenant hereby waiving its right 
of action and recovery against and releasing Landlord and the other additional insureds from and against any and all liabilities, 
damages, losses, claims and expenses for which they may be liable to the extent Tenant is covered by insurance carried or required to 
be carried by Tenant under this Lease;  

(viii) not contain any deductible provision except as approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld;  

(ix) initially be for a term of one (1) year and shall contain an endorsement prohibiting cancellation, modification or 
reduction of coverage without first giving Landlord and each Mortgagee at least thirty (30) days prior notice of such proposed action; 
and  

(x) be in form and content acceptable to Landlord.  

Promptly following its receipt of the same, Tenant shall deliver certificates of all such insurance coverages and receipts evidencing 
payment therefor (and, upon request, copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements and declarations) to Landlord. 
If Tenant fails to obtain or maintain any insurance coverage required to be carried by Tenant pursuant to this Lease or Tenant fails to 
pay premiums for the same when due, Landlord may obtain such insurance coverage or pay such premiums and Tenant shall pay to 
Landlord upon demand all costs incurred and amounts paid by Landlord in connection therewith. Tenant shall not carry separate 
insurance concurrent in form or contributing in the event of loss with any insurance required to be carried by Tenant pursuant to this 
Lease. Tenant shall not violate or permit to be violated any of the conditions or provisions of any of the insurance policies required to 
be carried by Tenant pursuant to this Lease, and Tenant shall perform and satisfy the requirements of the insurance companies issuing 
all such policies.  

(c) Any insurance provided for in Section 26(a) may be maintained by means of a policy or policies of blanket insurance, 
covering additional items or locations or insureds, provided, however, that:  

(d) Landlord and any other parties in interest from time to time reasonably designated by Landlord to Tenant shall be 
named as an additional insured thereunder as its interest may appear;  

(i) the coverage afforded Landlord and any such other parties in interest will not be reduced or diminished by reason 
of the use of such blanket policy of insurance; and  

(ii) the requirements set forth in this Section 26 are otherwise satisfied.  

(iii) During the Term hereof, Landlord shall in a manner comparable to other comparable industrial buildings in the 
market where the Building is located keep in effect commercial property insurance on the Building.  
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(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth hereinabove, Landlord and Tenant do hereby waive any and all 
claims against one another for damage to or destruction of real or personal property to the extent such damage or destruction can be 
covered by “all risks” property insurance of the type described in Section 26(a)(ii) and Section 26(d)(i) above. These waivers shall 
apply if the damage would have been covered by a customary “all risks” insurance policy, even if the party fails to obtain such 
coverage. The intent of this provision is that each party shall look solely to its insurance with respect to property damage or 
destruction which can be covered by “all risks” insurance of the type described in Section 26(a)(ii) and Section 26(d)(i). Each such 
policy shall include a waiver of all rights of subrogation by the insurance carrier against the other party, its agents and employees with 
respect to property damage covered by the applicable “all risks” fire and casualty insurance policy.  

27. Liability of Tenant. Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend (with counsel approved by Landlord) and hold harmless 
Landlord and Landlord’s agents and employees from and against any and all claims, judgments, awards, amounts paid in settlements, 
penalties, fines, damages, liabilities, losses, suits, proceedings and costs (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) of any kind or 
nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, suffered or incurred, whether before, during or after the Term of this Lease, 
arising from or related to: (i) any default by Tenant in the observance or performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of 
this Lease on Tenant’s part to be observed or performed; (ii) the use or occupancy of the Premises; (iii) the condition of the Premises 
or any occurrence or happening on the Premises from any cause whatsoever, except to the extent resulting from the gross negligence 
or willful misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord Party; or (iv) any acts or omissions of Tenant or any other Tenant Party in, on or 
about the Premises, the Building or the Property, either prior to, during or after the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier 
termination of this Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Lease to the contrary, Landlord may engage its 
own attorneys and other professionals to defend or assist it in connection with any matter with respect to which Tenant is required to 
indemnify it, protect it, defend it, or hold it harmless under this Lease, and, at the option of Landlord, its attorneys shall control the 
resolution of the subject matter. Tenant shall pay to Landlord and its agents and employees upon demand all costs incurred by them in 
connection with the subject matter, including, without limitation, professional fees such as appraisers’, accountants’ and attorneys’ 
fees. The indemnities contained herein do not override the waivers contained in Section 26(e) above.  

28. Acceptance and Waiver. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant, its agents, employees, guests or invitees (and, if Tenant is a 
corporation, its officers, agents, employees, guests or invitees) for any damage caused to any of them due to the Building or the 
Property or any part or appurtenances thereof being improperly constructed or being or becoming out of repair, or arising from the 
leaking of gas, water, sewer or steam pipes, or from electricity, but Tenant, by taking possession of the Premises, shall be held to have 
accepted the Premises as suitable for the purposes for which the same are leased, and shall be held to have accepted the Building and 
the Property and every appurtenances thereof, and Tenant by said act waives any and all defects therein; provided, however, that this 
Section shall not preclude Tenant from seeking recovery from any third party responsible for such damage or injury. Furthermore, 
notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, Landlord shall not be liable under any circumstances for a loss of, or 
injury to, property or for injury to, or interference with, Tenant’s business, including, without limitation, loss of profits, or 
consequential or punitive damages, however occurring.  
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29. Tenant’s Estoppel. Tenant shall, from time to time, upon not less than ten (10) days prior request by Landlord, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a statement certifying (i) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there 
have been modifications, (ii) that the same is in full force and effect as modified and stating the modifications), (iii) the dates to which 
the Rent has been paid, (iv) that Tenant is not in default hereunder and whether Tenant has any offsets or defenses against Landlord 
under this Lease, (v) whether or not to the best of Tenant’s knowledge Landlord is in default hereunder (and if so, specifying the 
nature of the default), and (vi) such other matters as Landlord may request. Such statement delivered pursuant to this Section may be 
relied upon by a prospective purchaser of Landlord’s interest or by an actual or prospective mortgagee of Landlord’s interest or an 
actual or prospective assignee of any security deed upon Landlord’s interest in the Premises.  

30. Notices. Any notice which is required or permitted to be given by either party under this Lease shall be in writing and must 
be given only by certified mail, return receipt requested, by hand delivery, or by nationally recognized overnight courier service at the 
addresses set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions. Any such notice sent by personal delivery in accordance with the foregoing shall be 
delivered during normal business hours and shall be deemed received when delivered or, if delivery is rejected, when delivery was 
attempted. Any such notice sent by overnight courier service in accordance with the foregoing shall be deemed received on the first 
business day following the date sent. Any such notice sent by certified mail in accordance with the foregoing shall be deemed 
received on the third (3rd) business day following the date mailed. Any such notice shall be deemed given on the earlier of two 
business days after the date sent in accordance with one of the permitted methods described above or the date of actual receipt 
thereof. Either party may change its notice address by notice to the other party in accordance with the terms of this Section 30. The 
initial notice addresses for each party are set forth in the Basic Lease Provisions.  

31. Abandonment of Premises. Tenant agrees not to abandon or vacate the Premises during the Term of this Lease. If Tenant 
does abandon or vacate the Premises for more than ninety (90) days, Landlord may terminate this Lease, by notice to Tenant at any 
time prior to Tenant reoccupying the Premises, but such termination shall not entitle Landlord to pursue any other remedies unless an 
uncured event of default then exists, in which case Landlord may pursue any and all remedies provided by this Lease, at law or in 
equity.  

32. Default. The following shall constitute events of default under this Lease:  

(a) if Tenant shall default in the payment of Rent herein reserved when due and fails to cure such default within five 
(5) days after notice of such default is given to Tenant by Landlord;  

(b) if Tenant shall fail to perform any of the terms, conditions or provisions of this Lease (other than the provisions 
requiring the payment of Rent), and fails to cure such non-monetary default ten (10) days after notice of such default is given to 
Tenant by Landlord, provided however that if such non-monetary default is of such a nature that it cannot through the  
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exercise of diligent and reasonable efforts be cured within ten (10) days, then Tenant shall not be in default in such instance if Tenant 
promptly commences and diligently pursues the cure of such non-monetary default to completion as soon as possible and in all events 
within ninety (90) days after such initial notice;  

(c) if (i) Tenant, (ii) any general partner or managing member of Tenant or any person owning a controlling interest in 
Tenant, or (iii) any guarantor of any obligations of Tenant under this Lease: (1) applies for, consents to, acquiesces to, or is subject to 
the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, liquidator or other similar official for itself or for all or a substantial part of its 
assets; (2) is subject to a bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or similar proceeding or admits in writing its 
inability to pay its debts as they come due; (3) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; (4) files a petition or an answer 
seeking, consenting to, or acquiescing in a reorganization or an arrangement with creditors, or seeks to take advantage of any 
bankruptcy law, insolvency law or other law for the relief of debtors; (5) performs any other act of bankruptcy; or (6) files an answer 
admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution 
or similar proceeding;  

(d) any execution, levy or attachment shall occur upon, or with respect to (i) Tenant’s interest in the Premises and/or this 
Lease, or (ii) any property of Tenant, any general partner of Tenant, any managing member of Tenant, any person owning a 
controlling interest in Tenant, or any guarantor of any obligations of Tenant under this Lease;  

(e) Tenant’s violation of any term, covenant or condition of Section 11 above or Section 17 above;  

(f) Tenant fails to carry all insurance required to be obtained by Tenant pursuant to Section 26 above;  

(g) the occurrence of any event or condition expressly designated elsewhere in this Lease as an “event of default”;  

(h) if Tenant is an individual, in the event of the death of the individual and the failure of the executor, administrator or 
personal representative of the estate of the deceased individual to have assigned the Lease within three (3) months after such death to 
an assignee approved by Landlord; or  

(i) any guarantor of any obligations of Tenant under this Lease fails to observe or perform any term or provision to be 
observed or performed by such guarantor under the guaranty executed by it in favor of Landlord.  

In any of such events, Landlord, at its sole option, may exercise any or all of the remedies set forth in Section 33 below.  

33. Landlord’s Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, Landlord shall have, in addition to any other remedies 
available to Landlord under this Lease and/or at law and/or in equity, the right to pursue, without notice or demand, any one or more 
of the rights or remedies set forth below in this Section, each and all of which shall be cumulative and  
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nonexclusive. Any costs incurred by Landlord (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) in enforcing 
any of its rights or remedies under this Lease shall be deemed to be Additional Rent and shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon 
demand.  

(a) terminate this Lease by giving Tenant notice of termination, in which event this Lease shall terminate on the date 
specified in such notice and all rights of Tenant under this Lease shall expire and terminate as of such date, Tenant shall remain liable 
for all obligations under this Lease up to the date of such termination and Tenant shall surrender the Premises to Landlord on the date 
specified in such notice; and if Tenant fails to so surrender, Landlord shall have the right, without notice, to enter upon and take 
possession of the Premises and to expel and remove Tenant and its effects without being liable for prosecution or any claim of 
damages therefor. The provision of this Section shall operate as a notice to quit, and Tenant hereby waives any other notice to quit or 
notice of Landlord’s intention to terminate this Lease or Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises;  

(b) terminate this Lease as provided in the immediately preceding subsection and recover from Tenant all damages 
Landlord may incur by reason of Tenant’s default, including without limitation, the then present value (discounted at a rate equal to 
the then issued United States Treasury Bill having a maturity (at the time of Landlord’s demand) approximately equal to the 
remaining Term of this Lease had such default not occurred) of (i) the Rent which would have been payable hereunder by Tenant for 
the period beginning with the day following the date of such termination and ending with the last day of the scheduled Term, minus 
(ii) the aggregate reasonable rental value of the Premises for the same period (as determined by a real estate broker selected by 
Landlord who is licensed in the state where the Building is located, taking into account all relevant factors including, without 
limitation, the length of the remaining Term, the then current market conditions in the general area, the likelihood of reletting for a 
period equal to the remainder of the Term, net effective rates then being obtained by landlords for similar type space in similar 
buildings in the general area, vacancy levels in the general area, current levels of new construction in the general area and how that 
would affect vacancy and rental rates during the period equal to the remainder of the Term and inflation), plus (iii) the costs of 
recovering the Premises, and all other expenses incurred by Landlord due to Tenant’s default, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus (iv) the unpaid Rent earned as of the date of termination, plus interest at the Interest Rate, all of which 
sum shall be immediately due and payable by Tenant to Landlord;  

(c) without terminating this Lease, and without notice to Tenant, Landlord may enter into and take possession of the 
Premises and re-let the Premises, or any portion thereof, as agent of Tenant, upon any terms and conditions as Landlord may deem 
necessary or desirable (Landlord shall have no obligation to attempt to re-let the Premises or any part thereof except to the extent 
required by applicable law). Upon any such re-letting, all rentals received by Landlord from such re-letting shall be applied first to the 
costs incurred by Landlord in accomplishing any such re-letting, and thereafter shall be applied to the Rent owed by Tenant to 
Landlord during the remainder of the Term of this Lease and Tenant shall pay any deficiency between the remaining Rent due 
hereunder and the amount received by such re-letting as and when due hereunder, Separate suits may be brought from time to time to 
collect any such damages for any month(s), and any such separate suit shall not in any manner prejudice the right of Landlord to 
collect any damages for any subsequent month(s), or Landlord may defer  
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initiating any such suit until after the expiration of the scheduled Term (in which event such deferral shall not be construed as a 
waiver of Landlord’s rights set forth herein and Landlord’s cause of action shall be deemed not to have accrued until the expiration of 
the scheduled Term), it being further understood that any net rent shall operate only as an offsetting credit against the amount of Base 
Rent and monthly Additional Rent as the same thereafter becomes due and payable hereunder, but the use of such offsetting credit to 
reduce the amount of Base Rent and monthly Additional Rent due shall not be deemed to give Tenant any right, title or interest in or 
to the same and any such net rent shall belong to Landlord solely, and in no event shall Tenant be entitled to a credit on its 
indebtedness to Landlord in excess of the aggregate sum of Base Rent and monthly Additional Rent payable for the portion of the 
Term corresponding to the term of the subject reletting; and/or  

(d) collect Rent from Tenant as it becomes due.  

Tenant, on its own behalf and on behalf of all persons claiming through or under Tenant, including all creditors, does hereby 
specifically waive and surrender any and all rights and privileges Tenant and all such persons might otherwise have under any present 
or future law: (i) to the service of any notice to quit or of Landlord’s intention to re-enter or to institute legal proceedings, which 
notice may otherwise be required to be given; (ii) to redeem, re-enter or repossess the Premises; (iii) to restore the operation of this 
Lease, with respect to any dispossession of Tenant by judgment or warrant of any court or judge, or any re-entry by Landlord, or any 
expiration of the Term or earlier termination of this Lease, whether such dispossession, re-entry, expiration or termination shall be by 
operation of Law or pursuant to the provisions of this Lease; or (iv) which exempts property from liability for debt or for distress for 
rent. The words “dispossession”, “re-enter”, “re-entry”, “re-entered”, “repossess” and “redeem” as used in this Lease shall not be 
deemed to be restricted to their technical legal meanings.  

34. Landlord’s Right to Cure Defaults. All terms of this Lease to be performed or observed by Tenant shall be performed by 
Tenant at Tenant’s sole cost and without any reduction, offset or deduction of Rent. If Tenant shall fail to timely perform or observe 
any of the terms of this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, without notice to 
or demand upon Tenant, make the subject payment or perform or otherwise cause compliance with the subject term. Landlord’s 
taking such action should not be considered a cure of the subject failure by Tenant. Landlord may take such action without releasing 
Tenant from any obligations hereunder and without waiving or releasing any right or remedy of Landlord under this Lease, at Law or 
in equity with respect to the subject failure by Tenant. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand: (i) all costs incurred by Landlord 
in connection with the remedying by Landlord of defaults by Tenant under this Lease and all other amounts paid and obligations 
incurred by Landlord in connection with any default by Tenant under this Lease, and/or in collecting or attempting to collect the Rent 
and/or in enforcing or attempting to enforce any rights of Landlord under this Lease, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, 
together with an Administrative Fee (as defined below); and (ii) sums equal to all losses, liabilities and damages referred to in 
Section 27 relative to the subject default. All amounts payable by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with the foregoing shall be 
payable by Tenant to Landlord upon demand, together with interest thereon accruing from the date incurred by Landlord through the 
date paid by Tenant, at the Interest Rate. The term “Administrative Fee” as used herein shall mean a fee payable to Landlord for 
Landlord’s involvement in the  
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subject matter, which fee is equal to a percentage of the aggregate amount of the subject costs and, other amounts with respect to 
which such fee is payable, which percentage shall be equal to ten percent (10%).  

35. Cumulative Rights/No Waiver. All rights and remedies of Landlord set forth in this Lease are cumulative and in addition to 
all other rights and remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity. The exercise by Landlord of any such right or remedy shall not 
prevent the concurrent or subsequent exercise of any other right or remedy. No delay or failure by Landlord to exercise or enforce any 
of Landlord’s rights or remedies or Tenant’s obligations hereunder shall constitute a waiver of any such rights, remedies or 
obligations. Landlord shall not be deemed to have waived any default hereunder by Tenant unless such waiver is expressly set forth in 
an instrument signed by Landlord. If Landlord waives any default hereunder by Tenant, such waiver shall not be construed as a 
waiver of any covenant, condition or agreement set forth in this Lease except as to the specific circumstances described in such 
waiver. If Landlord shall institute proceedings against Tenant with respect to Tenant’s failure to observe or perform any term of this 
Lease and a compromise or settlement thereof shall be made, then the same shall not constitute a waiver of the subject term or of any 
other term, provision, covenant, condition or agreement set forth herein, nor of any of Landlord’s rights hereunder. No payment by 
Tenant of a lesser amount than the monthly installment of Base Rent, Additional Rent or of any other sums due hereunder shall be 
deemed to be other than a payment on account, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or letter accompanying a check 
for payment of Rent or other sums payable hereunder be deemed an accord and satisfaction. Landlord may accept the same without 
prejudice to Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such Rent or other sums or to pursue any other remedy. Receipt and acceptance 
by Landlord of any Rent due to Landlord hereunder for the performance of any obligations of Tenant hereunder with the knowledge 
of the existence of any default or condition which, if left uncured, will constitute a default by Tenant hereunder, shall not be deemed a 
waiver of such default. No receipt of amounts by Landlord from Tenant after the termination of this Lease shall in any way alter the 
length of the Term of this Lease or of Tenant’s right of possession hereunder, and no receipt of amounts by Landlord from Tenant 
after the delivery of any notice shall reinstate, continue or extend the Term of this Lease or affect any notice delivered to Tenant prior 
to Landlord’s receipt of such amounts, it being agreed that after the delivery of notice or the commencement of a suit or after final 
judgment for possession of the Premises, Landlord may receive and collect any Rent due, and the payment of said Rent shall not 
waive or affect said notice, suit or judgment. No re-entry by Landlord, and no acceptance by Landlord of keys from Tenant, shall be 
considered an acceptance of a surrender of this Lease.  

36. Attorneys’ Fees. In case Landlord shall, without fault on its part, be made a party to any litigation commenced by or against 
Tenant, then Tenant shall pay all reasonable amounts, costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred or paid by Landlord in 
connection with such litigation. In the event of any action, suit or proceeding brought by Landlord or Tenant to enforce any of the 
other’s covenants and agreements in this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party all 
reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding.  
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37. Service of Notice. Except as otherwise provided by law, Tenant hereby appoints as its agent to receive the service of all 
dispossessory or distraint proceedings and notices thereunder, the person in charge of or occupying the Premises at the time of such 
proceeding or notice; and if no person be in charge or occupying the Premises, then such service may be made by attaching the same 
to the front entrance of the Premises  

38. Surrender of Premises. Whenever under the terms hereof Landlord is entitled to possession of the Premises, Tenant at once 
shall surrender the Premises and the keys thereto to Landlord broom clean and in the same condition as on the Commencement Date 
hereof, normal wear and tear only excepted, and Tenant shall remove all of its personalty therefrom and shall, if directed to do so by 
Landlord, remove all improvements and fixtures, including cables, installed by or on behalf of Tenant and restore the Premises to its 
original condition prior to the construction/installation of any improvements and fixtures which have been made therein by or on 
behalf of Tenant, including any improvements made prior to the Commencement Date. If Tenant fails to timely and properly remove 
the foregoing items and repair the damage described above, at Landlord’s election: (i) such items shall be deemed abandoned and 
become Landlord’s property without payment or offset; (ii) Landlord may remove the same and store them in a public warehouse or 
elsewhere at the cost of, and for the account of, Tenant, and Landlord may repair all damage to the Premises, the Building and any 
other portion of the Property resulting from removable of the same from the Premises, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand 
all costs incurred by Landlord in connection therewith; or (iii) Landlord may remove and dispose of the same in such manner as 
Landlord may elect and repair all resulting damage to the Premises and/or the Building and/or any other portion of the Property and 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon demand all costs incurred by Landlord in connection therewith. If Tenant fails to timely and 
properly cause the removal of the foregoing described items, Landlord shall also have the right to relinquish possession of all or any 
portion of the same to any person (“Claimant”) claiming to be entitled to possession thereof who presents to Landlord a copy of an 
instrument represented to Landlord by the Claimant to be have been executed by Tenant (or any predecessor of Tenant) granting the 
Claimant the right under various circumstances to take possession of the subject furniture, equipment or other personal property, 
without the necessity on the part of Landlord to inquire into the authenticity of Tenant’s or Tenant’s predecessor’s signature thereon 
and without the necessity of Landlord making any investigation or inquiry of any nature as to the validity of the factual or the legal 
basis upon which the Claimant purports to act; and Tenant agrees to indemnify, protect, defend (with counsel approved by Landlord) 
and hold harmless Landlord and its agents and employees from and against any and all claims, judgments, awards, amounts paid in 
settlements, penalties, fines, damages, liabilities, losses, suits, proceedings and costs (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) of 
any kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, suffered or incurred by any of them in connection with Landlord’s 
relinquishment of possession of all or any portion of such furniture, equipment or other personal property to the Claimant. If Tenant 
fails to surrender the Premises in accordance with the foregoing, then Landlord may forthwith re-enter the Premises and repossess 
itself thereof and remove all persons and effects therefrom, using such force as may be reasonably necessary without being guilty of 
forcible entry, detainer, trespass or other tort. Tenant’s obligation to observe or perform these covenants shall survive the expiration 
or other termination of the Term of this Lease. If the last day of the Term of this Lease or any renewal falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
a legal holiday, this Lease shall expire on the business day immediately preceding.  
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39. Removal of Fixtures. If Tenant is not in default hereunder, Tenant may, prior to the expiration of the Term of this Lease, or 
any extension thereof, remove any fixtures and equipment which Tenant has placed in the Premises which can be removed without 
significant damage to the Premises, provided Tenant promptly repairs all damages to the Premises caused by such removal.  

40. Holding Over. If Tenant fails to surrender the Premises to Landlord upon the expiration of the Term or earlier termination 
of this Lease, then such occupancy of the Premises thereafter shall not constitute a renewal or extension of the Term and such tenancy 
shall be a tenancy at sufferance upon all of the terms and provisions set forth in this Lease, except that (i) any options (e.g., renewal 
and expansion) and any rights of first offer, rights of first refusal and similar rights contained in this Lease shall be of no further force 
or effect, and (ii) Tenant shall pay a use and occupancy charge for the Premises during its period of holdover in an amount equal to 
the higher of (a) twice the then fair market rent for the Premises as reasonably determined by Landlord, or (b) twice the rate of Base 
Rent and monthly Additional Rent payable during the last year of the Term. Nothing contained in this Section shall be construed as 
Landlord’s consent to any holding over by Tenant, and Landlord expressly reserves the right to require Tenant to surrender possession 
of the Premises to Landlord as provided in this Lease upon the expiration of the Term or at any time thereafter as Landlord shall elect 
prior to Landlord’s acceptance of rent from Tenant as a monthly tenant hereunder, whereupon Landlord may reenter and take 
possession of the Premises without process or by any applicable legal process. The provisions of this Section shall not be deemed to 
limit or constitute a waiver of any other rights or remedies of Landlord provided under this Lease and/or at law and/or in equity with 
respect to a holdover by Tenant. No acceptance by Landlord of payments from Tenant after the expiration of the Term shall be 
deemed to be other than on account of the amount to be paid by Tenant in accordance with the terms of this Section and the other 
provisions of this Lease. If Tenant fails to surrender the Premises upon the expiration of the Term, in addition to any other liabilities 
to Landlord accruing therefrom, Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend (with counsel approved by Landlord) and hold harmless 
Landlord from any and all claims, judgments, awards, amounts paid in settlements, penalties, fines, damages, liabilities, losses, suits, 
proceedings and costs (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) of any kind or nature, known or unknown, contingent or 
otherwise, suffered or incurred, arising or resulting directly or indirectly from such failure, including, without limiting the generality 
of the foregoing, any claims made by any succeeding tenant or other person founded upon such failure to surrender, and any lost 
profits to Landlord resulting therefrom. The terms of this Section shall survive the expiration of the Term.  

41. [Intentionally Omitted].  

42. Force Majeure. If Landlord or Tenant is in any way delayed or prevented from performing any of its obligations under this 
Lease due to fire, other casualty, act of God, act or failure to act by governmental authority, civil commotion, strike, labor dispute, 
inability to procure services or materials, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of Landlord or Tenant (not including any 
insolvency, bankruptcy or financial condition or financial difficulties of Landlord or Tenant), whether similar or dissimilar to the 
foregoing events (“Force Majeure”), then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, the time for performance of 
such obligation shall be excused for the period of such delay or prevention and extended for a period equal to the period of such delay 
or prevention.  
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43. Sale. In the event the original Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the Building, shall sell or convey its interest in 
the Building and the Property, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the original Landlord, or such successor owner, under this 
Lease accruing thereafter shall terminate, and thereupon all such liabilities and obligations shall be binding upon the new owner. 
Tenant agrees to attorn to such new owner.  

44. Limitation of Liability. Landlord’s obligations and liability with respect to this Lease shall be limited solely to Landlord’s 
interest in the Building and the Property, as such interest is constituted from time to time, and neither Landlord nor any partner or 
member of Landlord, or any officer, director, shareholder, or partner or member of any partner or member of Landlord, shall have any 
individual or personal liability whatsoever with respect to this Lease.  

45. Broker Disclosure. The Landlord’s Broker identified in the Basic Lease Provisions, who is a real estate broker licensed in 
the State/Commonwealth where the Building is located, has acted as agent for Landlord in this transaction and is to be paid a 
commission by Landlord pursuant to a separate agreement. The Tenant’s Broker identified in the Basic Lease Provisions, who is a 
real estate broker licensed in the State/Commonwealth where the Building is located, has acted as agent for Tenant in this transaction 
and is to be paid a commission by Landlord pursuant to a separate agreement. Landlord represents that Landlord has dealt with no 
other broker other than the broker(s) identified herein. Landlord agrees that, if any other broker makes a claim for a commission 
based upon the actions of Landlord, Landlord shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Tenant from any such claim. Tenant 
represents that Tenant has dealt with no broker other than the broker(s) identified herein. Tenant agrees that, if any other broker 
makes a claim for a commission based upon the actions of Tenant, Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless 
Landlord from any such claim. Tenant will cause Tenant’s Broker to execute a customary lien waiver, adequate under applicable law, 
to extinguish any lien claims such broker may have in connection with this Lease.  

46. Relationship of Parties. Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed to create the relationship of principal 
and agent, partnership, joint venturer or any association between Landlord and Tenant, it being expressly understood and agreed that 
neither the method of computation of Rent nor any act of the parties hereto shall be deemed to create any relationship between 
Landlord and Tenant other than the relationship of landlord and tenant.  

47. Section Titles. The section titles used herein are not to be considered a substantive part of this Lease, but merely descriptive 
aids to identify the section to which they refer. Use of the masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter, and vice versa, where 
necessary to impart contextual continuity.  

48. Waiver of Trial by Jury; Service of Process; and Venue. LANDLORD AND TENANT HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY 
JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY EITHER OF THE PARTIES HERETO 
AGAINST THE OTHER ON ANY MATTERS WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH 
THIS LEASE, THE RELATIONSHIP OF LANDLORD AND TENANT, TENANT’S USE OR OCCUPANCY OF THE PREMISES 
AND OR ANY STATUTORY REMEDY. TENANT AND EACH OF TENANT’S PARTNERS, IF ANY, CONSENTS TO 
SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ANY PLEADING RELATING TO ANY SUCH ACTION AT  
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THE PREMISES AND HEREBY APPOINTS AS ITS AGENT TO RECEIVE SERVICE OF PROCESS THE PERSON IN 
CHARGE OF THE PREMISES AT THE TIME, AND IF NO PERSON SHALL THEN BE IN CHARGE OF THE PREMISES OR 
IF TENANT FAILS TO IDENTIFY SUCH PERSON BY DELIVERING NOTICE TO LANDLORD WITHIN THREE 
(3) BUSINESS DAYS AFTER TENANT’S RECEIPT OF LANDLORD’S REQUEST, THEN SUCH SERVICE MAY BE MADE 
BY ATTACHING THE SAME TO THE MAIN ENTRANCE OF PREMISES; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT NOTHING 
HEREIN SHALL BE CONSTRUED AS REQUIRING SUCH SERVICE AT THE PREMISES OR TO SUCH PERSON. ANY 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING WITH RESPECT TO MATTERS RELATIVE TO THIS LEASE SHALL BE BROUGHT 
IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE/COMMONWEALTH IN WHICH THE BUILDING IS LOCATED. IF ANY SUCH ACTION 
OR PROCEEDING ARISES UNDER THE CONSTITUTION, ANY FEDERAL LAW, OR IF THERE IS A DIVERSITY OF 
CITIZENSHIP BETWEEN PARTIES TO SUCH ACTION, SO THAT SUIT MAY BE BROUGHT IN A UNITED STATES 
DISTRICT COURT, THE SUBJECT ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE BROUGHT IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT 
COURT FOR THE DISTRICT IN WHICH THE BUILDING IS LOCATED. LANDLORD, TENANT AND THEIR RESPECTIVE 
PARTNERS, IF ANY, WAIVE ANY OBJECTION TO THE VENUE OF ANY ACTION FILED IN ANY COURT SITUATED IN 
THE JURISDICTION IN WHICH THE BUILDING IS LOCATED AND WAIVE ANY RIGHT UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF 
FORUM NON CONVENIENS OR OTHERWISE, TO TRANSFER ANY SUCH ACTION FILED IN ANY SUCH COURT TO 
ANY OTHER COURT. LANDLORD MAY JOIN INDIVIDUAL PARTNERS IN TENANT IN A SUIT OR ACTION TO THE 
EXTENT SUCH JOINDER IS REQUIRED BY LAW TO OBTAIN A JUDGMENT AGAINST TENANT. THE TERMS OF THIS 
SECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OF THE TERM OF THIS LEASE OR EARLIER TERMINATION OF THIS 
LEASE.  

49. Partial Invalidity. If any term of this Lease or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall, to any extent, be 
invalid or unenforceable, then the remainder of this Lease, and the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances 
other than those with respect to which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and every other term and provision 
of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by Law.  

50. Entire Agreement. This Lease contains the entire agreement of the parties and no representations, inducements, promises or 
agreements, oral or otherwise, between the parties not embodied herein shall be of any force or effect.  

51. Authority. Tenant does hereby represent and warrant that Tenant is a duly organized and validly existing corporation, 
limited partnership, limited liability company or other type of entity, that Tenant is qualified to do business in the state where the 
Building is located, that Tenant has full right, power and authority to enter into this Lease, and that each person signing on behalf of 
Tenant is authorized to do so. Upon Landlord’s request, Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence reasonably satisfactory to 
Landlord confirming the foregoing representations and warranties. Concurrently with its execution and delivery of this Lease, Tenant 
shall deliver to Landlord a corporate resolution in reasonable form evidencing the due authorization of Tenant, and the individual who 
executes this Lease on behalf of Tenant, to enter into this Lease.  
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52. Financial Statements and Information. Within ten (10) days following its receipt of Landlord’s request from time to time, 
Tenant shall deliver to Landlord copies of such financial statements and other information as Landlord may request for Tenant. As 
long as the voting stock in Tenant is listed on a “national securities exchange” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), 
such financial statements and other information shall be that which is generally made available to the investing public.  

53. Governing Law. Except to the extent superseded by Federal Law, this Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance 
with the laws of the State/Commonwealth, county and municipality in which the Property is located, without regard to the application 
of choice of laws principles.  

54. Landlord’s Title. Landlord’s title to the Premises, the Building and the Property is and always shall be paramount to the 
title of Tenant. Nothing herein contained shall empower Tenant to do any act which can, shall or may encumber the title of Landlord 
in or to any portion of the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Property.  

55. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Lease and each of its provisions.  

56. Survival. The effect of the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier termination of the Lease shall be to discharge 
Landlord and Tenant from future performance of their respective obligations under this Lease, but not from their rights and 
obligations existing upon the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier termination of the Lease or from any of their respective 
obligations which, by the terms of this Lease, survive the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier termination of this Lease. 
Further, any obligation of Landlord or Tenant which by its nature or under the circumstances can only be, or by the provisions of this 
Lease may be, performed after the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier termination of this Lease, and any liability for a 
payment which shall have accrued with respect to any period ending at any time prior to such expiration or earlier termination, unless 
expressly otherwise provided in this Lease, shall survive the expiration of the Term of this Lease or earlier termination of this Lease. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any of the provision of this Lease, the terms of this Section 56 shall survive the expiration of the 
Term of this Lease or earlier termination of this Lease.  

57. Independent Covenants. This Lease shall be construed as though the covenants contained herein are independent, and 
Tenant hereby expressly waives the benefit of any law to the contrary. Tenant agrees that if Landlord fails to perform any of its 
obligations set forth herein, Tenant shall not be entitled to make any repair or perform any act at Landlord’s expense or to any setoff, 
deduction or reduction of the Rent or other amounts payable hereunder by Tenant to Landlord. The foregoing shall in no way impair 
the right of Tenant to commence a separate action against Landlord for any violation by Landlord of the provisions of this Lease so 
long as prior notice is delivered by Tenant to Landlord and each Holder of whose address Tenant has theretofore been notified, and a 
reasonable opportunity is granted to Landlord and such Security Documents to cure the subject default  
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58. Preparation of Lease. There shall be no presumption that this Lease be construed more strictly against the party who itself 
or through its agent prepared it, it being agreed that all parties hereto have participated in the preparation of this Lease and that each 
party was represented by legal counsel in connection with this Lease or had the opportunity to consult legal counsel before its 
execution of this Lease.  

59. Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and assigns, provided that no violation of the terms of Section 17 above shall operate to vest 
any rights in any successor or assignee of Tenant and the provisions of this Section shall not be deemed to modify any terms of 
Section 17 above.  

60. Submission of Agreement. Submission of this Lease to Tenant for signature does not constitute a reservation of space or an 
option to acquire a right of entry. This Lease is not binding or effective until execution by and delivery to both Landlord and Tenant.  

61. Counterparts. This Lease may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of 
which together shall constitute one and the same document. Faxed signatures shall have the same binding effect as original signatures. 

62. ***  
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63. USA Patriot Act and Anti-Terrorism Laws. Tenant hereby represents that, it is not, and shall not be at any time while this 
Lease is in effect, a Person (as defined below) with whom Landlord is restricted from doing business with under the Uniting and 
Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, H.R. 3162, Public 
Law 107-56 (commonly known as the “USA Patriot Act”) and Executive Order Number 13224 on Terrorism Financing, effective 
September 24, 2001 and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto (collectively, “Anti-Terrorism Laws”), including persons and 
entities named on the Office of Foreign Asset Control Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List. As used herein, a 
“Person” shall mean any individual, estate, trust, general or limited partnership, limited liability company, limited liability 
partnership, corporation, governmental agency or other legal entity and any unincorporated association.  
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EXHIBIT A  

LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

BEING KNOWN AND DESIGNATED as Lots Nos. 3RR and 4R as shown on Plat entitled “ADMINISTRATIVE PLAT LOT 3RR, 
A RESUBDIVISION OF LOT 3R, MARLEY NECK INDUSTRIAL PARK”, which Plat is recorded among the Land records of 
Anne Arundel County, Maryland in Plat Book No. 247, Plats Nos. 12879 and 12880.  
  

A-1  
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EXHIBIT A - 1  

PLAN SHOWING  

PREMISES BY DIAGONAL LINES  

  
  

A-2  
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EXHIBIT B 

WORKLETTER AGREEMENT  

This Workletter Agreement (this “Workletter”) is attached to and made a part of that certain Lease Agreement dated as of 
October 19, 2006, between MARLEY NECK 3R, LLC, as “Landlord”, and UNDER ARMOUR, INC., as “Tenant” (the “Lease”). 
This Workletter shall set forth the terms and conditions relating to the initial construction of improvements in the Premises. 
Capitalized terms used herein, unless otherwise defined in this Workletter, shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the 
Lease.  

1. Construction of Base, Core and Shell of Building. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost, shall install any work or materials in the 
Premises (collectively, the “Work”) in accordance with the terms of this Workletter.  

2. Plans and Permits.  
2.1. General. All plans, working drawings and specifications submitted by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Workletter 

(the “Plans”) shall be prepared by architects and engineers approved by Landlord and licensed in the State or Commonwealth in 
which the Building is located. Tenant’s architect and engineers shall verify, in the field, the dimensions and conditions of the 
Premises and the Building. Tenant is solely responsible for such verification and Landlord shall have no responsibility in connection 
therewith. Tenant shall be responsible to cause the Plans to conform with the plans for the Building and existing as-built conditions 
and to comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, orders, codes, rules, regulations and other requirements of any governmental 
authorities having or asserting jurisdiction over the Premises or the Building, including, without limitation, the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (collectively, the “Laws”). Neither the design of the Work as reflected in the Plans, nor the construction and 
installation of the Work, shall (a) cause any interference to, or adverse affect upon, the base, core or shell of the Building, or the 
HVAC, mechanical, plumbing, life-safety, electrical or other systems of the Building, or any other operation or function of the 
Building, or (b) increase the cost of operating the Building, unless otherwise approved by Landlord and Tenant shall agree to pay 
such increased cost of operating the Building. The Work shall be of first-class quality and consist of materials commensurate with the 
level of improvements for first-class buildings within the vicinity of the Building. Notwithstanding the review of any Plans by 
Landlord or its architect, engineers or consultants and notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant by 
Landlord or Landlord’s architect, engineers or consultants, Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever in connection therewith and 
shall not be responsible for any omissions, inconsistencies or errors contained in the Plans or the failure of the Plans to comply with 
the terms of this Workletter. Landlord’s approval of the Plans shall in no way be deemed to be acceptance or approval of any element 
therein contained which is in violation of any Laws or otherwise fails to comply with the terms of this Workletter.  

2.2. Landlord’s Approval. All Plans shall be subject to Landlord’s approval. Landlord agrees not to unreasonably withhold 
its approval of the Plans; provided, however, Landlord shall not be deemed to have acted unreasonably if it withholds it consent 
because, in  
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Landlord’s opinion, the Work reflected therein; (i) may affect any Building systems, the structure of the Building or the safety of the 
Building or its occupants; (ii) would affect the exterior appearance of the Premises or the Building; (iii) may affect Landlord’s ability 
to furnish services to Tenant or other occupant in the Building; (iv) may increase the cost of operating the Building; (v) may violate 
any applicable Laws; (vi) contains or uses hazardous or toxic materials; or (vii) may affect another tenant’s premises. The foregoing 
reasons, however, shall not be exclusive of the reasons for which Landlord may withhold consent, whether or not such other reasons 
are similar to or dissimilar from the foregoing.  

2.3. Plans for Building. The plans and specifications for the Building are available for Tenant’s inspection at Landlord’s 
office. Landlord reserves the right to make changes to such plans and specifications, provided that such changes do not change the 
character of the Building and do not impair the accessibility or visibility of the Premises or the means of ingress and egress to and 
from the Premises. Tenant shall be responsible for the coordination of the Plans with the plans and specifications for the Building and 
with any variations or as-built conditions from such plans and specifications. Tenant’s architect and engineers shall verify, in the 
field, the dimensions and conditions of the Premises and the Building. Tenant is solely responsible for such verification and Landlord 
shall have no responsibility in connection therewith.  

2.4. Space Plans. Tenant shall submit space plans for the Premises (the “Space Plan”) to Landlord for Landlord’s approval. 
The Space Plans shall include a layout and designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use, and equipment 
to be contained therein. Landlord shall deliver notice of its approval or disapproval (giving general reasons in case of disapproval) of 
the Space Plans within ten (10) business days after its receipt of the same. In the event Landlord disapproves the Space Plans 
submitted by Tenant, Tenant shall, within five (5) business days thereafter, revise the Space Plans to address the matters disapproved 
by Landlord and submit such revised Space Plans to Landlord for its approval. This process shall continue until Landlord approves 
the Space Plans.  

2.5. Final Plans. Tenant shall submit to Landlord for Landlord’s approval full and detailed architectural and engineering 
plans and specifications for the Work, including, without limitation, partition layout, HVAC plan, plumbing plan, life-safety plan, fire 
protection plan, telephone and electrical layout, schedule of finishes, door and hardware schedule and all other items necessary for the 
full build-out of the Premises (collectively, the “Final Plans”). The Final Plans shall be in a form which is complete to allow 
subcontractors to bid on the Work reflected therein and to obtain all applicable permits and other governmental approvals required for 
the Work. The Final Plans shall include four (4) sepia and four (4) black and white prints. Landlord shall deliver notice of its approval 
or disapproval (giving general reasons in case of disapproval) of the Final Plans within fifteen (15) business days after its receipt of 
the same. If Landlord disapproves the Final Plans submitted by Tenant, Tenant shall, within five (5) business days thereafter, revise 
the Final Plans to address the matters disapproved by Landlord and submit such revised Final Plans to Landlord for its approval. This 
process shall continue until Landlord approves the Final Plans.  

3. Permits. Within three (3) business days after Tenant’s receipt of notice of Landlord’s approval of the Final Plans, Tenant shall 
submit the Final Plans to all governmental  
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authorities having or asserting jurisdiction over the Premises or the Building in order to obtain all permits necessary to allow Tenant 
to commence and fully complete construction of the Work in accordance with the Final Plans. In connection therewith, Tenant shall 
coordinate with Landlord in order to allow Landlord, at its option, to take part in all phases of the permitting process and shall 
promptly supply Landlord with all information requested by Landlord in connection therewith. Tenant shall provide to Landlord 
copies of all permits and other governmental approvals obtained by Tenant with respect to the Work promptly following Tenant’s 
receipt of the same and in all events prior to commencement of the subject Work. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth 
in this Workletter, Tenant hereby agrees that Landlord shall not be responsible for obtaining any permit or certificate of occupancy 
for the Premises and that obtaining the same shall be Tenant’s sole responsibility; provided, however, Landlord shall cooperate with 
Tenant in executing permit applications and performing other administrative acts reasonably necessary to enable Tenant to obtain 
such permits and certificate of occupancy. Tenant shall use its best effort to obtain all permits necessary to allow commencement and 
completion of the Work as soon as possible after execution of the Lease. In this regard, Tenant shall meet with Landlord on a 
scheduled basis determined by Landlord to discuss Tenant’s progress in connection with the same.  

4. Tenant’s Contractor and Subcontractors. Tenant shall cause the Work to be performed by a contractor designated and 
employed by Tenant, subject to the following terms and conditions of this Section below.  

4.1. Landlord’s Approval of Contractor and Subcontractors. The contractor designated by Tenant (“Tenant’s Contractor”) 
must be approved by Landlord. Landlord shall be deemed justified in disapproving a contractor proposed by Tenant if Landlord 
determines that the employment of such contractor will, or is likely to, result in a strike, work stoppage, work slow-down, or other 
labor dispute or conflict by or with any other contractor or subcontractor working in the Building. Subcontractors employed by 
Tenant’s Contractor shall be subject to approval by Landlord.  

4.2. Construction Schedule. Prior to commencement of construction of the Work and after Tenant has accepted all bids for 
the Work, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a detailed breakdown, by trade, of the final costs to be incurred in connection with the 
design and construction of the Work, together with a schedule setting forth the projected date of completion of the Work and showing 
the critical time deadlines for each phase, item or trade relating to construction of the Work, including a schedule for connections to 
utility and other systems in the Building.  

4.3. Quality of Work. All work performed by Tenant’s Contractor and its subcontractors shall be performed in a good, 
workmanlike, first-class and prompt manner, in strict accordance with all: (i) applicable Laws; (ii) applicable standards of the 
American Insurance Association (formerly the National Board of Fire Underwriters); and (iii) the Final Plans approved by Landlord. 
Landlord shall have the right to cause Tenant to correct, replace or remove any improvements installed in the Premises by Tenant’s 
Contractor or subcontractors that do not comply with the preceding sentence or any other term of this Workletter; provided, however, 
Landlord’s failure to cause Tenant to correct, replace or remove any such improvements that do not comply with any term of this 
Workletter shall not be deemed Landlord’s acceptance of the same.  
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4.4. Manner of Construction. Tenant, Tenant’s Contractor and all subcontractors employed by Tenant’s Contractor: 
(i) shall comply with all work rules and regulations adopted by Landlord from time to time for the Building; (ii) shall not, in any way, 
interfere with, obstruct or delay the work of Landlord’s contractor or any subcontractor with respect to any other work in the 
Building; (iii) shall submit to Landlord schedules of all work relating to the Work; and (iv) shall schedule access to the Building and 
the Premises and use of the Building’s loading docks and service elevator through the Building manager or Landlord’s construction 
manager. Landlord shall have the right to exclude Tenant’s Contractor or any of its subcontractor thereof from the Building if the 
presence of such contractor or subcontractor results in any dispute or conflict with any other contractor or subcontractor working in 
the Building.  

4.5. Inspections of Work. Tenant shall be solely responsible for the progress of construction of the Work and for the quality 
or fitness thereof. Landlord shall have the right to inspect the Work at all times; provided, however, that Landlord’s failure to inspect 
the Work shall in no event constitute a waiver of any of Landlord’s rights hereunder nor shall Landlord’s inspection of the Work 
constitute Landlord’s approval of the same. Should Landlord disapprove any portion of the Work, Landlord shall notify Tenant in 
writing of such disapproval and shall specify the items disapproved. Any defects or deviations in, and/or disapproval by Landlord of, 
the Work shall be promptly rectified by Tenant at no expense to Landlord; provided, however, in the event Landlord determines that a 
defect or deviation exists or disapproves of any matter in connection with any portion of the Work, then Landlord may take such 
action as Landlord deems necessary, at Tenant’s expense and without incurring any liability on Landlord’s part, to correct any such 
defect, deviation and/or matter, including, without limitation, causing the cessation of performance of the construction of the Work 
until such time as the subject defect, deviation and/or matter is corrected to Landlord’s satisfaction.  

4.6. Deliveries Upon Completion of Work. Upon completion of construction of the Work, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord 
(i) two sets of mylar reproducible “as-built” plans and specifications and CAD disks for the Work, (ii) certifications executed by 
Tenant’s architects, engineers and contractors for the Work, which certifications shall certify, to the best of their knowledge, that the 
“record-set” of as-built drawings for the Work are true and correct, which certifications shall survive the expiration or termination of 
the Lease Term, and (iii) a copy of all warranties, guaranties, and operating and maintenance manuals and information relating to the 
improvements, equipment and systems comprising the Work.  

4.7. Warranties. Tenant’s Contractor and all of its subcontractors shall warrant to Tenant and for the benefit of Landlord 
that the portion of the Work for which it is responsible shall be free from all defects in workmanship and materials for a period of not 
less than one (1) year from the date of completion thereof. Tenant’s Contractor and each of its subcontractors shall be responsible for 
the replacement or repair, without additional charge, of all work done or furnished in accordance with its contract that shall become 
defective within one (1) year after the later to occur of (i) completion of the Work performed by such Contractor or subcontractor; and 
(ii) the first day of the Term of the Lease. The correction of such Work shall include, without  
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additional charge, all additional expenses and damages incurred in connection with the subject defective Work and the restoration of 
all or any part of the Work, and/or the Building and/or common areas of the Building that may be damaged or disturbed thereby. All 
such warranties as to materials or workmanship of or with respect to the Work shall be contained in Tenant’s contract for the subject 
work or applicable subcontract and shall be written such that such warranties shall inure to the benefit of both Tenant and Landlord, 
as their respective interest may appear, and can be directly enforced by either. Tenant covenants to give to Landlord any assignment 
or other assurances which may be necessary to effect such right of direct enforcement.  

4.8. Deliveries Prior to Commencement of Construction. Prior to the commencement of construction of the Work, Tenant 
shall obtain and deliver to Landlord unconditional lien waivers with respect to the Premises and the Building from Tenant’s 
Contractor and all subcontractors, and Tenant’s Contractor and its subcontractors shall post such payment and performance bonds 
prior to commencement of construction of the Work, as are required by Landlord.  

5. Insurance Requirements.  
5.1. Types Required. Tenant, Tenant’s Contractor and all of its subcontractors shall carry worker’s compensation insurance 

covering all of their respective employees, and shall also carry comprehensive general liability insurance, including property damage, 
all with limits, in forms and with companies as are required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in Article 26 of the Lease. Tenant 
shall carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount required by Landlord covering the construction of the Work, and such other 
insurance as Landlord may require, it being understood and agreed that the Work shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to Article 26 of 
the Lease immediately upon completion thereof. Such insurance shall be in amounts and shall include such extended coverage 
endorsements as may be required by Landlord and shall otherwise be in such forms and with such companies as are required pursuant 
to Article 26 of the Lease. Tenant’s Contractor and all subcontractors shall carry excess liability and products and completed 
operation coverage insurance, each in amounts not less than $5,000,000 per incident, $5,000,000 in aggregate, and in form and with 
companies as are required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in Article 26 of the Lease.  

5.2. General. The minimum limits of the policies of insurance required to be obtained in accordance with the foregoing 
shall in no event limit the liability of Tenant under this Workletter or the Lease. Certificates for all insurance required to be carried 
pursuant to Section 5.1 above shall be delivered to Landlord before the commencement of construction of the Work. In the event the 
Work is damaged by any cause during the course of the construction thereof, Tenant shall immediately repair the same at Tenant’s 
sole cost and expense. All of the foregoing insurance coverage shall be maintained in force until the Work is fully completed and 
accepted by Landlord, except for any products and completed operation coverage insurance required by Landlord, which is to be 
maintained for two (2) years following completion of the Work and acceptance by Landlord and Tenant. All of the foregoing 
insurance, except Worker’s Compensation, shall preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured thereunder. If any 
party required to obtain insurance pursuant to Section 5.1 above shall fail to obtain or maintain said insurance coverage in accordance 
with the terms of this Workletter or if  
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such party fails to pay premiums for the same when due, Landlord may obtain such insurance coverage or pay such premiums, and all 
costs incurred and amounts paid by Landlord in connection therewith shall be reimbursed by Tenant to Landlord on demand.  

6. Improvement Allowance.  
6.1. Amount and Permitted Uses. Landlord shall provide to Tenant an allowance (the “Improvement Allowance”) in order 

to assist Tenant in financing the cost of the Work. The Improvement Allowance shall be an amount equal to *** Dollars ($***). The 
Improvement Allowance shall be disbursed by Landlord only for the following items and costs: (i) fees payable to the architect and 
engineers engaged by Tenant in connection with the design of the Work, which architect and engineer have been approved by 
Landlord; (ii) permit and license fees for construction of the Work; (iii) costs of construction of the Work; (iv) costs incurred and 
amounts paid by Landlord in connection with the Work; and (v) the Coordination Fee payable to Landlord in accordance with 
Section 7.3 of this Workletter. Landlord shall have no obligation to advance any portion of the Improvement Allowance until: 
(1) Landlord has approved the Final Plans, Tenant’s Contractor and all subcontractors for the Work; and (2) Landlord has received 
from Tenant the insurance policies, the cost breakdown, the mechanics’ and materialmen’s lien releases, schedules, payment and 
performance bonds, and the security to ensure the lien-free completion of the Work, all required to be delivered by Tenant in 
accordance with the terms of this Workletter.  

6.2. Disbursement. In order to receive disbursement of the Improvement Allowance, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord: (i) a 
request for disbursement in form approved by Landlord; (ii) copies of the invoices for which reimbursement is being sought; (iii) a 
statement from Tenant’s Contractor showing the schedule, by trade, of the percentage of completion of the Work, detailing the 
portion of the Work completed and the portion not completed, in such detail as is reasonably acceptable to Landlord; (iv) mechanics’ 
and materialmen’s lien releases for the Premises and the Building from Tenant’s Contractor, all subcontractors and all materials 
suppliers for all work, labor, services and materials for which reimbursement is being sought, which lien releases shall be in form 
satisfactory to Landlord; and (v) all other information reasonably requested by Landlord with respect to the Work and the costs for 
which reimbursement is being sought. Provided that: (1) the foregoing information is delivered to Landlord; (2) the Work for which 
reimbursement is being sought has been completed in accordance with the Final Plans approved by Landlord; (3) the Work for which 
reimbursement is being sought has been physically incorporated into the Premises, free of any security interest, lien or encumbrance; 
and (4) Landlord does not dispute any request for payment based on Tenant’s non-compliance with any term of this Workletter or the 
Lease, then Landlord shall deliver a check to Tenant made jointly payable to Tenant and Tenant’s Contractor for the Work in an 
amount equal to the amount set forth in Tenant’s subject request. No such payment by Landlord shall be deemed Landlord’s approval 
or acceptance of the Work furnished or materials supplied as are described in any request for disbursement of the Improvement 
Allowance submitted by Tenant. Landlord shall have no obligation to make more than one disbursement of the Improvement 
Allowance in any calendar month.  

6.3. Retainage. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth above in this Section, Landlord shall: (i) have the right to 
withhold as a retainage ten percent (10%) of  
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each disbursement of the Improvement Allowance until all of the Work has been completed; (ii) not be required to disburse pursuant 
to this Workletter any amount in excess of the Improvement Allowance; and (iii) have the right to apply portions of the Improvement 
Allowance to costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with the Work and to the coordination fee payable by Tenant to 
Landlord in connection with the Work. In the event Landlord elects to withhold any portion of the Improvement Allowance in 
accordance with item (i) above, a check for the amount withheld made payable jointly to Tenant and Tenant’s Contractor for the 
Work shall be delivered by Landlord to Tenant following completion of construction of the Work provided that: (1) Tenant delivers to 
Landlord executed mechanics’ and materialmen’s lien releases for the Premises and the Building from Tenant’s Contractor, all 
subcontractors and all materials suppliers for all work, labor and services performed and all materials furnished in connection with the 
Work, which lien releases shall be in form satisfactory to Landlord; (2) Landlord does not dispute any request for payment based on 
Tenant’s non-compliance with any term of this Workletter or the Lease; and (3) Tenant’s architect and engineer for the Work delivers 
to Landlord a certificate, in form reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, certifying that the Work has been fully completed in accordance 
with the plans and specifications for the same approved by Landlord.  

6.4. Unused Portion. Tenant shall not be entitled to any credit for any portion of the Improvement Allowance which is not 
disbursed by Landlord in payment of costs and expenses incurred by Tenant in connection with the Work.  

7. Miscellaneous.  
7.1. Authorized Representatives. Tenant hereby designates Scott Plank (“Tenant’s Representative”) as its sole 

representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Workletter, who shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf 
of Tenant with respect to matters pertaining to this Workletter including, without limitation, the grant of approvals and execution of 
documents on behalf of Tenant. Landlord shall have the right to rely on action taken by Tenant’s Representative. Tenant may change 
Tenant’s Representative by delivering notice to Landlord. Landlord hereby designates Mark Fischer of Transwestern Commercial 
Services (“Landlord’s Representative”) as its sole representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Workletter, who shall 
have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of Landlord with respect to matters pertaining to this Workletter, including, 
without limitation, the grant of approvals and execution of documents on behalf of Landlord. Tenant shall have the right to rely on 
action taken by Landlord’s Representative. Landlord can change Landlord’s Representative by delivering notice to Tenant.  

7.2. Reimbursement of Landlord’s Costs. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord upon demand for all costs and expenses 
incurred by Landlord in connection with matters pertaining to this Workletter (including, without limitation, the cost of any utilities 
and services furnished to the Premises or furnished for the benefit of or consumed by Tenant’s Contractor or subcontractors in the 
course of performing Work in the Premises, personnel costs associated with the provision of additional security, the use of loading 
docks and elevators and the review of the Plans); provided, however, that Tenant shall not be charged for use during normal business 
hours of the Building elevators during construction of the Work or during Tenant’s actual move into the Premises.  
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7.3. Coordination Fee. Tenant shall pay a coordination fee (the “Coordination Fee”) to Landlord in an amount equal to *** 
percent (***%) of the sum of all amounts expended by Tenant in connection with the design and construction of the Work, which 
Coordination Fee shall be for services relating to Landlord’s coordination of construction of the Work with other activities in the 
Building.  

7.4. Indemnification. Tenant’s indemnity of Landlord as set forth in Article 27 of the Lease shall also apply with respect to 
any and all costs, losses, damages, claims and liabilities related in any way to any act or omission of Tenant or Tenant’s Contractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or in connection with Tenant’s nonpayment of any amount arising out of 
the Work.  

7.5. Liens. Tenant has no authority or power to cause or permit any lien or encumbrance of any kind whatsoever, whether 
created by act of Tenant, operation of Law or otherwise, to attach to or be placed upon Landlord’s title or interest in the Premises, 
Building or underlying land, and any and all liens and encumbrances created by Tenant shall attach to Tenant’s interest only. 
Landlord’s approval of any Plans shall not be deemed to constitute Landlord’s consent to subject its interest in the Premises, the 
Building or the Real Property to any mechanic’s or materialman’s lien which may be filed in connection therewith. Landlord shall 
have the right at all times to post and keep posted on the Premises any notice which it deems necessary for protection from such liens. 
Tenant covenants and agrees not to suffer or permit any lien of mechanics or materialmen or others to be placed upon Landlord’s 
interest in the Premises, Building or underlying land, or any petition to establish the same to be filed, with respect to work or services 
claimed to have been performed for or materials claimed to have been furnished to Tenant or the Premises, and, in case of any 
recordation or attachment such lien or filing of such petition, Tenant covenants and agrees to cause the same to be immediately 
released and removed of record or dismissed. In the event that such lien is not released and removed, or such petition is not dismissed, 
within ten (10) days after such lien, notice thereof or petition is filed, Landlord, at its sole option, may take all action necessary to 
release and remove such lien or dismissed such petition (without any duty to investigate the validity thereof) and Tenant shall 
promptly upon notice reimburse Landlord for all sums, costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), incurred by Landlord in 
connection with such lien or petition, including without limitation, the procurement of a bond for the same.  

7.6. Defaults. Tenant’s failure to pay any amounts owed by Tenant hereunder or Tenant’s failure to perform its other 
obligations hereunder shall also constitute a default under the Lease, and with respect thereto Landlord shall have all the rights and 
remedies granted to Landlord under the Lease for nonpayment of any amounts owed thereunder or failure by Tenant to perform its 
other obligations thereunder. All amounts payable by Tenant to Landlord under this Workletter shall be deemed additional rent 
payable under the Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Workletter or in the Lease, if Tenant fails to 
observe or perform any term, condition or provision of this Workletter or the Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant, then (i) in 
addition to all other rights and remedies granted to Landlord under the Lease, Landlord shall have the right to withhold payment of all 
or any portion of the Improvement Allowance and/or Landlord may cause Tenant’s Contractor to cease the construction of the Work 
(in which case Landlord shall have no responsibility for any delay in the substantial completion of the Work caused by such work 
stoppage), and (ii) all other  
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obligations of Landlord under this Workletter or the Lease shall be tolled until such time as the subject default is cured (in which case 
Landlord shall have no responsibility for any delay in the substantial completion of the Work resulting therefrom). Further, in the 
event the subject matter of non-compliance may affect any structural aspect of the Building, the exterior appearance of the Premises 
or the Building, or the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC or any other system of the Building, Landlord may, at Tenant’s 
expense, take such action as Landlord deems necessary to address the subject matter without incurring any liability on Landlord’s 
part.  

7.7. Meetings. Commencing on the date of the Lease, Tenant shall hold weekly meetings at a reasonable time with 
Tenant’s architect and engineers and the Contractor regarding the progress of the preparation of the Plans and the construction of the 
Work, which meetings shall be held at the Premises or such other location as is approved by Landlord. Tenant shall deliver reasonable 
prior notice of each such meeting to Landlord, and Landlord and/or its agents shall have the right to attend all such meetings.  

7.8. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Workletter.  

7.9. Application to Initial Premises Only. This Workletter shall not be deemed applicable to any space added to the original 
Premises at any time or from time to time, whether by any option under the Lease or otherwise. This Workletter shall not apply to any 
portion of the original Premises or any additions thereto in the event of a renewal or extension of the original term of the Lease, 
whether by any option under the Lease or otherwise.  

7.10. Notices. All notices required or desired to be given, rendered or made by either party to the other under this 
Workletter shall be delivered in accordance with the terms of the Lease.  

7.11. ***  
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EXHIBIT C 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION/ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE  

This Certificate is made pursuant to that Lease dated as of                     ,         , between “Landlord”, and                                 , as 
“Tenant”, for                      square feet in the Building located at                                      (the “Lease”).  

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the above referenced Lease, Tenant accepts possession of the Premises, and 
Landlord and Tenant agree:  

1. The Commencement Date of the Term of the Lease is                     ; and  

2. The Termination Date of the Term of the Lease is                     .  

The capitalized terms used above, unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the 
Lease.  

Landlord and Tenant have executed and delivered this Certificate under seal as of                     ,         .  
  

  
C-1  

LANDLORD

___________________________________________________ 
a__________________________________________________ 

By:  ___________________________________(SEAL)
Print Name: __________________________________________
Its:  __________________________________________

TENANT

__________________________________________________,
a_________________________________________________

By:  ___________________________________(SEAL)
Print Name: __________________________________________
Its:  __________________________________________
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EXHIBIT D  

RULES AND REGULATIONS  

1. Tenant will not place any signs on the Building or the Property without Landlord’s prior consent. All signage must comply with all 
applicable laws, codes and regulations, including, without limitation, zoning and building codes. No advertisements, pictures or signs 
of any sort may be displayed on or outside the Premises without the prior consent of Landlord. This prohibition includes any portable 
signs or vehicles placed within the parking lot, common areas or on streets adjacent thereto for the purpose of advertising or display. 
Landlord has the right to remove any such unapproved item without notice and at Tenant’s expense.  

2. Tenant may not park or store motor vehicles, trailers or containers outside the Premises after the conclusion of normal daily 
business activity except in approved areas specifically designated by Landlord.  

3. All window coverings and window films or coatings installed by Tenant and visible from outside of the Building require the prior 
approval of Landlord. Except for dock shelters and seals as may be expressly permitted by Landlord, no awnings or other projections 
may be attached to the outside walls of the Building.  

4. Tenant may not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any foul or noxious gas or substance on, in or around the Premises unless 
approved by Landlord. Tenant may not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any flammable or combustible materials without proper 
governmental permits and approvals.  

5. Tenant may not use, keep or permit to be used or kept food or other edible materials in or around the Premises in such a manner as 
to attract rodents, vermin or other pests. Tenant may not permit cooking in or about the Premises other than in microwave ovens.  

6. Tenant may not use or permit the use of the Premises for lodging or sleeping, for public assembly, or for any illegal or immoral 
purpose.  

7. Tenant may not alter any lock or install any new locks or bolts on any door at the Premises without the prior consent of Landlord. 
Tenant agrees not to make any duplicate keys without the prior consent of Landlord.  

8. Tenant will park motor vehicles only in those general parking areas as designated by Landlord except for active loading and 
unloading. During loading and unloading of vehicles or containers, Tenant will not unreasonably interfere with traffic flow within the 
Property and loading and unloading areas of other tenants.  

9. Storage of propane tanks, whether interior or exterior, will be in secure and protected storage enclosures approved by the local fire 
department and, if exterior, shall be located in areas specifically designated by Landlord. Safety equipment, including eye wash 
stations and approved neutralizing agents, will be provided in areas used for the maintenance and charging of lead-acid batteries. 
Tenant will protect electrical panels and building mechanical equipment from damage from forklift trucks.  
  

D-1  
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10. Tenant will not disturb, solicit or canvas any occupant of the Building or Property and will cooperate to prevent same.  

11. No person may go on the roof of the Building without Landlord’s permission except to perform obligations under its lease.  

12. No animals (other than seeing eye dogs) or birds of any kind may be brought into or kept in or about the Premises.  

13. Machinery, equipment and apparatus belonging to Tenant which cause noise or vibration that may be transmitted to the structure 
of the Building to such a degree as to be objectionable to Landlord or other tenants or to cause harm to the Building will be placed 
and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, on vibration eliminators or other devices sufficient to eliminate the transmission of 
such noise and vibration. Tenant will cease using any such machinery which causes objectionable noise and vibration which can not 
be sufficiently mitigated.  

14. All goods, including material used to store goods, delivered to the Premises of Tenant will be immediately moved into the 
Premises and will not be left in parking or exterior loading areas overnight.  

15. Tractor trailers which must be unhooked or parked with dolly wheels beyond the concrete loading areas must use steel plates or 
wood blocks of sufficient size to prevent damage to the asphalt paving surfaces. No parking or storing of such trailers will be 
permitted in the auto parking areas of the industrial park or on streets adjacent thereto.  

16. Forklifts which operate on asphalt paving areas may not have solid rubber tires and may use only tires that do not damage the 
asphalt.  

17. Tenant will be responsible for the safe storage and removal of all pallets. Pallets will be stored behind screened enclosures at 
locations approved by the Landlord.  

18. Tenant will be responsible for the safe storage and removal of all trash and refuse. All such trash and refuse will be contained in 
suitable receptacles stored behind screened enclosures at locations approved by Landlord. Landlord reserves the right to remove, at 
Tenant’s expense and without further notice, any trash or refuse left elsewhere outside of the Premises or on the Property.  

19. Tenant may not store or permit the storage or placement of goods or merchandise in or around the common areas surrounding the 
Premises. No displays or sales of merchandise is allowed in the parking lots or other common areas.  

20. Tenant will appoint an Emergency Coordinator who shall be responsible for assuring notification of the local fire department in 
the event of an emergency, assuring that sprinkler valves are kept open and implementing the Factory Mutual “Red Tag Alert” system 
including weekly visual inspection of all sprinkler system valves on or within the Premises. Tenant will provide Landlord access to 
fire protection and any related communications equipment in the Premises at all times.  
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EXHIBIT E  

NON-DISTURBANCE, ATTORNMENT,  
ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT  

THIS NON-DISTURBANCE, ATTORNMENT, ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT (this 
“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of October     , 2006, by, between and among WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, a national banking association as Administrative and Collateral Agent (the “Agent” or “Beneficiary”) for certain 
Lenders who are or become parties who become parties to that certain Credit Agreement dated June 5, 2006 (the “Credit Agreement”) 
by and among such Lenders and the Lessor, UNDER ARMOUR, INC., a Maryland corporation (“Lessee”), and MARLEY NECK 
3R, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Lessor”).  

R E C I T A L S:  

A. Lenders are the owners and holders, or expect to be the owners and holders, of certain Promissory Note dated or expected to 
be dated as of June 5, 2006, (the “Notes”) in the aggregate principal sum of One Hundred Seventy Million And No/100 Dollars 
($170,000,000.00), secured by a Deed of Trust; Security Agreement; and Assignment of Leases and Rents (the “Mortgage”) and an 
Assignment of Leases and Rents (the “Assignment of Rents”), each of even date with the Note, which Mortgage constitutes a lien or 
encumbrance on that certain real property more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A (the “Property”).  

B. Lessee is the holder of a leasehold estate covering a portion of the building known as 1040 Swan Creek Drive, Baltimore, 
Maryland (the “Building”) existing on the Property (the “Leased Premises”) pursuant to the terms of that certain lease dated on or 
about the date of the Agreement, and executed by Lessee and Lessor (the “Lease”). The Lessor has succeeded or will succeed to the 
interest of the Original Lessor under the Lease. A copy of the Lease, certified as true and correct by Lessee, has previously been 
delivered to Beneficiary and has not been amended, modified or terminated as of the date hereof.  

C. Lessee, Lessor and Beneficiary in its capacity as Collateral Agent and Administrative Agent under the Credit Agreement 
desire to confirm their understanding with respect to the Lease, the Mortgage and the Assignment of Rents.  

AGREEMENT  

1. So long as Lessee is not in default (beyond any period given Lessee to cure such default) in the payment of rent or in the 
performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Lease on Lessee’s part to be performed, Lessee’s possession and 
occupancy of the Leased Premises shall not be interfered with or disturbed by Beneficiary during the term of the Lease or any 
extension thereof duly exercised by Lessee.  

2. Lessee hereby consents to the assignment by Lessor to Beneficiary of the Lease, as set forth in the Mortgage and the 
Assignment of Rents. If the interest of Lessor shall be transferred to and/or owned by Beneficiary by reason of judicial foreclosure, 
power-of-sale  
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foreclosure or other proceedings brought by Beneficiary, or by any other manner, including, but not limited to, the institution of a 
receiver for the Property or Beneficiary’s exercise of its rights under the Assignment of Rents, Lessee shall be bound to Beneficiary 
under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the remaining term thereof and any extension thereof 
duly exercised by Lessee, with the same force and effect as if Beneficiary were the Lessor under the Lease, and Lessee does hereby 
attorn to Beneficiary as its Lessor, said attornment to be effective and self-operative without the execution of any further instruments 
on the part of any of the parties hereto immediately upon Beneficiary’s succeeding to the interest of the Lessor under the Lease; 
provided, however, that Lessee shall be under no obligation to direct its payment of rent to Beneficiary until Lessee receives written 
notice from Beneficiary to do so. The respective rights and obligations of Lessee and Beneficiary upon such attornment, to the extent 
of the then remaining balance of the term of the Lease and any such extension, shall be and are the same as now set forth therein, as 
modified hereby, it being the intention of the parties hereto for this purpose to incorporate the Lease in this Agreement by reference 
with the same force and effect as if set forth in full herein.  

3. If Beneficiary shall succeed to the interest of the Lessor under the Lease, Beneficiary shall, subject to the last sentence of this 
Section 3, be bound to Lessee under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease; provided, however, that Beneficiary shall 
not be:  

(a) Liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor (including Lessor) or for any monetary damages incurred by Lessee in 
connection therewith or liable for any act or omission prior to Beneficiary’s succession to title; or  

(b) Subject to any offsets, defenses or counterclaims which Lessee might have against any prior lessor (including Lessor) 
or accruing prior to Beneficiary’s succession to title; or  

(c) Bound by any rent, additional rent or advance rent which Lessee might have paid for more than the current month to 
any prior lessor (including Lessor) or prior to Beneficiary’s succession to title and all such rent shall remain due and owing 
notwithstanding such advance payment; or  

(d) Bound by any amendment or modification of the Lease made without its consent and written approval; or  

(e) Required to restore any damage to or destruction of the Building or the Leased Premises or otherwise perform the 
obligations of Lessor under the Lease in the event of a foreclosure of the Mortgage or acceptance by Beneficiary of a deed in lieu of 
foreclosure, in either instance prior to full restoration of such damage or destruction.  

(f) Neither Agent, nor any other party who, from time to time, shall be included in the definition of the term “Beneficiary” 
hereunder shall have any liability or responsibility under or pursuant to the terms of this Agreement after it ceases to own a fee 
interest in or to the Property.  
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4. Subject to the terms of this Agreement (including, but not limited to, those in Sections 1 and 2 hereof), the Lease and the 
terms thereof are, and shall at all times continue to be, subject and subordinate, in each and every respect, to the Mortgage and the 
terms thereof, and to any and all renewals, modifications, extensions, substitutions, replacements and/or consolidations of the 
Mortgage. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed or construed as limiting or restricting the enforcement by Beneficiary of any of 
the terms, covenants, provisions or remedies of the Mortgage or the Assignment of Rents, whether or not consistent with the Lease.  

5. The term “Beneficiary” shall be deemed to include Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and all of its successors and 
assigns as Agent, including anyone who shall have succeeded to Lessor’s interest by, through or under judicial or power-of-sale 
foreclosure or other proceedings brought pursuant to the Mortgage, or deed in lieu of such foreclosure or proceedings, or otherwise.  

6. Lessee represents and warrants to Lender as follows:  
(a) Lessee’s Leased Premises comprises 308,220 rentable square feet.  

(b) Lessee has no options to renew or extend the term of the Lease, except as follows (if None, insert “None”): See 
Section 2.2 in Lease.  

(c) Lessee has no expansions, rights of first refusal, or rights of first offer except as follows (if None, insert “None”): None. 

(d) The Lease is in full force and effect.  

(e) Lessee claims no present charge, lien or claim of offset against rent.  

(f) Lessee’s percentage share of operating expenses and real estate taxes is 100%.  

(g) There are no existing defaults under the Lease by reason of any act or omission of the Landlord Parties, nor does there 
exist any condition or has there occurred or failed to occur any event or act, including without limitation, the construction of any 
tenant improvements or any construction or furnishing or other physical work on or with respect to the Leased Premises or the 
building in which the Leased Premises are located, which with the giving of notice and/or the passage of time without cure will 
become a default under the Lease by any act or omission of the Landlord Parties except as follows (if None, insert “None”): None.  

(h) The Lease and all amendments, other agreements, understandings or commitments or interpretations or other 
agreements between Lessee and Landlord Parties which relate to the Lease or the Leased Premises, consist of the following, a copy of 
each of which is attached hereto:  

i) Industrial Lease Agreement dated on or about the date of this Agreement by and between Lessee and Lessor.  
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(i) Lessee has no right of first refusal or option to purchase the building or any portion thereof.  

(j) Lessee has not received any written notice indicating a violation of any environmental law or regulation which affects 
the Leased Premises.  

(k) Lessee has not received any written notice of any brokerage commissions which will be due and payable to any person, 
firm or corporation or other entity with respect to or on account of the Lease, other than as described in Section 45 of the Lease.  

(l) The undersigned is duly authorized and fully qualified to execute this instrument on behalf of Lessee.  

7. In the absence of the prior written consent of Beneficiary, Lessee agrees not to do any of the following: (a) prepay rent under 
the Lease for more than one (1) month in advance, (b) enter into any agreement with the Lessor to amend or modify the Lease, 
(c) voluntarily surrender the Leased Premises or terminate the Lease prior to the expiration date thereof set forth in the Lease, and 
(d) sublease all or any part of the Leased Premises or assign all or any part of the Lessee’s interest in the Lease.  

8. In the event Lessor shall fail to perform or observe any of the terms, conditions or agreements in the Lease, Lessee shall give 
written notice thereof to Beneficiary and Beneficiary shall have the right (but not the obligation) to cure such failure. Lessee shall not 
take any action with respect to such failure under the Lease, including, without limitation, any action in order to terminate, rescind or 
avoid the Lease or to withhold any rent thereunder, for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of such written notice by Beneficiary; 
provided, however, that in the case of any default which cannot with diligence be cured within said 30-day period, if Beneficiary shall 
proceed promptly to cure such failure and thereafter prosecute the curing of such failure with diligence and continuity, the time within 
which such failure may be cured shall be extended for such period as may be necessary to complete the curing of such failure with 
diligence and continuity.  

9. So long as the Note is outstanding, Lessee covenants to provide Beneficiary with all information, including, but not limited to 
evidence of payment of taxes and insurance (if Lessee is obligated for such payments under the Lease) to which the Lessor may be 
entitled under the Lease.  

10. So long as the Note is outstanding, Beneficiary or its designee may enter upon the Property at all reasonable times to visit or 
inspect the Property to the extent the Lessor has the right to do so under the Lease. Lessor agrees that the Beneficiary may discuss 
with the Lessee the affairs, finances and accounts of Lessee applicable to the Property or the Lease at such reasonable times as 
Beneficiary or its designee may request.  

11. Lessee hereby represents and warrants that the Lease and this Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered 
by Lessee and constitute legal, valid and binding instruments, enforceable against Lessee in accordance with their respective terms, 
except as such terms may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.  
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12. This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any other manner than by an agreement in writing signed by the parties 
hereto and their respective successors in interest. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, 
their successor and assigns. In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Lease, the 
provisions of this Agreement shall control.  

13. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, and all so executed shall constitute one agreement, binding on all 
parties hereto, notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the original or the same counterpart.  

14. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to the provisions hereof shall be in writing 
and shall be considered as properly given if mailed by first class United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified with 
return receipt requested, or by delivering same in person to the intended addressee, or by delivery by recognized overnight delivery 
carrier which requires a receipt upon delivery. All notices shall be effective only upon delivery or failure of delivery due to refusal to 
accept delivery or the failure of the addressee to be present at the address set forth below or a different address if notice of change is 
given pursuant to this Section 14. For purposes of notice, the addresses of the parties shall be:  
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Lessor:   Marley Neck 3R, LLC
  c/o ASB Capital Management LLC
  7501 Wisconsin Avenue
  Suite 200E
  Bethesda, Maryland 20814
  Attn: Mandi Wedin

With a copy to:   Transwestern Commercial Services
  6700 Alexander Bell Drive
  Suite 350
  Columbia, Maryland 21046
  Attn: Mary Frances Costantino

Lessee:   Under Armour, Inc.
  1020 Hull Street
  Baltimore, Maryland 21230
  Attn: J. Scott Plank

With copies to:   Under Armour, Inc.
  1020 Hull Street
  Baltimore, Maryland 21230
  Attn: Kevin Haley, General Counsel

  and
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provided, however, that any party shall have the right to change its address for notice hereunder to any other location within the 
continental United States by the giving of thirty (30) days’ notice to the other parties in the manner set forth hereinabove.  

[SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]  
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  WilmerHale
  100 Light Street
  Baltimore, Maryland 21202
  Attn: Mark Pollak, Esq.

Beneficiary:   Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
  c/o Real Estate Group
  Suite 400
  1750 H Street NW
  Washington, D.C. 20006
  Attention: Manager, Loan Administration Department

With a copy to:   Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
  Real Estate Group
  6th Floor
  420 Montgomery Street
  San Francisco, California 94111
  Attention: Chief Credit Officer, Real Estate Group
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessee has executed this Agreement, or has caused it to be executed on its behalf as of the date first 
above written by                             , its                                 .  
  

                                                             ) ss:  

I, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid jurisdiction, do hereby certify that                     , who is personally well known to me as, or 
satisfactorily proven to be, the person named as                                          of Under Armour, Inc., in the foregoing Non-Disturbance, 
Attornment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement bearing date as of October     , 2006, personally appeared before me in the said 
jurisdiction, and acknowledged the same to be the act and deed of said organization, and delivered the same as such.  

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this                      day of October, 2006.  
  

[SIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]  
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LESSEE:

UNDER ARMOUR, INC., 
a Maryland corporation 

By: ______________________________[SEAL]
Print Name:_____________________________
Its:____________________________________

  
Notary Public 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lessor has executed this Agreement, or has caused it to be executed on its behalf as of the date 
first above written by Swan Creek Associates, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, its sole member, who has caused this 
Agreement to be signed on its behalf by EBREF Holding Company, LLC, its sole member.  
  

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ) ss:  

I, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid jurisdiction, do hereby certify that Mandi L. Wedin, who is personally well known to 
me as, or satisfactorily proven to be, the person named as Vice President of ASB Capital Management, LLC, a Maryland limited 
liability company, the agent of Marley Neck 3R, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in the foregoing Non-Disturbance, 
Attornment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement bearing date as of October __, 2006, personally appeared before me in the said 
jurisdiction, and acknowledged the same to be the act and deed of said organization, and delivered the same as such.  

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this                      day of October, 2006.  
  

My Commission Expires:                               

[SIGNATURES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE]  
  

E-8 

LESSOR:
  

MARLEY NECK 3R, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company

By:

 

ASB Capital Management, LLC,
a Maryland limited liability company, 
its agent

 By: _________________________[SEAL]
  Mandi L. Wedin
  Vice President

  
Notary Public 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Beneficiary has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as of the date first above written 
by                                     , its Vice President.  
  

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ) ss:  

I, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid jurisdiction, do hereby certify that                             , who is personally well known to 
me as, or satisfactorily proven to be, the person named as Vice President of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association in the foregoing 
Non-Disturbance, Attornment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement bearing date as of October __, 2006, personally appeared 
before me in the said jurisdiction, and by virtue of the authority vested in him by said Agreement, acknowledged the same to be the 
act and deed of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and delivered the same as such.  

GIVEN under my hand and official seal this                      day of October, 2006.  
  

My Commission Expires:                                   
  

E-9 

BENEFICIARY:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION

By:    
Name:   
Title:    

  
Notary Public 
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EXHIBIT A TO NON-DISTURBANCE, ATTORNMENT, 
ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT  

BEING KNOWN AND DESIGNATED as Lots Nos. 3RR and 4R as shown on Plat entitled “ADMINISTRATIVE PLAT LOT 3RR, 
A RESUBDIVISION OF LOT 3R, MARLEY NECK INDUSTRIAL PARK”, which Plat is recorded among the Land records of 
Anne Arundel County, Maryland in Plat Book No. 247, Plats Nos. 12879 and 12880.  
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Kevin A. Plank, certify that:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Under Armour, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report 
is being prepared; 

 
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

November 7, 2006   /s/ Kevin A. Plank
  Kevin A. Plank 

  

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman 
of the Board 
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Wayne A. Marino, certify that:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Under Armour, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report 
is being prepared; 

 
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

November 7, 2006   /s/ Wayne A. Marino 
  Wayne A. Marino

  

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer 
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Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Kevin A. Plank, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Under Armour, Inc., hereby certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:  

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (“Form 10-Q”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15U.S.C. 78m); and  
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.  

  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Under Armour, Inc. and will be 
retained by Under Armour, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

Dated: November 7, 2006   /s/ Kevin A. Plank
  Kevin A. Plank

  

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman 
of the Board 
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Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Wayne A. Marino, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Under Armour, Inc., hereby certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:  

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (“Form 10-Q”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15U.S.C. 78m); and  
(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.  

  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Under Armour, Inc. and will be 
retained by Under Armour, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

November 7, 2006   /s/ Wayne A. Marino
  Wayne A. Marino

  

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer 
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